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BOC HELEX

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

The directors present the strategic report for the company for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Review of the company's business and principal activities

The company is a member of the Linde plc group ("Linde Group") and its ultimate parent company is Linde plc.
The company's principal activity has been throughout the current and preceding year the provider of finance and
administrative services for other Linde Group companies. It is envisaged that this will continue to be the
company's principal activity for the foreseeable future.

Performance of the company's business during the financial year

The results for the year are contained in the accompanying profit and loss account on page 7 which shows a
profit after tax for the financial year of $130,492,000 (2017: $167,679,000).

Net interest income for the year was $163,560,000 (2017: $213,021,000).

Key performance indicators

The company provides financial and administrative services for other Linde Group companies. The directors
refer to the company's level of income, its operating and retained profits and net and current asset values in
evaluating the company's performance.

Position of the company's business at the year ended 31 December 2018

As at 31 December 2018 the company held net current assets of $4,878,637,000 (2017: $2,480,824,000) and
net assets of $5,134, 836,000 (2017: $5,314,344,000).

Objectives and strategies

The company's primary objective and strategy is to continue as a provider of finance for entities that are
members of the Linde Group.

Markets

The company's services are provided to other Linde Group companies in multiple jurisdictions,

This report was approved by the board of directors on 4 July 2019 and signed on its behalf.

S A William
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BOC HELEX

DIRECTORS" REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Directors
The directors who held office during and after the year under review were:
Mr J M Bland (appointed as alternate director to Mrs S A Williams 17 May 2018)

Mr A C Brackfield (resigned 31 December 2018)
Mr C J Cossins

Mr B Patterson (appointed 7 September 2018)

Mrs § A Williams

The directors are not subject to retirement by rotation.
Dividends

Interim dividends paid during the year amounted to $310,000,000 (2017: $193,556,000).

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
$493,810,000).

Disclosure of information to auditor

The directors holding office at the date of approval of this directors' report confirm that, so far as they are aware,
there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditor is unaware and each director has taken all
steps that ought to have been taken as directors to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Risks and uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the company include but are not limited to:

(a) foreign exchange risk - the company maintains forward contracts and forward currency options to manage
its foerign currency exposure; and

(b) interest rate risk - alt loans are with subsidiaries of the Linde Group. As such interest rates are set and
managed within the Group.

The United Kingdom's forthcoming exit from the European Union (*EU") ("Brexit"), and the uncertainty it brings,
poses no discernible potential financial risks to our market and therefore to our business. Any potential impact
of Brexit would be mitigated by the geographical location and nature of the company's services.

Auditor

Pursuant to section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and KPMG
LLP will therefore continue in office.
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BOC HELEX

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

This report was approved by the board of directors on 4 July 2019 and signed on its behalf.

S K Kelly
Secretary

The Priestley Centre

10 Priestley Road

The Surrey Research Park
Guildford

Surrey

GU2 7XY

England
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BOC HELEX

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE STRATEGIC REPORT,
DIRECTORS' REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the strategic report, directors' report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year and they have
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards and applicable law
(UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that
pericd. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to;

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
« make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

- state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

« assess the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern; and

* use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to tiquidate the company or to cease
cperations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are responsible for such internal contrel as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the company and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Page 4



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
OF BOC HELEX

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of BOC Helex (the 'Company") for the year ended 31
December 2018, which comprise the Profit and loss account, Statement of Comprehensive Income,

the Balance Sheet, the Statement of Changes in Equity and related notes, including the accounting
policies in note 1

In our opinion the financial statements:

e give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of
its profit for the year then ended;

= have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework, and

* have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs
(UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the company in accordance with, UK ethical
requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

The impact of uncertainties due to the UK exiting the European Union on our audit

Uncertainties related to the effects of Brexit are relevant to understanding our audit of the financial
statements. All audits assess and challenge the reasonableness of estimates made by the directors
and related disclosures and the appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparation of the
financial statements. All of these depend on assessments of the future economic environment and
the company’s future prospects and performance.

Brexit is one of the most significant economic events for the UK, and at the date of this report its
effects are subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty of outcomes, with the full range of
possible effects unknown. We applied a standardised firm-wide approach in response to that
uncertainty when assessing the company’s future prospects and performance. However, no audit
should be expected to predict the unknowable factors or all possible future implications for a
company and this is particularly the case in relation to Brexit.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not
intend to liquidate the company or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the
company’s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are
no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its ability to continue as a
going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going
concern period’).

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of
accounting is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt over the use of that basis for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the
financial statements. In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent
risks to the company’s business model, including the impact of Brexit, and analysed how those
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risks might affect the company’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over the
going concern period. We have nothing to report in these respects.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result
in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were
made, the absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee
that the company will continue in operation.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ repert. Our opinion on the
financial statements does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in deing so, consider
whether, based on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially
misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on
that work:

. we have not identified material misstaternents in the strategic report and the directors’
report;
. in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with

the financial statements; and

. in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
2006,

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if; in our opinion:

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

¢ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by lJaw are not made; or
e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 4, the directors are responsible for: the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view;
such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to
liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion
in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
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A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at
www frc.org uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members, as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

e Loy

Nick Plumb (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants

I Sovereign Square
Sovereign Street
Leeds

L31 4DA

O[”"July 2019
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BOC HELEX

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Note
Administrative expenses 4
Operating loss
Interest receivable and similar income 6
Interest payable and similar charges 7
Profit before taxation
Tax on profit 8

Profit for the financial year

The notes on pages 11 to 21 form an integral part of the financial statements.

All of the above relates to continuing operations.

2018 2017
$000 $000
(3.244) (211)
(3,244) (211)
208,922 296,493
(45,362) (83,472)
160,316 212,810
(29,824) (45,131)
130,492 167,679

The company has no other comprehensive income in the year other than that included in the profit and loss
account above and therefore no separate statement of other comprehensive income has been prepared.
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BOC HELEX
REGISTERED NUMBER: 00893949

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

2018 2017

Note $000 8000
Non-current assets
Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year 9 456,000 2,833 520
Current assets / liabilities
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 9 5,266,697 2,669,812
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 10 (388,060) (188,988)
Net current assets 4,878,637 2,480,824
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 10 {199,801) -
Net assets 5,134,836 5314 344
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 13 1,290,437 1,290,437
Share premium account 3,569,498 3,879,498
Profit and loss account 274,901 144,409

Shareholders’ funds 5,134,836 5 314,344

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and were signed on its behalf on 4 July 2018.
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BOC HELEX

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Share
Called up premium Profit and
share capital account loss account Total equity
$000 $000 $000 $000
Balance at 1 January 2018 1,290,437 3,879,498 144,409 5,314,344
Profit for the year - - 130,492 130,492
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 130,492 130,492
Dividends: Equity capital - - (310,000} (310,000)
Share premium reduction ' - {310,000) - {310,000)
Share premium reduction - - 310,000 310,000
Total transactions with owners - (310,000) - (310,000}
Balance at 31 December 2018 1,290,437 3,569,498 274,901 5,134,836
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
Share
Called up premium Profit and

share capital account loss account Total equity
$000 $000 $000 $000
Balance at 1 January 2017 1,290,437 4,069,498 474,096 5,834,031
Profit for the year - - 167,679 167,679
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 167,679 167,679
Dividends: Equity capital - - (687,366) (687,366)
Share premium reduction - {190,000) - (190,000)
Share premium reduction - - 190,000 190,000
Total transactions with owners - (190,000) {497,366} {687,366)
Balance at 31 December 2017 1,290,437 3,879,498 144,409 5,314,344

The notes on pages 11 to 21 form part of these financial statements.
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BOC HELEX

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

1.

Accounting policies

BOC Helex is a company incorporated and domiciled in England in the UK. The registered number
is 00893949 and the registered address is The Priestley Centre, 10 Priestley Road, The Surrey
Research Park, Guildford, Surrey, GU2 7XY, England.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework ("FRS 1017)

In preparing these financial statements, the company applies the recognition, measurement and
disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU
("Adopted IFRSs"), but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with the
Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions
has been taken.

The company’s ultimate parent undertaking, Linde plc, includes the company in its consolidated
financial statements. The consoclidated financial statements of Linde plc are prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and are available to the public and may be obtained
from its principal trading adddress, at The Priestley Centre, 10 Priestley Road, The Surrey Research
Park, Guildford, Surrey GU2 7XY, England.

In these financial statements, the company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in
respect of the following disclosures:
a Cash Flow Statement and related notes;
disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned members of the Linde Group;
disclosures in respect of capital management;
the effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs;
disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel.

As the consolidated financial statements of Linde plc include the equivalent disclosures, the
company has also applied the exemption under FRS 101 available in respect of the disclosures
required by IFRS 7 Financial Instrument Disclosures

The accounting policies set out in this note have been applied in preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the year ended 31 December 2017.
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BOC HELEX

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Accounting policies (continued)

1.1

1.2

1.3

14

Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following assets
and liabilities are stated at their fair value: derivative financial instruments, financial instruments
classified as fair value through the profit or loss.

Functional currency

The functional currency of BOC Helex is US dollars and the accounts are prepared using its
functional currency, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates.

Going concern

The use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate because, in the opinion of the
directors, there are no material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt about the ability of the company to continue as a going concern.

The company has net current assets and net assets and can therefore support itself for the
foreseeable future.

Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the company’s functional currency at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are retranslated ta the functional currency at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at
fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the
fair value was determined. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the
profit and loss account except for differences arising on the retranslation of qualifying cash flow
hedges, which are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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BOC HELEX

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

1.

Accounting policies (continued)

1.5

1.6

Classification of financial instruments issued by the Company

Following the adoption of IAS 32, financial instruments issued by the company are treated as equity
anly to the extent that they meet the following two conditions:

{(a) they include no contractual obligations upon the company to deliver cash or other financial assats
or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are
potentially unfavourable to the company; and

(b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the company’s own equity instruments, it is either a
non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the company's own equity
instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the company exchanging a fixed amount of cash
or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability.
Where the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the company’s own shares, the amounts
presented in these financial statements for called up share capital and share premium account
exclude amounts in relation to those shares. Where a financial instrument that contains both equity
and financial liability components exists these components are separated and accounted for
individually under the above policy.

Non-derivative financial instruments and hedging

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and
other debtors, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other creditors.

Trade and other debtors
Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Trade and other creditors
Trade and other creditors are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

investments in debt and equity securities
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment.
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BOC HELEX

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2018

1.

Accounting policies (continued)

1.7

1.8

1.9

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
profit and loss account except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or
other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised directly in equity or other
comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to
tax payable in respect of previous years.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probabie that future taxable profits will
be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Denvative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. The gain cr loss on remeasurement to
fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Intra-group financial instruments

Where the company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other
companies within its group, the company considers these to be insurance arrangements and
accounts for them as such. In this respect, the company treats the guarantee contract as a
contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the company will be required to make
a payment under the guarantee.

1.10 Impairment excluding stocks and deferred tax assets

Financial assets (including trade and ofher debtors)

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if
ohjective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset,
and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that
can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. For financial instruments measured at cost
less impairment an impairment is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the
best estimate of the amount that the Company would receive for the asset if it were to be sold at the
reporting date. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of
the discount. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the
decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

1.11 Income

Investment income is recognised when dividends are declared by the relevant board of directors, or
approved by the company's shareholders, whichever is later.

Dividend income i$ recognised in the profit and loss account on the date the entity’s right to receive
payment is established.
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BOC HELEX

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Accounting policies (continued)

1.12 Expenses

Interest receivable and interest payable

Interest payable and similar charges include interest payable, unwinding of the discount on
provisions, and net foreign exchange losses that are recognised in the profit and loss account (see
foreign currency accounting policy). Other interest receivable and similar income include interest

receivable on funds invested and net foreign exchange gains.

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective
interest method. Dividend income is recognised in the profit and loss account on the date the entity's
right to receive payment is established. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net

basis.

Auditer's remuneration

The remuneration payable in relation to audit services of $6,500 (2017: $6,500) is borne by The BOC
Group Limited and is inciuded in the aggregated fees disclosed in the financial statements of the The

BOC Group Limited.

Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments of the directors are paid by The BOC Group Limited or BOC Limited in their roles as

managers and directors of The BOC Group Limited or BOC Limited.

Employee costs

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Contributions to defined contribution plans

Employee numbers

Average employee numbers during the year

2018 2017
$000 $000
133 147
16 18
14 18
163 183
2018 2017
2 2
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BOC HELEX

NCTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Interest receivable and similar income

2018 2017
$000 3000
Interest receivable from group companies - 38,024
Foreign exchange gain - 71,895
Gain on transfer of preference shares - 8415
Other interest receivable 208,922 178,059

208,922 296,493

Interest payable and similar expenses

2018 2017
$000 $6o0
Net loss on financial instruments designated as fair value through profit or
loss 31,684 78,005
Net foreign exchange loss 13,678 998
Total interest expense on financial liabilities - 4,469
45,362 83,472
Tax on profit
2018 2017
$000 $000
a) Analysis of charge in year
Current tax
UK corperation tax on profit for the year 28,982 40,585
Less: relief for overseas taxation {661) (1,720)
28,321 38 865
Overseas taxation (inciuding adjustment in respect of prior years) 1,503 6,266
Tax on profit 29,824 45,131
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BOC HELEX

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Tax on profit (continued)

b) Factors affecting tax for the year

The tax assessed for the year is lower than (2017 - higher than) the standard rate of corporation tax in the

UK of 19% (2017 - 19.25%). The differences are explained below:

2018 2017
$000 $000
Profit before taxation 160,316 212,810
Profit multiptied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2017 -
19.25%) 30,460 40,959
Effects of:
Adjustments in respect of prior years (208) -
Income not assessable for tax purposes (1,478) (1,620)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes - 1,247
Overseas tax 1,051 4,545
Total tax charge for the year 29,824 45,131

c) Factors that may affect future tax charges

The standard rate of Corporation Tax in the UK is due to change from 19% to 17% with effect from 1 April
2020. The company has no deferred tax assets or liabilities which require revaluation based on these

expected tax rates.
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BOC HELEX

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

10.

Debtors

Due after more than one year
Amounts owed by group undertakings

Due within one year
Amounts owed by group undertakings

2018 2017
%000 $000
456,000 2,833,520
456,000 2,833,520
5,266,607 2,669,812
5,266,697 2,669,812

All intercompany locans are made on an arm's length basis and attract interest at a rate equivalent to

market rate.

Creditors

Amounts falling due within one year:

Amounts owed to group undertakings
Corporation tax
Financial derivatives

Amounts falling due after more than one year:

Amounts owed to group undertakings

2018 2017
$000 $000
359,948 56,946
28,112 39,725
- 92,317
388,060 188,988
2018 2017
$000 $000
199,801 -
199,801 -
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BOC HELEX

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

1.

12

Terms and debt repayment schedule

Carrying
Nominal Face value amount
Currency interest rate 2018 2018
Amounts owed to group undertakings:
Repayable in more than 5 years usD 3.599 200 199.8

200 199.8

There were no loans owed to group undertakings that were due within greater than one year in 2017.

Financial instruments
{a) Measurement of derivative financial instruments

The fair value of derivative financial instruments are measured by discounting expected future cash flows
using the net present value method. As far as possible, the entry parameters used in these models are
relevant observable market prices and interest rates at the balance sheet date, obtained from recognised
external sources.

The table below analyses financial instruments, into a fair value hierarchy based on the valuation
technigue used to determine fair value. Unlike Level 1, Level 2 financial instruments are valued based on
inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e as prices) or
indirectly {i.e derived from prices).

Hedging activities and derivatives

The fair values and nominal amounts of the company's Financial Instruments are set out below. The
nominal amounts represent the total purchase and sale amounts of the denvatives, which are not offset.

2018 2017
$000 $000
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss
Cross currency swaps - 92317

The fair value of all other financial assets and liabilities do not differ from their nominal amounts.

The above financial instruments are all level 2.
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BOC HELEX

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Financial instruments {continued)
b) Liquidity Risk
Liguidity risk is the risk that the company will no longer be able to meet its financial payment obligations.

Contractual undisclosed expected future cash flows from financial liabilties are shown in the table
below:

Due within Due within

ohe year one year
2018 2017

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Other interest-bearing loans and borrowings - 8,724

c) Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments

Market Risk - foreign currency risk

The company's exposure to foreign currency risk is as follows. This is based on the carrying amount for
monetary financial instruments except derivatives when it is based on notional amounts.

2018 2018 2018 2018
AUD EUR uspD Total
Other loans and debtors - - 5722 694 5 722,694

Financial derivatives - - - -

- - 5,722,694 5,722,694

2017 2017 2017 2017

AUD EUR UsD Total
Other loans and debtors 352,069 580,140 4 571,123 5,503 332
Financial derivatives - (92,317) - {92,317)

352,069 487,823 4,571,123 5,411,015

The expeosure to foreign currency risk is eliminated by the cross currency swaps held by the company.
(d) Market risk — Interest rate risk

All loans are held at fixed rates therefore no interest rate sensitivity is attached to them.
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13.

14.

Share capital

2018 2017
$000 $000
Aliotted and fully paid
1,290,364,759 ordinary shares of $1.00 each 1,280,365 1,290 365
800,000 ordinary shares of £0.05 each 72 72

1,290,437 1,280,437

On 18 January 2019, the issued ordinary share capital of the company was reduced from 1,290,364,759
to 40,364,759 ordinary shares of $1.00 each and the company's share premium account was reduced by
the amount of $3,569,498,938 to nil.

On 19 February 2019, the company issued 10 ordinary $1.00 shares for the sum of $1,421,530,000.
On 1 March 2019, the company issued 10 ordinary $1.00 shares for the sum of $2,460,037,318,

On 30 April 2019, the company issued 10 ordinary $1.00 shares for the sum of $1,217,363,126.46.

Ultimate parent undertaking and parent company of larger group
The immediate parent undertaking is Linde Investments No. 1 Limited.

The ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party of the company is Linde ple, which is registered in
Ireland at Ten Earlsfort Terrance, Dublin 2, D02 T380, Ireland.

Linde plc is the smallest and largest group to consolidate these financial statements. Copies of Linde
plc's consclidated financial statements can be obtained from that company at iis principal trading
address, The Priestiey Centre, 10 Priestley Road, The Surrey Research Park, Guildford, Surrey, GU2
7XY, England. The ultimate parent company was Linde AG, a company registered in Germany at
Klosterhofstrasse 1, 80331 Munich, until 31 October 2018 when Linde plc acquired the majority of the
shares of Linde AG.
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A Well Diversified and Resilient Portfolio
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Our Mission

Making
our
world
more

productive

We are making our world more productive by
providing products, technologies and services
that help our customers to improve their economic
and environmental performance in a connected

~ world. And even more by operating as One Linde.
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Letter 10

Shareholders

Dear It is my pleasure to present the
Sh&l’&hO'dEfS, newl-y fo»rmed Li»ndc plc, the

leading industrial gases and
enginecring company. Last October we merged Praxair,
Inc. and Linde AG, two world-class companies with nearly
140 years of shared history and successful achievements.
Today we now operate as One Linde which represents the
collective strengths that unite 80,000 employees glabally
to leverage our extensive foolprint and capabilities 1o
fully caplure the value of this merger. In fact, integration
offorts are well underway as we tap into the eneigy and
excitement to share and adopt best practices.

The company is a true leader with a market capitalizatien
of approximately USD 90 billion (EUR 78 Dilhon), 2013 pro
forma sales of USD 28 billion (EUR 24 billion) and serving
2 mitlion customers i more than 160 countiies worldwide.
The combination of unnvaled scale with a resilient and
balanced portiolio enable consistent, high guality financal
results. Furthermorte, access to world-class engineering and
technelogies provide o distinet competitive advantage to
win new business and capitalize en opportunitios acrass a
broad range of markets. These capabilitios aie suppuorted
by o seund capital structure that allows us to pursue guality
growth, maintan a stieng credit rating and consistently
distribute surpius ¢osh to shareholders through increasing
dividends and share repurchases. Ultimately, these efforts
are diiven by our innovative and diverse emplayee
nopulation dedicated to the success of Linde.

Building a High-Pesformance Culture

Qur focus is on building a high-pertormance wulture, To that
end, we have aligned around a common vision, missien and
vatues. The vision is.in pait. “Fo be the best pertorming
global industrial gases and engineeung company © Best
performing means best-in-class results forall key aspects
of the business that matter most 1o our stokeholders, This
obviously entails tmanal performance but alse includes
safety, diversity and inclusion, accountability, integrity and
community - importont values which Jefine what we stand
far as a company.

Qur muission statement is “Making oui world more productive.”
This includes resource efficiency - making more with less -
and being a responsible steward of our eavironment in
the communities we live and work in around the world.
It also means developing innovative technologies and
sustainable solutions which allow our customers to reduce
their environmental impact. Our application technologies
enabled twice as many greenhouse gas emissions to be
avoided than were directly cmitted from our operations.
Hydrogen fueting capacity enabled 200 million zero-
emission vehicle miles per year. Both companies have a
long history of being recognized as leaders in the World
Dow Jones Sustainability Index and that is a proud track
record we will strive to continue.

Strategy

Our stialegy going torward is guite simple: We want 1o
leverage the individual strengths of both companies across
our larger global tootprint, huild netwaik density in core
industiial geographies, excoute our tobust backlog, and
caplure the full value of the merger - cost. capex arud
aiowlh synuergics.

we have stiang backlogs fos both Sale-ol-Gas (S0G) projects
{Ush 3.5 billiony and thind-party piant sales (USD 5.5 billion).
Asia represents half of o SOG backlog driven by elecironics
and chemical investments: while the US makes up anothes
2096 with significont wins in chemicaband refining in the
Gull Coast. All of the SOG business 15 underpinned by high
quahty long-term contradts ensuring a solid foundation for
future geewth.

Operational excellence is an important corerstone ter
Linde tu safely and retiably deliver cost efficient products
A services o eul customers. Linde will also embody

A productivity onignted calture with an emphasis on
contmuvus improvement. A strong blend of systemalic
processes coupled with expanding digital capabilities will
yield improvements in cere operations while providing
greater conneclivity and innovative offerings to our
customers,
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Next, with respect to our growth profile, our base business
typically grows in fine with global industaal production.

We audient 1that base volume growth with new project stact-
ups and price in excess of pass-through inflation. The new
efement to our growth algorithm is merger synergies. Though
we have bequn 1o see some successes atready, iUis too catly
1o quantify the valuc of ous growth synergies. However, what
Fam certain about 1s the excitement genciated internally

as we beqin to appreciate cach other's capabilities and look
to utilize them in new markets and regions,

Finally, onc of our mostimportant priositics s disciplined
capital alfocation. The fuststepis to establish an appropriate
and strang credit rating for the new company, followed by
maintaining our track record of growing o competitive dividend
cach and every year, After that, we want 1o invest the bulk

of out cash flow in afl the attractive projedts and acquisitions
that meet our shategy and mvestment critaria. Finally, we will
deploy any cxcess cash o ow shore repuichase program.

Looking Forward

Never Bietore i oun industiy has one company possossed
the breadth and depth of technical capabilitics, engineering
prowess industey know-how and robust balance sheet,

We are uquely positioned to capitalize on ail potential
geowll opportunities mduding the demand for dean crergy,
healtheare needs of an aging population, emerging market
development and digital ansformation. it is difficult for

me of dnyone else to predict the next cconaimic dowatunm,
but 1 have confidence in our business model and strong
fundamentals. We have a track 1ecord of strong cash How
genetation thivughout the cconomic cyde. In penods

ol expansion, we invest i conjunction with ous customers
laying the foundation for future earmings growth, wWhen
ceanomic growth slows snd capex investinent for new
Projects subsides. we contife to generate stiung operating
cash How and even ngher free cash How which ¢an then be
teturmed to shareholders in the form of dividend growth and
share buybacks. This makes Linde a company for all seasons.

Hook torward 1o our journey ahead.

Sincerely,

Do ol

Steve Angel

Chiet Fxecutive Oflicer
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One
Linde

Our One Linde philosophy encompasses
what we do and how we do it.

Qur vision, mission and strategic direction
describe what we do, focusing our efforts
around shared goals that deliver long-term
value for our stakeholders.

- Our Strategic Direction-

we will work as gne Linde to build on ourindividual and
coflective strengths across o larger global tootprint. We will
increase nolwoik density in core mdustrial gas geographies
and witt execute our robust backlog. We are fully commitied
to capturing the full value of the merger.

- Our Vision

To be the best performing global industrial gases
and engincering company, where our people
deliver innovative and sustamable selutions for
our customers ina connected world.

. Our Mission -~

We live our mission of making our world more
productive every day. Through our igh-quality
solutions, technologies and services we are
making our customers more successtul and
helping to sustain and protect our planet.




&

Our Core
Values

Safety Inclusion

We put safety first. We believe all incidents We embrace diversity and inclusion in order to

arc preventable, and our goal is no harm to attract, develop and retain the best talent and

people, communities or the environment. budd high-performing teams. By hearing all voices

We continuously work to improve our safety and benefiting from diverse opinions, thoughts

culture and performance worldwide. and perspectives, we achieve our full promise and
potential.

Integrity -
We abways stiive 10 adneve our goals ethicalty, and ACCOURtablllty

with the highest integrity. We exocd franspaient we hold ourselves accountable for our performance,

and respectiol interoctions between manayeinent, individually and collectively. We focus both on what

cmployees and our business partners, consestent we accomphsh and how we accamplish it, and

with oue Code of Busmaess Intequty. we are committed to delivering on individual and
company goals.

Community

We are commiticd to mproving the communities
where we ive and work, Our charitable
condnibutions, along with cmployee volunteerism,
suppartinitiatives that make important and
sustainable conmtabutions 10 our workd.
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Linde ple and Subsidiaries
PART I
ITEN L. BUSINESS
General

Linde ple i a public fimited company formed under the law s of Treland with its principal offices in the United
Ringdom. Linde ple was formed in 20107 in accordance with the requirements ot the business combination agreement. dated
Jung i, 20170 as amended. betw een Linde ple. Praxair. Inc. "Praxan™ and Linde Aktiengesclischaft ("Linde AG™ . Effective
Cretober 1. 2018 the business combunation was completed and Linde ple fs comprised of the businesses of Praxair and
Linde At ihereinafter the combined group will be referred ro as “the company”™ or “Linde™).

The business combination brought together two jeading companies in the global industriaf gases industry. leveraging
the pronen strengths of each, Linde believes the merger will combine Linde AG™s long-held expertise in technology with
Praxair '~ efficient operating madel. thus creating a global leader. The company is expected to enjoy strong positions in hey
wengraphies and end markets and will create w more diverse and balanced global portfolio,

Lande i~ e argestindustrial gas companmy worldwide, [t contnues to be a major technological imnes ator in the
mdustrial gases pdustes . s promars products in gs industrial guses business are atmospheric gases (oxygen, nitrogen. argon.
and rare sosestand provess gases tearbon dionide, helium. i drogen, electronic gases. speciulty gases, and acetyleney. The
company abse desjons, engineers. and builds equipment that produces industrial gases primarity for internal use and oflers st
custorners i owide mnge of gas prodoction and processing seryices such as olefin plants, natural gas plants. air separation
plants. fis drogen and syvothesis gas plants and other (v pes of plants. The surface technologies segment supplies wear-resistut
and high-temperature corrosion-resistant meratlic und ceramic coatings and powders.

Pinde serses adiverse group ol industries meluding healtheare, petralenm retinng, manidacturmyg. food, beverige
carbotkiiost, Dhereopties, steed mabing. aerospace. chenmeuls and water treatment,

Br 2o ane cornpain Proscan and Linde 3G entered mite variows aareenrents wath regulatons authoritios te satisfy
IS FedqUITemients 1o secure approval to consummate the busimess combination. Thesce agreements required the sale ol the
migouty of Pross’s Earopean indusina! pases business teompleted oo Deceniber 30201800 the majority of Linde A6
Amiericas ndiseriat pases Dusiness reompleted on March 1020090 4~ weltas cerain diseaitures of other Prisarc and Finde
A busnieises 1 S thal are ovpoected 1o be seld in 20190 A of December 3102008 and antl the completion of the
mgeris of such divestitires, binde AGoand Pravair were obligated o operate their businesses globally ax separate and
independent companies, and net coordinate any of their commercial operations. Fhe U5, Federal Trade Commission™s tthe
SITCT hold separate order CTHSO™ ) restrictions were Biited Narch L2009, concarrent with the sale of the requived merger-
sclated divestitures mrthe Vinsted Stares. See Notes 4 and 23 to the consalidated tinancial staterents for additional

PO T latiry todivostitires,

Prona seas duterntined o be the aceounting acquirer in the business combination. Accordingly. the historical financial
staiements of Prasa for the periods prior to the business combination are considered 1o be the historical financial statements
of the company . The results of Linde AG are included in Linde’s consolidated results from the date of'the completion of the
business combination torward. Also. during 2018 the company reported its continuing operations in six reporting segnients
under which it managed is operations. assessed performance. and reported earnings: North America, South Amernica. Asia.
Furape. Surface Technologies and Tinde AG. Linde AG became the sixth reportable segment effective with the merger on
October 3102018,

Linde ™ sales were ST4.900 million. $i1.437 million. and $10.334 million for 2008, 2017, and 2016, respectisely,
Reter to Trent 7 Nanagement’s Discussion and Analssis, for o discussion of conselidated sales and Note 20 10 the
consolidated Gnancial statements for additional information retared to Linde™s reportable segments.

Industrial Gases Products and Manufacturing Processes

Atmospheric gases are the highest valume products produced by Linde. Using air as its raw material. Linde produces
oy gen, nitrogen and argon through ses eral air separation processes of which ervogenic air separation is the most prevalent,
Rare gases. such as kv pton. neon and xenon. are alzo produced through crvogenic air separation. As a pioneer jn the
industrial gases mdustry, Linde i a feader in develeping 4 wide range of proprietany and patented applications and supply
svstems technelows . Linde also led the developmem and commercialization of non-cryogenic air separation technologies tor
the production of industriat gases. These technologies open important new markets and optimize production capacity for the

company by lowering the cost of supphing industrial gaszes, These technologies include proprietary vacuusm pressure swing

1
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either steant methane reforming or aute-thermal reforming of natural zas or other feed streams such as naphtha, Hydrogen is
also produced by puritving by-product sources abtained from the chemical and petrochemical industries. Mot of the helium
sold by Lide 1s sourced from certatn helium-rich natural gas streamis in the United States. with additional supplies being
acquired from cutside the United States. Acetylens is primants sourced as a chermical by -product. butinay alsa be preduced
from caleum carbide and water.

Industrial Gases Distribution

There are three hasie distmbuton methods for industral gases, g on-site or tonnage: G metchant o bulk hguid: and
cii packaged or ovlinder gases. These distribution methods are often mtegrated. with prodacts tfrom alf three supphy mades
coming trom the same plant. The miethod of supplv is generally determined by the Toswest cost means of meetmy the
customet s needs. depending upon tactors ~uch 4 volume requirements. purits . pattern of usage. and the fornin wineh e

product s dsed fas o gies o s g orvozentc iquidy.

u=sine Costeimers that require the largest volumes of product tvpicalls oy gens nirogen and I drozen und that o o
arelatmely conmtant deniand pattern are supplied by ervogenic and process gas on-site plants. Linde constructs plants oty o
adjacent to these customers” ~ites and supplies the product directly 1o costomers by pipeline. Om-ste product supply contract -
veneraliy are wotal requimement contracts with terms topreally ranging from T0-20 venrs and contanng mnimei purdhise
reguirements and price escalation provisions. Many ot the crvogenic on=site plants abso produce Tguid products jor the
merclant market Theretore, plons we vopically not dedicated 1o asimgle customer. ddsanced an separation processes wllos
on-ate delivers v customers withosmadler s clunie requirements, Castomers ustig these systents usualls enrer it
PCQUITCITEOL Colittiets W e rnns teopieatly rangme fronn 10 20 s e,

Viercdeent The merchant busimuess s generally dssocited sl distributable figong s oen minogenn, aigon carbod)
Joside Bvdrogen and helium Phe deliveres generadly are made from [inde™s plants by aoher trucks e storage contarers
A the costoniers ~tte which arc ovned and neantaimed by binde and leased o the customer. Dine 1o distrhution cost,
merciant vasoen amd nitrozen cencrd v huve aoredatively smad! distribution radius frone the plants at which they wre
produced. Merchant argon. hy drogen and helion can be shipped much Jonger distances. The customer agrecnments used i the
mcrehant business are useaby three-to seven-venn regquirenment contiicts.,

Frachacod Clases, Customiers requiting smafl volumes are supplicd produces i metal containers catled oy Tinders, imder
inedeant 1o high prossore Pachared cases include asmospherie maseso carbon diosade, by diogen, helimm, aeetcbene and
celuted products Linde alse prodecos and drsicibuotes in cvhinders oowide rmge of speciabng sasesond mistares ©hmders
miy he delivered oo the custemer’™ <t on picked ap by the custamer ata packagimg Facilite or retnd stotes Packacad wises
are generally sald umder one to three-vear supply contacis and throngh purchase orders

A substantial amount of the ¢ linder gases sold i the United States s distributed by independent distriburors that buy
merchant gases w liquid form and repackage the products in their tacilities. Packaged gas distributors. including Linde. aiso
distribute hardgoods and welding equipment purchased trom independent manufacturers Orver time, Linde has acquired a
number of independent industrial gases and welding products distributars at various locations in the United States and
continues (0 sell merchant gases to ather independent distribuors, Between its own distribution business, joint ventures and
sales o independent distributers. Linde is represented in 48 states, the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico.

Engincering

Linde’s Engineertng Diviston has a global presence. with its tocus onmarket segments such as olefin, natural gas. air
separation, hydrogen and synthesis gas plams. The company utilizes its own extensive process engmeering know-how in the
planning. project des elopment and construction of turnkey industrial plants and associated services. Linde plants are used in
a wide sariets of fields: m the petrochemical and chemical industries, in refineries and fertilizer plants. to recover air guses.
to produce hvdrogen and synthesis gases. o treat natural vas and to produce noble gases. The Engineering Division either
supphies plant components and services directly to the costonter or to the industial gas business of Linde. which operates the

plants on behalf of the customer ander a long-term gases supply contract.
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WEar resistance. vorrosion protection. thermal wsulation, and many other surince-snhancing functions which serve 1o extend

conponent life. enable optimal performance. and reduce operating cosis,

plasma and wire spray. and high-velocitny oxy-fuel ("HVOFTy equipment.

Inventories — Linde carries inventories of mercham and cyhinder gases. hardgoods und coutings materials w supply products
Lo its customers on a reasonable delivery schedule. On-site plams and pipeline complexes have hmited inventory, Inventory
obsolescence is not muterial o Linde's business.

Customers — Linde is not dependent upon a single customer or a few customers,

International — Linde is a global emerprise with approaimately 60 ¢ of its 2018 sales outside of the Unjted States. The
company alse has majoriey or wholly owned subsidiaries that operate iy approvimately 45 Furopeun. Middle Fastern and
African countries cmceluding Germany, France, Sweden. the Republic of South Africa. and the United Kingdom i
approdimately 20 Asian and South Pacttic coustrics vincluding China. Tabwian, Indis wnd australiny: wnd spproaimatel 20
Americas colntries tincloding Canada, Mevive aad Brazidy,

The company also has equity methed myestiments operating in Furope, Asta. Atrcas the Middle East and North America
twirh the fargest located i Germany . Chuna india, Mubin sios and the United Staresy,

Linde s international business is subpect to sisks customanb encountered 1 foreimn operabons, mehuding tluctiations w
foretgn curreney exchange rtes, impont and export conols. gnd other evonomie. political and rezulatory policres ot local
governments Also, see Trem AL 7Risk Factors”™ and Ttem 7AL Quantitative and Qualiative Disclosures About Market
Risk.”

Seasonality — Linde™s business is generally norsubjecr 1o seasonal fluctuatons o any significant estent.

Research and Deselopment [ inde™s reseurch and development i< divected toward developing new and onprosy ed micthods
tor the praduction and distribution of industnad 2ases and the deselopment of nes markets and apphications for these gises
This results in the development of new advanced air seperation and hydrogen process technotogies and the freguent
introdiction of new mdastrial gasoappheations, Research and des elopment for industrial gases is principatiy conducted ai
Pullach. Germany: Tonawanda, New York and Burr Ridge. THinoms

Linde conducts rescarch and devclopment for s surtaee teehnologios to improve the guabitn wnd duvabalits ot Coatings and
the use of specialty powders for new applications and industries. Surface Technologics research i condugted at Tndimapolis,
Indianu.

Patents and Trademarks - Linde owns or Beenses o Lpge nomber o patents that relate 1oz wide vanety o products and
processes. Linde™s patents expire i various fintes over the pexs 20 vears. While these patents and heenses are considered
mportant o s mdirvidug) busmesses. Linde does not consider its business as a whule to he materially dependent upon any
afe particular patent, or patent lieense, or tamih of patents. Linde also ewns o large number of trademacks, ot whaely the
“Linde™ trademark is the most significant.

Raw Materials and Energy Costs -- Energy is the single largest cost item in the production and distribution of industrial
gases, Most of Linde's energy requirements are i the form of electricity. nataral gas and diesed fuel for distribution. The
company mitigates electricity. natural gas. and hvdrocarbon price fluctuations contractually throngh pricing formulas.
surcharges. and cost pass—through and folling arrangements,

The supply of energy has not been a significant issue in the geographic areas where the company conducts business,
Hlowever, energy availabilits and price is unprediciable and may pose unforeseen fuwire rishs.

For carbon dioxide. carbon monoxide. helium. hvdrogen. specialty gases and surface technologies. raw marerials are largels
purchased from outside sources. Linde has contracts or commitments for. or readily available sources of. mast of these raw
materials: however, their long-term avatlabilinn and prices are subject to market conditions,

Competition - Linde participates 1n highly competitis ¢ markets in the industrial gases. engineering and healtheare
businesses, which are characterized by a mixture of focal. regional and global plavers. all of which exert competitise pressure
on the pariies. In locations where Linde bas pipeline neta otks, w hich enabie the company 1o provide rehiable and cconomie

supply of products to larger customers. Linde derives a competitive advantage.

Competiters in the industrial and medical gases industry inelude global and regional conmpanies such as L' Adr Liquide S.A
Alr Products and Chemieals. [ne.. Messer Group GmbH. Aitcubishi Chenvcal Holdings Corporation ithrouwh Taivo Nippon

G
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Emplovees and Labor Relations — As of December 21 Z0vis. Dinde had 0320 emplovees worldwide, Linds nas collectin g
U SO D [ 1othe v ertd which enpire 2Us arieus dates, Linde
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Environment — Informanon required by this item 12 incorporated herein by reference w the seciion captioned
“MManagement’s Discussion and Analvsis - Environmental Mauers™ ir Item 7 of thus To-K,

Available Information — The company makes its periodic and current reports avatlable. free of charge. on or through s
website. wwa linde.com. as soon as practicable atter such material is elecuronically filed with, or furnished to. the Secunities
amd Exchange Commission ("SECTH Investors may also access from the company websie other mvestor information such as
press releases and presenations. Information on the company s website is not meorporated by reference herein. I addimon,
the public min read and copr any materials filed with the SEC free of churge atthe SEC s webwites wwn e gon, that
confains reports. proxy information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronicully

Executive Officers — The following Executive Officers i ¢ been elecied by the Board of DHrectors and sers e at the pleasure
of the Board. 1os expected that the Board will elect officers aunua!hy fodlovwing each unnoal mecnng of shareholders.

Stephen I Angel. 630 0= Chier Execunne Otficer of Linde, Prier 1o that, My Angel was Charrnin, President and CEO of
Pravair, Ine, since 20070 Angel jotned Praxair in 2001 as an executive vice president and was named president and <hied’
operating otticer in Februars 2006, Prior to joiming Praxar, Angel spent 22 vears g vartety of managementt positions with
General Fleetrie. Angel serves on the board of directors of PPG Industries and the 1.5.-China Business Council and is o
membet of The Business Council. Angel recerved a buchelor of seience degree in e il engmeering trom North Caroting Stity
Linversin and an MBA trom 1 ovofa College 10 Baltimore

[y € hrgstian Bruch, age 49, became an executive ofticer and o member of the Managemenm Commtes of Linde in
connection with the business combimation in Cretober 2008 He ds alsothe Head of Encineerige for Linde and g member o
the Executive Board of Linde AG. Dr Bruch jotned Thie §inde Gioup™ Cases Bivision in 2064 as 0 Busiess Dev clopinent
Manager for Afrgases, In 2006 he became the Heud of Tonnuge Busmess Development for air separation projedis i i urope,
the Middle tast and Africa. in 2000 he transterred o the Lagincermg Division, where hie was responsible tor the product Bing
Air Separation Plants, In 2013 he was appointed @ member of the Board of Directors at the Fogincering Division. o position
he held untul becoming a member ot the Executive Board of Tinde 3Cat the beginning of 2015 responsible tor the Lhinde

b ngineening Division and the Corporate & Support Funciion Technoloey & Innovation. Prior 1o jommg The | mde Group,
Dr. Bruch worked for the Swiss Institute of Technology in Ztirich and tor the RWE Groap in T aven. Germans

Hernd Eulitg age 330 became an executive officer annd a member of the Management Comntittee of Dinde mr conmection with
the business combimation in Octoher 20080 He is also the Head of the Antertcas, Prion o thiss he was appointed o Zoeniher nd
the vecutive Board of Tinde AG i January 20135, responsible tor the Crases Divisron of Tirope, Maddie Lastand Stroco He
also led the global functions Centre ot Excellence and Procuremient, Mr. Lulitz jomed Limde NG 2004 as head of the Sales
Regien Fast in Germany. In 2008 he was appointed CEO of PanGas AG in Switzerland and 2011 he moved 1o Singapore o
head the Business Unit South & East Asia covering eleven countrics from India to South Korea. Prior to joining 1 mde AG.
M. Eulitz worked for Air Liguide and A T. Kearney in various roles.

Kelcev F. Hovt, age S0, hecame the Chief Accounting Officer of Linde in connection with the business combination in
October 2018, Prior 1o this. she served as Vice President and Controller of Praxair, Ine. effective August 1, 20 6. Prior ro
becoming Controller. she served as Praxair’s Director of Investor Relations since 2014, She joined Praxair i 2002 and
served as Director of Corporate Accounting and SEC Reporting through 2008, and fater semved as Controller for various
divisiens within Praxair's North American Industrial Gus business, Previousdy . she had five sears of experience i audit ot
KPAMG, LLP. She 15 a certified public accounntant.

Sanjiv Lamba age 54, became an executive officer and a member of the Managemem Comnmuttee of Tinde in connection witl
the business combination in October 2018 He is the Head of APAC Mr. Lamba was appointed a Member of the Executive
Board of Linde AG mn 201 1. responsible for the Asia. Pacitic segment of the Gases Division. for Global Gases Businesses
Helium & Rare Gases. Electronics as well as Asia Jomt Venture Management. Mr. Lamba started his career 1989 with BOC
india mn Finance where he progressed to become Director of Finance, He was appoimted Managing Director for BOC s



fadia’s business in 2001, Throughont Biz: 29 vesrs with BOC Linde, he has worked i a nomber 1 zeographics including
Gemnuuy, the UK, Singapore and India where he has hield numerous roles across the organization,

Fduarde F. Menezes. age o5 became an checutive officer 1 member of the Manggemenr Committee of Linde in conngcuon
with the business combination in Octuber 2015, He is also the Head of EAMEAL Mr. Menezes previously semved as Executiv e
Vice President of Praxam, Inc. since 201 2. responsible for Praxair Europe, Praxair Mexico. Praxair South Ameriea and
Praxair Asia. From 2010 to March 201 1. he was a Vice President of Praxair with responsibility for the North American
Industrial Gases business and was named senior vice president in 2071, Frony 2067 to 2010, he was President of Praxair
Europe. He served as Managing Director of Praxair’s business in Mexico from 2004 to 2007, as Vice President and General
NManager for Praxady Distribution. Tne. from 2002 1o 2004 wnd as Viee President, U5, West Region. for North Amerivan

Industrial Gases. {from 2000 to 2003,

Anne K. Robv. age 34, became an executive officet and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in connection
with the business combination in October 201n, She is the Head of Global Tunctions. Prior to this, Dr. Roby served as Senio
Vige President of Praxair, Inc, since Januars 1. 2014, responsible for Global Supply Systems. R&D. Global Market

Dey elopment. Global Operations Excellence. Glubal Strategic Sules. Global Procurament. Sustainabilivy and Satery, Heahth
and Eivironment. From 2011 to 2013, she served ax President of Pruxair Adda, responsible for Praxair’s industrial zases
business it China, lodia. South Korea and Thatland as well a< the electronics market globally, 11 2010, Dr. Roby became
President of Prasair Electronies, after having served ax Vice President, Global Sales. for Praxair from 2009 to 2010, Prior to
s she was Vice President of the Prasar LS. South Region frow 2000 w0 2004, Dr, Robs joined Prasarin 1991 asa
devclopment associate in the Company "~ R&D arganization and was promoied 1o other positions of increasing responsibility

Natt ) W lnees age 46, becume an executive officer and o member of the Munagement Commiittee of Linde in comtection
with ihe business combination in October 2008 He s the Chiel Fmaneial €dtcer for Linde. He previoustsy sernved as the
Sentor Viee President and Chiet Financial Qfficer of Pruxair, Ine. since January 1. 2014, Prior to this. My, White was
Prosident of Prasair Canada from 201 1-2014 He joined Pravarr in 2004 ax Anance director tor the company s largest
husiness s North Aperican Industeid Gases, T 2008, he became Vice Prestdent and Conteobler of Pravanr. Ing.. then was
saried Ve Prosident and Treasurer in 20500 Before joming Prisaie, Wihnte was vice president. lmance. at Fisher scientine
and betore that e held varous finaneiad pesitons, including geoup conisoler, st crenfeb. oo manufuciunng and performancy

chemicale compuny



ITEM QA RISK FACTORS

Die o the size and zeographic reach of the company s operations, a wide range of factors. many of whi
» s cmntrals could marerially affect the compamy™s future operadnms and fnancial performianee.
belicves the 1ollowing risks may significantty inpact the company:

RELI
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The company miav fail ro realize the anticipured strategic and tinencial benefits <oughi fron the business combinarion,

The company may not realize all of the anticipated benefits of the business combination between Praxair. Tnc. and
Linde AG. which was completed on October 31. 2018, The success of the business combination will depend en. among othe
things, the company’s ability 10 combine Praxair. In¢.’s and Linde AG™s businesses in a manner that facilitates growth and
realizes the anucipated annual svnergies and cost reductions without ady ersely affecring current revenues and investments in
future growth. The acwal integration will continue to involve complex operational. technological and personneal-related

challenves. Dutficulties in the integration of the businesses. which may result in significant costs and delay 5. include;

* managing a significantiy farger combined group:
+  aligning and executing the srategy of the company:

+ ntegratme and unifving the ofterings and services available 1o customers and coordmatme Jistribution and
marketing ettorts i geographically separate organizations;

=

*  coordinating corporate and administrative intrastructures and aligning insurance cos eruge

+coordimating accounting. reporting. informanon techaology, commuuications, administration and other sy siems:
+ addressing possibie differences in corporate cultures and management philosophies:
«  the company being subject 1o [rish Taws and regulatrons and legal action in lreland:

+  ceordinuting the comphance program and unitorm financial reporting, information welnoloes and other
standards, controls. provedures and pohicies:

+ the mplemenation. ulumate mpact and outcome of post-completion reorganization transactions. suchk as the
syueeze-oul with respect 1o remaining minority Linde AG sharcholders, which mun be delaved:

« untorescen and unexpected habilities reluted 1o 1he business combination v the combimed businesses:
o manuging oy costs or imefficiencies associated with nvegrating operations:

+ kdentifving and eliminating redundant and underperforming functions and assets: and

+ cftecting actions that may be required in connection with oblaining tegulwtors approvals,

These and other tactors could result inincreased costs and diversion of management™s time and cnergs as well o
decreuse~ 1 the amount of expected revenue and earnings. The mteeration provess and other disruptions resulting from the
business combination may also adversely affect the company s relationships with employ ees. suppliers. customers.

distributors. treensars and others with whom Praxair. Inc. and Linde AG have business or other dealings. and difficulties in
integrating the businesses could harm the reputation of the company.

It the company is not able to successfully integrate the businesses of Praxarr, Inc, and Linde AG in an efficient. cost-
effective and timely manner, the anticipated benefits and cost savings ot the buziness combination may not he realized fullv,
or at all. or mav take longer to realize than expected.

Wewkening economic conditions in markers inwhich Linde docs business may adversely impact s Hnanciad resules and or
cush tlows.

Linde serves a diverse group of industries across more than 10G countries. which generally leads to tinancial stability
through various business cyveles. However, a broad decline in general econemic or business conditions in the industries
served by its cusiomers could adversely affect the demand for Tinde s products and impair the ability of its customers ta
satisfy therr obligations to Linde. resulting in uncollected recetvables and or unanticipated contract terminations or project
delavs. For example. global political and economic uncertainty could reduce imvestment activitics of Linde's customers.
which could adyersely aftect Linde s engineering project business.

In addition. many of Linde’s customers are in businesses that are cvelical in nature. such as the chemicals, electronies,
nietals and energy industries, Dowoturns in these industries may adversely impact Linde during these cveles. Additionally.
such conditions could impact the utitization of Linde”s munutacturing eapacity shich may require i1 to recognize impairment



soeon tangible assets gk as property. plant and 2quimeent, aswell as intangible avgets such as goodwill, customer
reiationshups or wezliectaal praperty.
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Energy 15 the single largest cost item m the production and distribution of industrial gases. Most of Linde's enerev
requiremants are in the form of elecuriciny, natural gas and diesel fuel for distribution. Linde attempts to minimize the
financial impact of variability in these costs through the management of customer contracts and reducing demand through
cperatonal productivity and energy efficiency. Large customer contracts tyvpically hon ¢ escalation and pass-through clauses
o recover energy and feedstock costs. Such atiempts may not successfully migate cost variability, which could negatively
mpact Linde's financial conditien ar results of eperations, The supply of energy has not been a significant issue in the
gecegraphte areas where Linde conducrs business. However, regional energy conditions are unpredictable and max pose

rirure risk,

For carbon diesade. carbon monoide. heliuny, hydrogen, specialty gases and surface wechnologies, vaw materials are
largely purchased from outside sources. Where feasible. Linde sotirces several of these raw materials. including carbon
dreades Indrogen and caleuny carbide. as chenical or industrisl byvproducts. [n addition. Linde hus contracts or
conuniteeats for of readify available sources of. most of these raw muaterials: however. their long-term availabilits and
prices are subject to market condinons. A disruption 1 supphy of such raw materials could impact Linde s abilite to meet

contractuat suppiy comnniments,

Lode fnierparional operations are sahioc 1o the pisks of dolie bresiness alwoad and internationat cveniss wid

circrines ey e ddversc fgaer ds Prusoness, dimaonciad condizion op posults of operations,

nde has sabstantial mteraational operations which are subject to rishs including devaluatons i currenes exchange
sutes, ransportation delayvs and inferruptions. polincal and econonue instabilite and disruptions. restrictions on the transfer of
funds trade contlicts and the wipesttion of duties and tariffs, miport and expon controls, changes in governmental policies.
aehon tirest possihle nutionadization and v expropriation of assets. domestic and international tas Iaws and complianee with
Sescrnmental regaluthnis These events could have an ads erse effect on the international epenitions o Dinde in the fature by
reducing the demand for its products, decreasing the prices ot which it con sell it> products. reducing the res enue from
miternatiotiuh vperations of sthers b hinong an adverse efect om it business, Fov exampde. Tinde b @ meaningtol presenice
avthe UKo and the UK s ongoing exit process trons the FU has continued 16 cause, and may i the futare cause. potitical
And ceoronne uncestainee, which could hav e an adverse nipact o the markets which Linde supplies.

Crveney evclanae vare flisctications and ather vefared risks mae adversef attecer Finde s resudin,
= . . f

Prevause a significent partion of Linde™s revenue is denominated in currencies other than its repuotting currencs - the
Loscdotla changes m eschange rates will produce fectuations in revenue. costs and eamings and ma also afteet the book
vatue o assets and lbitives and relaed equits . Although the company from tme o time aulizes forerzn eschange Jorward
contrict> b hedge these exposures, its efforts 1o mmimize currency exposure through such hedging rransactions muy not be
siccesstul depending on market and business conditions. As w result Tuctiations in loreign curtenay evchange rates could
adversety afteet Linde s financial condition, results of operations or cash flow .

Macrocconomic faciors miay Impact Linde s abilite 1o obain financing or merease the cost of obtaining financing which iy
adverselv impuct Linde s flanaricial vesudis and or cash flows.

Volatitity and disruption in the U'.S.. Furopean and global eredit and equity markets. from time to time, could make it
more difficult for Linde to obtain financing for its operations and or could increase the cost of obtaining financing. In
addition. Linde s borrowing costs can be affected by short- and fong-term debn ratings assigned by independent rating .
agencics which are based. in <ignificant part on its performance as measured by certain criteria such as Merest con erage and
leverage ratios. & decrease i these debi ratings could inerease the cost of horrowing or make it more difficult to abtain

triraneing.
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o deternune 1f thes ate Impaired. Steniflcant negative indusry or economis CdiEraptiens
bustiess. unexpecied signiticant changes o1 planned changes in use of the assets. div esdwres and sustained market
capitalizanon declines may result m recogninan of impaimients to coodwill or other indefinite-fhed 2sserss Ans charges

relating to such impairments could have a matertai adverse impact on Linde"s results of operations i the perivds recoomzad
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The oveurrence of catastrophic events or nawral disusters such as extreme weather. includmy hurmcanes and Toods
health epndemies. und acts of wiag or ferrorisim. could disrupt or delay Linde™s abiliny o produce ana distnbuie s products 1o
custoners wind vodd potenually espose Linde toabird-party habihine ciams, I addivon, such evems could mpace Linde s
Jistagnets and suppicrs resudtung inemporany o Jong-term outages and or tie limitation of supply of eneres and ey 1o a

Baterials dsed mnormet business operatons Linds evalvates the direct and indiect business rishs consults vty eneors,

cand coiaduets TL_LIIL\

sy prosaders and mdustry experts, makes v estments insuitably resiient desten and @ehnolog,

revicws of the busimess rishs with manageiment Despite these steps. hovieyer, these situations are ourside Linde's contral {4
My v e a s1gnieant adverse impact on s Gnancial resufes

Thie inabhidivd soraiivan o asidd vciain guadolic d porsonanc e adv crscle it Landc s Basing s

I Linde fatis 1o anracs, tore and retain qualitied personpel it nws not be able 1o develop murhet or seli s producis on
stecesstullv manage s business, Linde s dependent upon wchighly <kitled. experienced and efficient work foree 1o ne
stccesatub Much of Binde™ vompetivive advantage i hased on the esperizse and expericnce o' bey personnel resiandimg
marketing, rechnologsmanutacturing and distetbunion imfrastructare. systems and prodocts, The mubo b e antiraet ana tare
quathified mdraduais or the foss ot kes etapiovees inovers shilled arcus could have a nepanive offect o T inde '~ fmanencd
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Fipde’s rescarch and developmenos directed toward developing new and improved methods Tor the produsciion oo
di=tribution of mdustria] ases asowell as for the design and construction of plants and tow ard desclopine new nurk et and
apphications for the vse ot industrial gases This resudts i dhie moroduction of new idustrial gos appfecations g 1he
deselopient of new advanced dut separation process techinelogiess A result of these efforts Dinde des olops s g
proprictars technologies and cimploy s necessirs mcasutes o protect sach rechnoloctes sothin the siobal geaeranhies 1
which Frinde operates These teehinelogies help Dinde o creare g competitive adsantage and 1o provide apiationms 1o grow e
business, I Linde s rescarch and development activities do not keep pace svith competitors ot H binde does notcreate new
technologies that benefin customers, future results ot operations could be ady ersely utfected.

Risks related wer pension benctin plans sy adverselv impacr Linde s reswdin of eperations and cash flons,

Pension benetits represent significant financial obliganons that will be ultimately settled m the tuture with emplovees
whoe meet eligibility requirements. Because of the uncertainties invalved in estimating the timing and amount ot furure
pavments and asset returns, sigmificant estimates are required 1o caleulate pension expense and habihities related 1o Linde™s
plans. Linde urilizes the services of independent actuaries. whose madels are used to facilitate these caleulations, Several hes
assumptions are used i the actuarial models o caloulate pension expense and Habibin amounts recorded in the consolidared
financial statements, In particular, significant changes i actual investment returns on pension assets, discount rdtes, or
legislative or regulatory changes could impact future resuits of operations and required pension contributions,



Operaiiond sk el impaor Linde s business or resulis of operaiions.

Linde s operating resuits are dependent on the continued aperstion of i production tacilities and it ability to meet
SLSKorar contradt requirements and other needs. Insufficient or exeess capacin threatens Linde's ability 1o generats
competitive profit margins and may expose Linde te liabilities related 1o contract commitments, Operating resulls are also
dependent on Linde’s ability w0 complete new construction projects on time. on budget and in accordance svith performanc e
requirements. Faiture 1o do so mayv expose Linde’s business to oss of revenue. potental hiigation and loss of business
repltation,

Also inherent in the management of Linde’s produoction {acilities and deliv ery svstems. inciuding storage. vehicie
ransportation and pipetines. are operational risks that reguire coninuous training. oversight and control. Material operating
failures at production. storage facilities or pipelines. including fire, toxic release and explosions. ar the occurrence of vehicte
ansportation aceidents could result in luss of fife. damage fo the environment. loss of production and or extensive properts
damage. all of which may negatively impact Linde™s financial resuits.

Finrcie miery bo suhject o intormation icchinalogy svseem failures. nepvworh disvuprions and breachies in data securin,

[inde relies o information technology systems and networks for business and operational actiy ities, and alav stores
and provesses sensitiy e business and proprietary information i these systens and networks. These svstems are suseeptible to
outages due 1 tire. flood. power Joss, telecommunications failures. viruses. break-ins and similar events. or breaches of
~ECUNTEY

P inde has tahen steps (o address these risks and concerns by implementing advanced security technologies. intemad
codrols, network and data center resilicney and recoveny process Despite these steps. howeser, operational failures und
hreaches of securite {rom increasmgly sophisticated cvber threats could lead to the Toss or disclasure of confidential
information. result in business interruption or mulfunction or regulatony actions and have w material adverse impact on
Linde s operations. reputation and financial results.

The cnabsdice oo Cpiecan e inmtewiate acquisadlonis e coflabarane w ik fodag vortr o prarincrs conld adversedy mpan £ Fisidc s

PPt dald Frooviteielt lf‘.‘.i‘ Pesbfis o e e ey

D additton 1o the bustness combination, Linde has evaluated and expects to cottinge to evafnates a wide arr ot
potentral stitegie aequisitions and ot ventures, Vuny of these traisactions. it comnsummated. could be materiad 1o 1
finaneiad condition and 1esults of operations, In addition, the process of integrating an acguired company business o yroup
o assets may create unforeseen operating ditficaltios and expenditares. Adthough historically Linde has been successful with
P awgsition strateey and executions the areas where Linde may face rishs include:

+ the need o mmplement or remediate contrels. procedures and policies appropriate tar a farger pubhic company at

compunie~ that prive to the acquisiton lacked these controls, procedures and policies;

+diversion of sanagenient time and focus From operating oxisting business to acqursition mtepraton chatlenees:

o cultural challenges ussociated with integrating enplovees tront the acguired company into the ¢xisting

OTEAnTZation:

«  the need to tntegrate cach company’s accounting. management information, human resources and other

administrative systems to permit effective management:

« difficulty with the assimilation of acquired operatioms and products:

= fallure w achieve targeted synergies and cost reductions: and

< mabiliny e retain hey emplovees and business relationships of aeguired companies.

Foreign acguisitions and joint ventares invol ¢ unbjue risks in addition to those mentioned herein, including these
related (o inwegration of operations across different cultures and languages. currency risks and the particular economic.
political and regulators risks assoclated with specitic countries.

Also. the anticipated beneflt of potentinl futire acqguisitions mayv not materiglize, Future zeguisitions or dispositions
could resulr in the incurrence of debt, contimgent liabilities or amortization expenses. or impairments of goodwill. any of
which could adverseds mmpact Linde s financial results,
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Linde i3 subyot o regalations in the following areas. among others:

+ envrommental proteciton. including climate change and enerey efficieney law s and policies:

»  domestic and international 1ax laws and currency controls:

¢ safenys

«  securities laws applicable in the Unired States. the Luropean Union. Germany, Irelamd. and other jurisdictions:
«  rade and Lmport export restrictions. as well s economic sanctions Jaws:

* AnUHrusD Narerrs;

» data protection:

o wlobalb anti-bribery kewss indluding the LS Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and

= healtheare regulutions,

Chunges in these or other reguiators areas. such as evolving environmental Jegistation m China, may impact e’ s
profiabilinn and mas give rise o new or merensed compliance fishs, it may become monre comples and costhy o ensure
comphance. and the fevel of sauctions in the cvent of nor-complivnee may rise. Sach chunves mav adso resirict Tinde's
abibity to compete ctlectvely inthe markeplace. Noncomplisnee with such daws and regpulations could resuht i pennlties or
sanctions, cancellauon of marketing rights or restrictions on participation in. or even exclusion from. pubhic tender
procecdings. all ot which could hase w material adverse impact on Linde ™ financial results and or reputation,

Domy business globadly requires Linde tocomply sith anti-corraption. rade. comphance and econonuc sanctions and
~imila B and 1o implement pohicies and procedures designed o ensure that ite emplos ges and other imermediries
comiply with the appheable restrictions. These restnictions include prohibitions on the sake or sapply of certm prodacts,
services and any other ecenaliie resources o embaraocd or sanctioned countries. governments, persons aid entijes.
Compliznee wigh these restricions requires, wmong other things, sereening of business parters, Despite its commitment 1o
fegal comphiance and corporate ethies, the company cannot ensure that 1its polrcies and procedures will alwins protect it from
ientivnal, reckiows or negligent acts committed by emplosces of agents under the applivable s 101 inde Sail to compls
with faw s governing the conduct of mternaonal operations. Linde may be subject 1o crimyinal and civ it penaities and ather
remedial measures. which could materiadls adversely atTect it repuiation. busmess< and results ol operations,

Tho cvstcomng o fafoaiion or con e mpiotal investiattonis navadversady faepact the coopane ~ biesingss o posaie v

cpClQtons

Linde’s subsidiaries are party 1o varous fassuirs and governmental investigations arsing i the ordinan cotse of
business. Adyerse outcomes i same or ablb of the claims pendimg may result m signiticant monetarns damages or ingunctise
reliet’ that could adversely affect I inde’s abilitv to conduel business. Linde and irs sub~idiaries may in the future become
subject to further claims and htigation, which is impossible to predict. The litigation and other claims Linde faces are subject
to inherent uncertainties. Legal or regulatory judgments or agreed settlements imight give rise o expenses which are not
covered. or are not fully covered. by insurance benefits and may also lead to negative publicity and reputational damage. An
unfaverable outcome or determination conld cause a material adverse impact on the company’s results of operations,

Poreniicl product defeciv or inadegreate castomer care e adverselv inpact Linde s buisiness o resulis o operainons.

Risks associared with producis and services may result in potential lability claims, the loss of castomers or damage to
Linde™s reputation. Principal possible causes of risks associated with products and services are product defects or an
madequate level of eustomer care when Linde is providing services.

Linde 15 exposed to legal risks relating to procuet Jiability in the countries where it operates, including countries such
as the United Stares. where legal risks tin particular through class actions) have historiealls been more signmificant than in
other countries. The outconie of any pending or future products and services procecdmgs or i estigations cannot be
predicted and legal or regulatory judgments or agreed settlements miay give rise o significant losses, costs and expenses.

e manufaciuring and sale of products as well ax the constuction ot plants by Linde mayv give vise o risks associated
with the production, filling. <torage. handling and transport of raw materials. goods or waste. Industrial guses are patentiall

!_\
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e or not hamdled o performed appropriaiety . ma tead 10 personed Ljurios,
busmess imterruptions, environmental Jumages o other significant damages. which may result. among other conseyuences,
1 fiabliln . fosses, monetary penaliies of cuinpensation pay nients. environmental clean-up cosis or uiher costs and evpenses,
exclusion from certain market sectors deemed mportant for future development of the business and loss of reputation. All
these consequences could have 4 marerial adyerse etfect on Linde s business and results of operations.

Sy rook b crorceahlo st Linde,

Linde is organized under the laws of Ireland and substantial portions of its assets will be located outside of the Unired
States Inaddition, ceptain directors and officers ol Linde and its subsidiaries reside outside the United States. As a result. it
niy he diffieudt fov vestors to etfect service of precess within the United Stares upon Linde or such persons. or e enforce
oiside the Lnited Stutes indgments obtamed against »uch persons m LS. courts many action, ieluding actions predicated
vpng the vl iabihny provisions ot dhe LS, federat securities Taws, In addition. 1t may be difficult for investors 10 enforee.
i origioad actiens brought in courts 15 junsdictions Iocated ontside the United States, rights predicated upon the LS federal

SECLTH S T s

A pudgment Tor the puyment of mones rendered by a court m the U mted States based on cial babilite would not be
stomatvatly enforecible i Ireland There 1 noreany between Treland and the ined States providing for the teciprocal
entoreenienit of foreign judgments The following requirements must be miet betore the foreign judgment will be deemed o
be cntorcesblo m Treland oo the judgment must be Jor o detinite suns, (i the judgmoent must be Tinab and conclusive: and

i s the judzment must be provided by a court of competent jurisdiction.

Ve drish com tw il alse exerome s nighe e retuse judgment i the foreigm judgment ¢ was obtinned by i,
vz edated Inshe public pobies oo s breach of natural justices or cy y iF the adement s imeconcifable wah an carlier

tarcion padgnaent

Soadditrors ihdre s dobt as tow hether i Iresh coon syould aevept iresdiction and oipose el Babaling on U inde on
~uvh persens s origiad action predicared sofels upon tic By federad secarities s broaghit e oot of Ccongpeten

pertsaicton e ek agamst b inde on such naembet s officer or expert, respectively
s i favc o podicn coadd anddvess Iy faipan e comepaiie s iaiiciad posirion or scsedic of Gpiciate e

Pinde and its subsidiaries are subgect to the tay rules and regulations inthe U S0 Germans . reland, the UKL and other
counirees mowhich they operate: Those 1ay rules and regulations are subject (o clisnge on g prospectise or relfoacin e hasis
Londer cutrent ecenentic and polincal condiions. meluding the UK s ongoing exit progess from the B ias rintes aud
poebicies ot ans qurisdicions mchuding the Bos sihe UK and the FU L are subtect oo stgmifToant change Inoparticuian sinee
Eorade s o pected Teche rrcatad ws TRty resident, iy potential changes in the o rules applving v Uk s -eesident

comparios wotid directiv attedt inde

A change i bnde™s s vesidenes conld have d negatm e cfieet on the company "~ future profitabitisg, and man nigect
tanes on dividends or oxit charges, I Linde ceases to be resident in the United Kingdom and becomes resident in another
Jurisdiczion. 1omay be subject w United Kingdony exit charges. and or could become liable for additional tas charges in the
ather jurisdiction. It Linde were to be treated as restdent in more than one jurisdiction. it could be subject to duplicative
tavation. Furthermore. although Linde is mcorporated in [refand and is not expected 10 be treated as a domestic corporation
for 1.5, federal income tax purposes. it is possible that the IRS could disagree with this result or that changes in L S, federal
income fax Jas coubd alter this result, I the IRS suceessfully asserted such a position or the Taw were to change. significant
adverse v consequences may result for Linde, the company and Linde’s sharcholders.

When tan rules change. thes may result m a higher wax expense and the need to make higher tax pay ments, In addition,
changes w tan Jegislation may have o significant impact on Linde™s and its subsidiaries” tax recenvables and tas hiabitities as
well as on their deferred 1ax assers and deferred as Habilities and uncertaingy about the tx enyironment in some regions mias
restrict their oppoertunities o enforce their respective righrs under the law, Tinde will als¢ operate in countries with comples
s reguiations which could be interpreted in different wayvs. Tnterpretations of these regulations or changes in the iy s\ stem
mirght have an adverse impact on the tan hiabihties. profitability and business operations of Linde. Linde and it subsidinries



Mooan outhene s

i jursdictions or othe
4!

S amoeumts recorded i Lings s ar oo

eaifts ror ]




ITEM 1B. ENRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Linde has reccived no wrinen SEC stalf comments regarding any of its Exchange Act reports which remain

cireselved.
ITEM 2, PROPERTIES

Linde plc’s prmeipal executive offices are located in owned office space in Guildford. United Kingdom. Linde also
owns principal administrative office space in Danbury, Connecticut and Tonawanda. New York. United States; Pullach and
Dresden. Germany: and Schiedam. Netherlands. Other principal administrative offices are leased in Munich, Germanyv: Rio
de Japeiro. Brazil: Hangzhou and Shanghar, China: Lidingd. Sweden; Basingstoke. United Kingdom: Bridgewater, New
Jersev, Houston. Texas and Tulsa. Oklahoma, United States: North Rvde, Australia; Samara. Russia: Vadodara. India: and
Singapore.

Due 1o the nature of Linde s indusinial gas products. it i generally uneconomical 1w mransport them distances greater
than a few hundred miles from the production facilitv. As a result. Linde operates a significant number of production
fucilivies spread globally throughout & number of geographic regions.

The following i a descrption of production facitines for Linde by segment. No significant portion of these assets w as
leased at December 33, 2018, Generally, these facilities are tulls uilized and are sufficient 1o meet the Compans s
manufacruring neads

Newrh Americe

The North Mmerica segiment operates production facilities i the U.S0 Canada and Mexico, approximately 260 of
which are ¢ryogenic air separation plants. hydrogen plants and carbon dioxide plants. There are five major pipeline
complexes i North Smerica located in northern Indiana. Houston, along the Gulf Coast of Texas, Detroit and Lonixiana.
Also located throughoat North America are noncnogenic air separation plunts, pachaged gas fucilities, specialty vas plants.
hetium plants and other smaltler plam facilities.

Litiespe

£ December 30201 Praxair completed the sale of the majority of its Europeas mdustrial gas business as required For
the merger (e Note 4 we the comsolidated Tinancial statementsy, Untl the divestiture. the Furope segment had production
facthiies primarily i Ttads . Spain. Germans. the Benelus region, the United Kingdom, Scandinavia and Russia which include
approaimately 70 enyogenic alr separation plants and carbon diovide planis. There were three mujor pipeline compleves in
Eurepe focated i Northern Spain and the Rhine and Saar regions of Gerntany . These pipeline complexes were primarily
suppiicd by ervogenic mr separation plants. Also located throughout Furope were noners ogenie air separation plints,
packaged gas facilitics and other smatler plant facilives,

Seoqerdi 1 rics

The South Americy segment operates moye than 60 crvogeniv air separation phants and carbon dioxide plants, primarinh
located 10 Brazil. Many of these plants support a major pipetine comples in Southern Brazil. Alse located throughout South
America are packaged gas tacilities and other smatler plant facilities.

Asiu

The Asia segment has production facilities located primarily in China, Korea. India and Thailand. approximatelv 70 of
which are ervogenic air separation plants and carbon dioxide plants. Alzo focated throughout Asia are noncryvogenic air
separation plants. hydrogen. packaged gas and other production facilities.

Surnce Techmdogios

The Surface Technologics segment provides coating services and manufactures coating equipment at approximately 43
sites. The majority of these sites are located 1 the United States and Furope. with smaller operations in Asia and Brazil.

Limde 4G

Linde AG conducts its operations in approximately 100 countries worldwide. Tts gases facilities in Eurape Middle East
and Africa include approximately 230 plants. of which approximately 130 are ervogenic air separation plants, approximarely
30 are hydrogen plants and approximately 30 are carbon diexide plants. Its current facilities in the Americas include
approximately 120 plants. of which approximately 60 are ¢crvogenic air separation plants. approximately 30 are hydrogen
plants and approximately 30 are carbon dioxide plants. Its facilities in the Asia Pacific include approximately 170 plants. of
which approvimately 110 are envogenic afr separation plants. approximately 40 are hydrogen plants and approsimatehy 20 are

Lo
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The Linde Engineering Division desiyns and construets tumkey process plants for tird-party customers as well as for
the Linde Gases Division in mans locations worldwide. such as olefin planes. natural gas plants. air separation plants.
hvdrogen and synthesis gas plants. Plant components are produced in vwned factories tn Puitach and Tacherting. Germans:
Hesingue. France: Tulsa, Oklahoma. Umited Stares: and Dalian, China.

ITEM 3, LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Information reguired by this item i~ incorporated herein by reference 1o the seciton cantionse "Naotes e Consadidated
Fraancial Statements — 19, Commnments and Conbingencies” in frem % of this 10-K.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
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TTEM 5, MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY,. RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSTUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Linde pic shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange ¢*NYSE™) and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange {"FSE™) under

the ticker symbol "LINT. At December 31, 2018 thers were 10,439 shareholders of record.

Purchases of Eguity Securities — Certain information regarding purchases made by or on behalf of the company or any
affiliared purchaser (as defined in Rule 10b-18¢ay 3y under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of fts ardinary
shares during the three months ended December 21, 2015 1 provided below:

Total Number of

Total Shares Purchased as Approximate Dollar
Number of Part of Publicls V alue of Shares that
Shares Average Announced May Yot be Purchased
Puerchased Price Paid Program (1} Under the Program ¢2,
Period (Thousands) Per Share ¢ Firousands) tMitlions)
October 2018 Ay — g __
November 2018 — % — - h —
Decenmber 2018 4.069 % [544X 4069 371
Fourth Quarter 20105 4069 % 15448 4409 & 371
el On December 10, 2018 the company”™s boird of directors approved the repuichase of $ 1.0 bitlion of it ordinary

shares (72015 program™ i which could take place from time we time on the open market twlich couid mclude the use
of J0oh3-1 trading plans ). subject to market and business conditions. The 2008 program has o masonum repurchase
amount of 3¢ of ourstanding shares and a ~tited cuprration date of April 30, 2019

i A of December 31 2008 the company had purdised S629 million ot its ordimary shares pursuaant o the 2018
progrant. leaving an asdditionad $371 million remainmy authosized under the 200X program.,

Oy January 220 2019 the company s board of dwectors approved the repurchase of $6.0 billion of its ordinary shares

(2019 progranmy™y which could take place from time to time on e open market iwhich coold inciude the use of
LObS-1 trading plansj. sabject o market and husiness conditions. The 2016 program has a maximum repurchase
amount of 157 of vutstandmy shares and a stated expiration date of February 10202
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ITEM 6,

SELECTED FINANCTIAL DATA

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
(Dollar amonnzs in millions. except per share diay

The rear enaed Decentber 31, 2018 reflects the results of Praxair for the entire vear and the resulis of Linde AG for the
period begimning atter October 31, 2618 tthe merger date), ncluding the impacts of purchase accounting (See Notes 1. > and
410 the consolidated financial statements). The historicai periods prior 1o 2018 reflect the results of Praxair,

Year Ended December 31, 20 8ia) 20171a) 20k6ia) 201 50at tdia)
From the Consolidated Statements of [ncome
Sules 1490, 11437 10,534 140770 12.27:
Cnar o sales. e closiy o ot deprediation and amornzarion ERI G461 SONET T 935
Selling. gevenid 2nd adonnisae LTy aln =7 [ HIESIES
Drzpeen miiian and stmornzation [ LIsd [ Y i
RusealChand do eiopiuent 1id Y3 BN 1A G
Tranuwton costs ang other charzes SIE w2 i I 131
LT RIS A SRR -- —
Uither e o P - e i 4 -l 2 u

Chperane vt RRC Soddd o4 JoTh 2ol
It e spense - 1wl I I+ iun nl s
Poct penmnonand OUE B ovpobonc b e chinding s ces i) = - o

Pricontie fronr conunt g oferations belore Tncome fase s atnd

Cuufls LA e EenE RI=E N7 R Zojer BT
[RIWRIEN l.i‘-.v\»"‘\HTIlI\H:HlE‘n]\l':\lini':ﬂ T e =59 [ |

o brom o P tatior s Betare cgnily ineestniee 1250 (AN 40 [N U
(YT AP TR NTYT LA PRI T N st 57 I 4l

P e Vet cpbathonn e e

HEOICN O e s I T4k
I L SRVl L R P R P AR PR T H LTI T P R AN TR TRTFEN [ 10 [IRA b= i
R I e TR R PR TR A SR 47 FoAT o T | v
Per Share Data - Linde ple Sharcholders
Toamie curniiags o <fare ot on sy epeation- Y 4 I AR A
Infuted earnines o SN R CanDIRERE OPCLITeO ™ SR ! R o

el e s i - [N BT 2 nh

MWoeighted vveraze Shares Ouestanding (005« 11y
S TR SR FCN TR ES P PR T Tde: N e NTns AR
LHiea slnnes otsiavaliig R SNt NTOTET O nRE ARLSIFETI
Ovher Information and Ruedos
Totial dssets O ANG ndie (R ER ] 1. "o
1ol debt 5. 206 9,00} YA 23 9.n2f
Nerdeht oy 11,530 NANA s0v] RIS UNICE]
Cash Aow from oparadions 0sd REEEN 2.0 SO RICAR
Neetcash provided beoared Porpmesting activitica 3.Am AR B VLT [y 11,803y
Set custi tsed fon fInaneing aeus ives e PRI RARAL 83160, IRREAT
ERITHA O TR } iy INEL
sadiustcd ERIT Dy Vic 4.5 R She RN ERIEN
Capual evpendingres P RN 4ol .54 AR
Shares outstandipg <, 4742 RLUTE BRI ANy 2ma2pl
Numiber o cmpion ces NN Jedn TR AT 2t 3T 2TUTRD
() Amounts for 2018 include; jiy charges of 8209 million (4306 million after-tas. or S0.92 per dijuted share tor

ransaviion costs and other charges primariiy related to the merger. (i) pension settbement charges of $14 million

(ST mithon after-tan. or $0.03 per diluted share) related to lump sum benefit pavments made from pension plans.
(i ncome tay benefin net of S17 million (30035 per dituted sharer due o US. Tax Cuts and Jobs Actand other tax
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after-ian. or S0.66 per Jiluted share), &

mpalts of the mar raillicn after-tzs ond non-contr

Y ‘ D ST per ditured sharer o
ransaction costs related to the merger. (1) a pension settlemen: charge r\r 2 million &1 million after-tay) related 1o
lump sum benetit payments made from an international pension plan. and ‘it inceme tax charges, net of

3394 million ($1.56 per diluted sharer due 1o U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.

Amouns for 2016 include: (1) a $16 nutlion charge o interest expense (S 160 miliion after—tax. or 003 per dilued
share) related 1o the redemption of the $325 million 2.20%s notes due 2017, (1l a pre—tas pension settlement charge
of $4 million +53 million after—tax. or $0.01 per diluted share; related to lump sum benefit paviments made from the
US cupplemental pension plan, and (iiiy pre-tax charges of 896 million (563 mullion after—tan and non—controlling
iterests. or 8022 per difwied sharey primarily related 10 cost reduction actions

Anmounts tor 2005 inctude: 11y a pre-tax charge of S163 million (523 milion atter-tas. or SU43 per dilured <hare)
related 1o the cost reduction program and other charges: and 110y a pre-tas chuarge of %7 millon (55 millon after-tas,
or SO 02 per dihured sharer related 10w pension settlement.

Amaonus for 2014 meluder 1y a pre-tas charge of S131 million t$1 30 millon atter-tax, or %045 per dilured share)
related to the Venczuela curreney devaluanon, g a pre-tan charge of $7 million 025 millien after-tas, or MU02 per
diluted ~harey related 1o penfion settlements; and iy a pre-tax charge of $30 nutlon (522 millon after-toa, o SO 07
per diluted sharey relared to 4 bound redempuon.

See Notes 30405 7015 and Iy o the consalidated fmancial statements,

As o resell of the merger, shure amounts for the vear ended December 310 200X jeflect the weighted i eraging ciled
ef P shares outstanding priog w Octeber 31, 2018 and Linde shares cutstanding fronn October 310 201
througeh December 31, 200%

Non-Co VAP ieastires See the “Non-G AAD Financial Megsures” section in Hem 7 for definttions and seconedintion
to reported amounts Net debr as presented i the tible abosv e iz caleulated as ot debt Jess cashound vash
ciy atenis



FEEM T, MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSES OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

lowving discussion of the compans s financial condition and vesults of operations should be rend v oether withs

s Forim H-R

Page
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Business Over rew oy
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C ontrayiual Obligetions 49
Off-Balance Shect Arrangements an
Critica! Accounting Policres 30
New vecounting Standiards <1
Fan NVadue Neasuremenits 4
Meon-CoA AT Fnnneial Measures 53

VIERGER OF PRANAIR INC AND LINDE 1

Ol October 202008 Prasar and 1 inde AG combmed thevr respective busmesses through m wli-stock sransaction, and
boecanme subsidiaries of' L mde reollectiveh reterred 1o as the “husiness combination™ or “merger™ Prior oothe busmess
cornhination. the company did not conduct any busimess acnvaties ather than those required for it tormation and manees
cotteniplated by the business combmaiton agreement. Pravae was determined to be the accounting sequirer tor the mereer,
Severdmiglve the historieal ianeiel stateiments of Prsair Tor the periods prier o the mierger are conasbderad teiwe the
hictorical financud statements of Dinde, The results of Finde AG are meluded in Linde™s consolidazed resylts from ihe micrea
dute torsands The Dinde shares trade on the New York Stock Bxehange and the brank it Stock Exchaonge under (e ticker
sanibod THINT See Notes T and 5o the conselidated financiad starements tor sddiional information.

I connection with the business combinanion. the company. Prasarr and Linde ACL entercd Imeosarous aereenwnts
with regrdatory awthorities 1 satisfy anti-trast requirements 1o secure approval to consammite the busimess combination,
These ayrecmients reguired the sale ol the majorty of Prasatr s Furapean businesses completed on Decomber 3201080 the
oty of Linde VGO America’s business qecompleted on Mareh b 2009 as well as certain divestitures of other Prasarn

and 1inde NG bustinesses 10 Asia that are expected o be seld i 2019 ceollectin ey . the “mcrger-related divestitures™y I the
consolidated financiad stiwements, Prasair’s inevger-related divestitures are included in the resudis of operations until ~old
Linde AGTS merger-relared divestitures are acceunted for ax discontinued operarions. See Noes Jand 23 1o the consoliduted

financial statements for additional information relating to merger-related divestitures.

Additionalive to obtain merger approval in the United States Linde. Praxair and Linde AG entered inte an agreement
with the U.S. Federal Trade Commission dated October 1. 2018 (hold separate order™ or “HSO™). Under the HSO. the
company. Praxair and Linde AG agreed to continue to operate Linde AG and Praxair as independent. ongoing. economically
yiabie, competitive businesses held separate. distinet. and apart from each other’s operations: and not coordinate any aspect
of thelr operations umit certaim div estitures in the Uinited States were completed. Accordinghv. 1inde has accounted for Linde
Al as g separate segment for 2008 reporting purposes ettective with the merger date, Prior to the merger date. the
compam s Finde AG seament did not exast. Since the FTC hold separate order restrictions were lifted effective Murch 1.
2019 the company subsequently implemented a new operating s¢gment structure as follows: Americas: FNEA (Furope
Middie East Africar APAC tAsia Pacifics. Engineering and Other. This new management structure will be used for 2009
reporting and camparative prior pericd information will be presented on a consistent basis,

B!



BUSINESS OVERVIETYH

Wath the miers

CLingde 1 the Iud :’ rdusirial gas company worldwide, The company ‘s prima!'}' produocis m s
‘ <qid
voals dwwm enginzers. and builds equipment

Giovarhenn dio

helfnnt hvdrogen.

that produces industiial guses 1% oowide range of gas pro*‘uc"i(m and
processing services such as olefin plants. natural gas plams. air separaten plants, bydrogen and synthesis gas plams and other
rvpes of plants, The company's surface techneologies segment supplies wear-resistant and high-tewnperature corrosion-

resistant metallic and ceramic coatings and powders.

Linde s indusinal g

s operations are mansged of & geographical basis and in 2018, 7Y of sales were venerated b
Prarair's four geographic segments (North America. Europe. South America. and Asial. and since the merger date, the Linde
AC segment generated 19 of consolidated sales. The surface echnologies segment generated the remaming 3% of sales,

Linde serves a dr erse group of industrics including healtheare. petroleuny refining. manufaciuring, food. beverave
curbonation. fiber-opiies, el making. aerospace. chemicals and water weunment. The diversity of end-murkets ~upports
tnancial stability tor Linde in varned business cieles,

Linde generates mvst of 1t revenoes and earnings 11 the following geographics where the company his its strongest
marhet positions and where distribution and production operations allow the company b deliver the highest fevel of servce
Lo s Customiers ot the hineest cost

North and Sowth Smerica  Americas™s Lurope, Aliddle Fast and Atrics EMILA™ Asiaand Pacific (= AP C
o L inited stuies S E’_re-m_ml-i_\__\__ H ¢ hina B
Canada Lnited Kingdow Tndia
NMevive Seandinavia Svouth Korea
firaxil Lepublic of South Aned? Antsiralie New Aealand®

Tamwn

SOk w e fapae NOomer2yg

Fhe compan soanutactares and distobotes s produocts throagh nelw orks of thousands of production plams. pipehne
compleses. distribunon centers and delivery velncles Major pipeline compleses are primarily bocated o the U oted States
Phose networks are o competithve adsvantage. providing the Toundagon ot rehable product supply o the compuns s custoier
base. The madority of inde's business v conducted through fong-term contracts which provide stability in cash flow and the
abiby 1o pass throagl Chanees i enerey and fecdstock costs o customers, The company has wrowth opportuniticos in all
major geoeraphies wd i diverse end-markers such as eneray s clectromuos, chemieals, metals, healtheare, Tood and beverage

SRR RN TN

[
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FXECUTHE SUASAMARY - FINANCIAL RESULTS & UTLOOK
2018 Year in review

On October 31, 2018 Praxalr and Linde A6 combined their ras
transaction. and became subsidiaries of Linde ple. The vear ended December 21, 2018 reflects the results of Praxair for the
entire vear and the results of Linde AG for the pertod beginning after October 31, 201X,

eCtive businesses through an all-stock merger

= Sales of ST4.900 million were 30% above 2017 sales of $11.437 million. primarily driven by the merger with
Linde AG that contributed 24%0 to sales. net of dnv estitures. Underlving sales increased 6% driven by vohime
growth primarify in North America and Asia, including new project start-ups. and higher price.

*  Reported operanng profit of $3.247 million was 115% above 2017, Adjusted operating profit of $2.976 million
was 9% above adjusted operating profit in 2017, Adjusied operating profit growth was driven by higher volumes
and price aeross the geographic segments and the impact of the merger.®

«  Income from continuing operations of 54273 million and dilured carnings per share from continuing operations
of S12.79 inereased from »1.24% million and 84,32, respectively in 2017, Adpusted income from continuing
eperations of 52,12 nullion and adjusted diluted carnings per share from continuing operanions of $6.33 wore
2etand Y respectively above 2007 adjusted amount< F

By

< Cash How Jront operations was 33654 millions or 2370 of sales Capiral expenditures were $ 1883 million:
dividends paid were S Too nuilion: and debt repavments. net were S2.90% million

sk on and at December 310200 wus w00 nudlion versus %617 midlion ar December 31 2007, This increase
i~ prumarids o result of the stoch only merger with |inde AG and proceeds from the sale of Praxair’s European
industral gases business. The cash s available tor Corporate uses, including among others the planned
syueese-eiit oF e 80 e AG noncontroliing inferests and sonck buvbacks.

A reeonctiition of the Adposted amounts can be found i the “Non-GAAP Financrd NMesuwies” section in this
NP S See Notes o4 AT and TN e the consobdated Nnanceat statemens

2019 Ouriooh

The company < husiiess 1~ o butld, ownand eperate indosteml vas piants in order o suppls atmospheric snd process
vases o customers. As such, Linde believes that its sale of cas project backlog is one indicaror of funire sades gros th, A
December A1 2008 Dande™s backloe of Turge projects under canstructiom was 53,3 billion. This represents the total estimated
capital cost of larae plants under construction. APAC and Amcericas represent A9 percent and 42 pereent ot the backlog,
respectively . with the remaining backlog m UATE A These plants wili primarib suppls costonners in the energs . chemical,

And clectromes end-markets,
The abvne purdanee shoudd be read i conjunetion with the seonen entitled “Forward-1 ookimg Statements.”

{inde provides gquarterts updires on operating resufts, material trend~ that may affoct Tinanctal performanee. and
tinancial guidance via eanings releases and imvestor eleconterences. These materials are available en the company's
websitel https www Jinde.com eninvestors bt are not inverporated herein,




CONSOLIDATED RESULTS AND OTHER INFORMATION
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The foliowing tuble provides selected data for 2018, 2017, and 2016:
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tBellar amonnrs in millions, excepr per shase dany
Year Ended December 31,

Reported Amonnts
Sales

Cast of sales. exclusive
and amortization

of depreciation

Gross margin ta)
Az apercent of sales
Selling. general and administrative
Ax a percent of sales
Deprectation and amortization
Transacuen costs and other charges (b)
Net pain on sale of businesses (b
Other income (expense) — neat
Operatintg Protit
Operatmg Nrgin
Interest expense - et
Net pension and OPEBR costthenetion exvluding
SETVIUe CORt
Etfectise tan rate
Incomnie {from equity imvestments
Nonwontrolling interests from continiing aperiinn-
fneciie rem contiputng operations
DYilitted camiings per shire Irome contisuing
operations
Diluted =hares cutstunding (o
“umber of cinployees
Adjusted Amonnts (¢)
Operating profin
Operating margin
Interest expense  not
Net preniston and OPLR cont thepern eveluding
SErVICe Ut
Eifective tax rate
Nancantroliing mterests {rom continuing operations
Income from continuing operations
Dituted carnings per share from continuing
apearations
Other Financial Dara (¢)
EBITDA
ERTTD A NMargin
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA Margin

(aj

Variance

20338 2017y 2uieed) 2018 ve. 2017 2017 vs. 2016
SooMdean b 1137 S 10534 3t 9 1,
A Fh S 646l s 41 “a 10 2
$  38l6 4976 ) 17 24 6 Y
39,00, 4350

) 1.629 ) 1.20G7 N 359 3 0y
16,94 16",

b N30 L) 1184 > 350, 6
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Gross margin exelodes deprectation and amortiization expense.




y See hetes £ and < nthe comsolidered miandsi. ESIEns,
fo As aresult of the merger. <hare amounts ror the vear ended Do

ol Praxair shares oyraanding paive rooQorehor a0 2005 ang L

tdh Prior period intormation has been reclassitied to conform with curreni venr presemation as a result of the adoprion
of new avcounting guidance on the presentation of net period pension and postretirement benetlt costs, See Note 2
to the consolidated financial statements.

it ASdjusted amounts and other financiai data are non-GAAP performance measures, A revenciliation f reportad
amounts to adjusted amounts can be found in the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section ot this MBD& AL See
Notes 304 5 T3 and 18 (o the conselidated financial statements,

Results of Operations

Ihe following wble provides a summany of chianges in cornsohdated saler and adiusted operating profiv

008 vs 08T 2087 48, 2000
"o hange "o Change
Sales Operuting Profit Sates Operating Profit

Factors Contributing ty Changes
\oolume 4 Rt R S
Price Ny Y Yot [ 2y,
Cost pass-through (Y T 2 v
Correncs i [ P
Accusitions Divestituges

Luropo dive s s il . _ -

Nt wadt e safe o Brsingesses — . il —

Hinde 10 —eveluding prrd e wccomning R Jit B “

Feorc s wocotoniiin Dmpacis - Linde 10 - e, L
Other R AT - M V3
Roported RIS [ el o Gty
Transuction costs and other charges - T St {20
Net gin oft side of husingsses S ARRECE o
Porchase accountig tmpacts — 1 inde Y4 T RAYELS - "
Adjusted Ay ju G =,

The foliowing rables provide consobidated sales by end-market and distribution method:



“oof ales "o Change™

2018 MO 2610 2018 s, 2017 2017 vs, 2016

Sales by End-Markets

Manufacturing 22 235 S e 4+
Metals ™ I [ Ty T
Energy 1% 127 12 6% g
Chemicals 1Y " 10% 14 %o 9l
Electronics 9 97 Y04 N 13
Healthcare R A S0 6y 4%
Food & Beverage an, ao, gu, 7 0, <oy
Aerospace 4v, R 3 14 "y i
Chther g, e H (1)ee 20,

100" ¢ 100v g F00%%

Percentiee of sales mtormestion evo lides Linde v P

B T Ly T YT IN YN o] aR T PONCE DLl Sie procious elils o e s -

vamd wedquistions doestiruress sacluding the ingpact ol ahe Blode S0 merga, Sec Likde S0 segiienl discussion

o of Sales*

R 017 LT
Sales by Distribution Method
Or-She NG e, S,
Nerchant RER 34y 350,
Packaged Cras A, 2T 2Nt
Other Y A BNI
RIS o, 1o,

h

SSve Noe 2 e e connhidited iz ] staienaenis

2018 Compared With 201~

sales inercased 207010 STH900 million 1 2018 compared o STHART natlion m 2017 primarils rellecting the merger
with Linde AG which contributed 247 to sales, net of divestituees, T nderiving sales increased oo diven by higher volanies
and pricing. NV elume growdh ot 400 was driven by higher volumes o Norh Americe and Wwaa inchuding new projet
start-ups. Higher overall pricing across all geographic segments contributed 2% o sidess Cutreney ranstation impat
decreased xaies by 170 Higher cost pass-through. primarity natural gas. increised safes by 170 with minimal impact on
operating protit. The divesuture of Pranair’s Eurepean businesses in December of HH S decreased sales by 9,

Gross margin inereased 58340 million. or 7% versas 2017 primarily due to the merger. Gross margin as a percentage
of sales declined to 39.0%q in 2018 from 43.3%0 i1 2017 and was negatively impacted by a $368 million charge for the fair
vabue step-up of ity entories acguired in the merger. Excloding this charge. gross margin in 2018 was 41,59,

Selling. general and administrative (7SG& AT expenses increased S422 miliion. or 33%. in 2018 10 S1.629 million
primarily due to the merger, SG&A was 10.9% 0 of sales In 2018 versus 100" in 2017 primarily due o the merger.

Depreciation and amortization expense incretsed So46 million. or 33" versus 20017 The increase 1= primariiy due o
the merger. imcluding $346 million of purchase accounting impacts reluted o ihe fair value of fixed assets and miangible
assets acquired in the merger.

primarily related to the merger. See Note 5 to the consolidared financial statements.

Transaction costs and other charges were S309 million and $52 miltion in 2018 and 2017, respecrively and are

et gain on the sale of businesses was $3.294 million and relared primarily o the div estitire of Praxair's European
mdustrial gases busimess i connection with the nerger. See Note 4 1o the conselidated financial statements.

N
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Oliel mnoome reupenses — netin 201N was e S e

Sonetit o ersus a v4 nulbon Fenelltm 20,

dated financial statements for o summar of magor companentsy. In North Americe, 200 s ncluaed o S >omnilion assar
sanallion of

wtcharge cafns o asset disposals In Asin 207 mcladad a

which was more than offeer by S5

Jowaliom fesatimpairment charge. offact b & IRiZation setlemisnt cam,
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Repord op ) 1
cf 2.4 miatlion in 20170 2018 includes o net gain on sale of businesses vaS 294 nnllmu p wtially lﬂ‘f\'“l ‘v\ FansaCten
custs and ather charges of S30Y million. and purchase accounting impacts of %
rzee Notes 4. 3 and 3. respectivels. 1o the consolidated financial statermentsy. 2017 included transaction cosis of %32 mlllfon
raee Note £ the consolidated finaneial starements. Excluding the impact of these ttems. adjusted vperating profit of
~2.970 million v 2013 was S4%0 mitllion. or 199, higher than adjusted operating profit of $2.496 malliom i 2017 driven
primariiv by the merger. Higher volumes and prive in the geographic sezments and surtace technologies also contributed o
operating profic growth. A discussion of aperating profit by segment 15 mcluded in the segment discussion that follows,

-y

Reported inerest expense — net i 2015 increased $41 muallan, or 23%e, versus 20617 2008 included charges of
26 milhon relatng to the carly redempuon of notes and a decrease of 21 million related 1o purchase aceounting impucts
related W the fair vafue of debr acquired in the merger 1see Notes 13 and 3 1o the consolidated financial statements.

S
0

respectiveiy ) Excluding these impacts. adpsted mterest eapense of 197 million ineredsed S3C mallion, or 22

atrributabie te mterest on the debt acquired m the merger and lower capitahized interest See Note Yo the cotsolidiated
Granciad statements Tor further infornmaten relating o interest ¢y pense,

The repored effeetive ay rare CFTR™ o 2008 wos be 2% versus 490 0 2017 The devrease 1o the ETR fiw the
ZOIS period versus the LS statutory tate of 2170 was pomarily due 1o the simpact of 1he sale of Pricanr™s Lurepean industrial
sases business. The merease in the ETR for the 2017 period versus the LS, s@iutory rate of 55 ¢ was primarthy due to the
net B394 milhon charge related to the Tax Act Excluding these and other smaller nmpacts as et torth in the "™~Non-G: A AP
finanvial measures” section of this MD& S on an adjusted basis the B TR for the 200 and 2007 periods was 2350 and

R T

272 respectively s The decreuse was deven prinarily by ihe rmpm of the Tay Act enacted mthe tourth quarte: of 201
Wil bvwered the ©oss statutory s rate Trony 3770 in 2007t 210 in 2008 e Note 7o the consolidated Binanaid

STl i~ §

Dimde ™~ cguty s estments are preamaei iy ovated m the U nited Stares, Chane, and e Mucidle Lase Fauing ineome
inereascd S9 milhonom 2008 versas 2007 and ictoded charges ot Y mithion for purchase accounting Enpacts velated o the
L salue step up ol equily investments avquired m the mereer. Dyciudig this impact. equity meoiie mergased S8 miliion.
primarils dreisen by omncome from equaty i estments acqured in the merger.

A December Y1 2005 reported noncontroliing imterests from continuing opetations consisted primants ot
noncontrelling sharehaolders” imvestments i Asia cprimarts in Chinar and surthee rechnolomies Reported nomcontralling
HHCTes s TronT continiing operations decteased $46 milhon wos 13 pallion i 2008 from Sa b mibhonom 2007 2ol meludes
the mpact of the merger and related purchase accountng mpacts, Excludinge these impacts. adjosted poncontrotimge nmerests
front continuing operations of 873l hon imereased S 12 noilions o 200 promandy due 1o toncontrething merests i\LEllI‘LLi
in the merger.

‘IJ

Reported income from continuing operations for 2018 wis $4.273 million, $3.026 milbon. or 243%. higher than
reported income from continuing operations of $1.247 million in 2017 Adjusted income from cnm'inumg operations of
L2021 miltion w2018 was %431 million, oy 26"a higher than adjusted income from contmuing operations of % L6920 million

in 2017 primarily due to higher adjusred operating profit and a lower effective tax rate.

Repm’tcd diluted (_‘"li'ﬂi]lC‘S pet share from continuing operations ("EPS™) of $12.79 in 20} & increased S5.47 per diluted
share, ot 1960 from $4.22 10 2017, Adjusted diluted EPS of $6.35 in 2018 increased SO.50 per diluted share. or 8% from
adpuste d diltited EPS of 8353 10 2017, The increase in adiusted diluted EPS was primarily due e the merger and hivher
adjusted income front contmuing nper;‘nicms-. partiaily oftset by anncrease o difured shares resulung fromm equity aequired

in the merger.

Other comprehensive losses for the veur ended December 31 200 of S299 million resafted primartdy from (i a
<2201 mitlion unfay orable impact in the funded status of Linde '~ retirement obligations and tin adverse currency manslation
adiustments of S76 million. net of a benetit ot S318 million related o the release of curreney ranslation adwstments on
Drusair' European business (See Note 4 1o ihe consalidated financisl statementsy, The decrease in the funded status of
retirement oblizations was primarily the result of higher current vear actuarial Tosses. as the impact of higher LS. discount
rates was largely offser by a lower actual return on assets. Untin orable transiation adjustments reflect the impact of
ranslatng iocal curTency foreign subsidiary financial staiements into U.S. dollars. and are largely driven by the
strengtheny of the LS dallar ngains major correncies including the Euro, Brazihian real and Canadiar dailar

24



Lrfuvorable comency ransladen adjosiments included S343 mitlion m South Amierica and $149 milien in Asio.
partizlly wilset by favorable currencs translation adjustments of 3231 million relared to Linde AG (primarily Euarope and
Asias representing transistion impacts {or ihe period from merger date through December 31, 2015, Remaining other
comprehensi e lowses of
foszes ont anvarlable tor <ale securites. Refer to the Currency section of the MD&A and Notes 9 and 18 w the consohidated
linancial statements.

12 miithion relate wihe amornzation of deferred losses on the company’s derivatiy o and unrealized

The number of emplovees at December 31, 2018 was 80.820. an increase of 34,339 emplovees from December 21,
2017 primarity driven by an increase of approximately 56,0040 related to the merger partially offser by a decrease of
approximatels 2500 mrom the divesiture of Praxair’s European industrial gases business,

Other Financial Dara

Farnings betore mierest taxes depreciation and amartization ("EBITDA™ increased $3. 458 millien to %7133 million in
J0iR from S3675 million in 2017 EBITDA in 200X includes a gain on sale of businesses and purchase accounting impacrs.
and both periods imclude transaction and other costs. Excluding the impacts of these items. adjusied EBITDA increased
7RG mithon o 84500 milfion i 2015 from $3.727% million in 2617 driven by the consolidation of Linde AG starting
October 31 2005 and higher adjusted income frome continuing operations plus depreciation and amortization yersus the prior

gt

See e UNon-GAAT Dinancial Meusures” secton for detinitions and reconcilintion of these nom-Gr A AP mieasties to

reported oy,
2817 Compared Wit 2016

Sales inereased ¥ to SELAST mitlien in 2007 compared o 310,534 million in 2016, Fxcluding tan arable correncs

A

ranstaiion ol 170 and higher cost pass-through, primarily natural gasowhich iereased sales by 2% sades growth was o

Vohone grewih of 3w desen iy Bighen volumes o Sorth Ameriva, Dorope and Axias incduding mew project start-upe.

atiet wross th an ofl cad-markats. Higher price inereased sades by e,

Crvoss mharg i e huased <287 mithons o 850 v ersies 28 epemumy doe o biehier des Gress nnenn seog perceniio e
oAt des dectmed o 430y 20T forn A4 A i 20006 Targels driven by the contractial pass-throagh of Bisher noataral e

con s To JHSTomners,

Seflime, general and adimistrative expeirses mctesed So2 mithion or 30 in 2007 10 %1207 muillion. and decrensad 1o
Hoa e of safes versis Huvta ol sales for 20Te Currency anpacts inereised SG&A by ST million, Lscluding currencs
impacts SOS A iercased M millon drcen by higher incentive compensation, sequisiions and cost it lation partialls

cllset by cost reduction actions,

Deprecintion and wornization expetise indeasad Se2 million yersus 2006 Curreney impacts increased deprecinion
and amertizion espense by ST unlhon, Fxciuding carrency impacts. depreciation und amortization expense mereised

ST martions or Ao pomarily due to Lavge project st ups aid acquisitions,

Puring the year ended December 3102007 Linde recorded transaction costs and other churges of S32 wHion primarily
related to the merger, During the vear ended December 31, 2016, Linde recorded charges of $96 million relared primarily to
a cost reduction program. (Refer to Note S 1o the consolidated financial statements.)

Other income (expensest -~ net m 2017 was a 54 muflion benefit versus a $23 million benetit in 2016 (sec Note 9 to the

consolidated financial statements for a summany of major components). Other income 1 2016 i largelyv related to net zaing

onasset soles,

Reported operating profit of S2-444 million i 2007 was $197 mitlion. or 94 higher than reported operating profit of
S22 mibion in 2000, 2017 eloded transaction vosts of S52 mitlion, 2016 meluded eharges ot S96 mithon refaed (o cost
reduction actiona. Refer o Note 5 of the consolidated tinanctal statements for a further discussion of these irems, Fxcluding
e impact of these items, adjusted operating profit ot $2.496 miftion in 2017 was $133 million. or 7 higher than adiusted
operating profit of 25343 mithon i 2006 driven by higher yolumes and price. A discussion of operating profit by segment is
cluded in the segment discusson that follows,

Reported interest expense - net in 2017 decreased 829 million. or 15%0 versus 2016, 2016 included charges of
S0 milhon refaring 1o the earls redemption of notes tsee Note {3 to the consalidated financial statements). Excluding this



1

mmé:f crpense decreased v

nillion or TP largaly atributable o overall levwer net debu See Naote w0

ants ‘rx;u'iurrhc information refating (o interest expense.

The reported effective 1ax rate for 2017 was 4490 versus 209 in 26076, The ETR for the 2017 period included a et
204 mitlion tas charge related o the Tan Actand a S5 million tax benefit related to transaction costs and a peasion
semtlement fsee Note 3 and Nore T o the consolidared financial statementsh. The ETR for the 2016 period includes a
S35 million tax benefit related o a pension settlement. bond redemprion and cost reduction program and other charges (see

Note 13 and Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements). Excluding these impacts. on an adjusted basis the ETR for the
2017 and 2016 periods was relatively flat at 27.2%0 and 27.1%.. respectively

Linde's equity investments gre primarthy focated in the Umited States, China, [taly. and the Middle East. Equin income
increased S6 million mn 2017

At December 2. 2017, reported noncontroiling interests consisted primarihy of noncontrolling shareholders’
investments 1 Asia (primarils in China). Earope (primarily in Jtalvi. and surface 1echnologies. Reported noncontrolling
imierests Inereased 23 millien 10 861 mulhon in 2017 from $3% million in 20] 6. Reported noncontrelling interests fur the
vedt ended December 310 2016 included a reduction of $3 mullion related to o cost reduction program. The remaiming
iherense wis driven by PG Technologies. LLC "PGT 71 o surtace technelogies joint venture with GE Aviation formed in the
fourth guarter of 2070 isee Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements).

Reporied imcome fronn continuing operations 11 2017 was $1.247 million. or $233 milhon fower than $1.500 mithen 1n
2000 Adjosted income from continuving operations of $ L6690 million in 2017 was 14 milhon. or 70 higher than
13T million in 2016 Adpsted income from continuing operations increased primaniy due to igher adjusted operating
protitand lower adiusted mterest expense - net.

Repurted diluted carnings per share from continuing operations ot $34.32 1n 2017 decreased $0.89 per diluted share. or
L7 from S3.21 4 2016, The decrease included a $1.36 net imcome 1ax charge related to the Tax Actand a 50017 charge
reluted 1o transaction costs and otdier charges (see Note 7 and Note 5 1o the comsolidated financial statements ). Adjusted
iluted £PS frony continaing operutions of 3585 1 2017 mergised SO37 per diluted shave, or 79, from adpested dilated £EPs
for eontinuing operations of S5 480 2016, The increase 0 adjusted dituted EPS was primaanily due 1o higher adjusted
M PO CONLIMIRL OPCrations.,

Other comprehensive meome for the vear ended December 31020107 of $336 million inchades fuy orable currencs
translaton adjustments of $323 mhon and an ST mithion favorable impact in the funded status of retirement obhigatuons.
The tavorable ranslation adjustments retlect the impact of ransiating local currency foreign subsidiary financial statements
mto LS dedlaes, and are Targely driven by the weahening of the ULS. dollar against the Canadian dollar. Edaro, and karean
won Favorable curreney ranslation adjustments meheded 5232 million in Asia, 51535 mitlion in North America and
s10tomihion in Furape partiadly offset by uofas orable currencs trunshation adjestments of 535 milhon in South Amenca [The
merease 10 the tunded status of retirement oblizations was primarils the result ot low er current yvear actuarial losses, as the
impact of dower LS discount rates was largels offset by a higher actual return on aasels Refer tothe Currency seciion ot the
MDA und Notes 9 and |8 to the consolidated financial statements.

The number of employvees at December 31, 2017 was 26,461 a decrease of 37 emplovees from December 3], 2o,
This decrease primarily reflects the impact of cost reduction programs implemented during the previous vear.
Other Financial Dara

EBITDA increased $265 million to $3.675 million in 2017 trom $3.410 million in 2016, Adjusted EBITDA increased

S22 mithon 1o S3.727 million i 2017 from S3.506 million in 2016 driven by higher adjusted income from continuing
operations plus depreciation and amortization versus the prior vear,

See the "Non-GAAP Financial Measures™ section for definitions and reconcibiation of these non-GAAP measures 1o
I't"pOl'It:‘LI QIO



Relared Party Transactions
are primsanly unconsolidated equits aftilintes. The company did not engage in am

it inciuded tenis or other agpects that differ from those which would ke

The compamy’s related pariic

N Fpalties

MIaleIle

negotiated vt indsy
Environmental Marters

Linde’s principal operanons relate to the production and distribution of atmospheric and other indusirial gases, which
historicalls have not had a significant impact on the environment. However. worldwide costs relating to environmental
protection may continue o zrow due o increasmaely stringent laws and regulations. and Linde's ongoing conmitment 1o
vigorous intetnal standards. Tn addinon. Linde may face physical risks from vlimate change and extreme weather,

Climare Change

Linde eperates in jurisdicitons 1har have. or are developing, Jaw < and’or regulations to reduce or mitigate the perceived
adverse eftects of greenhotise gas ("GHG™ emissions and faves a highly uncertain regulatory enyironment in this area. For
exampie. the U S, Envionmental Protection Agency ("EPA™y has promulenied rales requiring reporting of GHG emissions,
and Linde and mary ot s suppliers und customers are subject to these rules, EPA has also promulzated regulanions to restrict
GHG emisslons. inciuding final rules resalatmyg OHG emissions from hghi-duny vebicles und certam larze manufacruring
faciluies many of which are Linde suppliers or customers, [ addinon to these developments in the United States. GHGs are
recutated i the European Uneont under the Emissions Trading Sy stem. which has wide implications for the company’s
customiers and may impact certain operations o Linde in Furope. There are also requirements for mandastorsy reporting in
Carta, wieh upply o certain Linde operutions and will be used 1n developing cap-and-rrade regulations on GHG
emiissions. These regalations are capected 1o impact certain Linde facdities in Canada, Climate change and energy eftficicne
Jaw = and pobicies are also being widely mtroduced in jurisdictions throughout Seath America. Mexico and parts of Asia.
China Tas announced plans wo lunch @ national carhon emissions rading sverem. though it does not appear the regulations
will hanve w direct mipact on CIHGcemissions from Linde faailives, Among other imguicts. sucl regulations are expected to

rse the vosts ot eneres, sohich o sgmiticant cost for Linde, Nevertheless, Linde s lang-terin customer contraets routing iy

prostde rrohis te tecoven mcezewd clevtriciny matgeal vas and other costs that are incuered by e company as oovesubi o
U toare Change regalation.

Finde unorcipates contmuoed grow it hvdrogen business. as hvdrogen s essential to retineries that use it remen e
suliun from transportation tuels n order to meet ambient air qualits standards 1o the U nited States and tfuel stndard< i ather
regions, Hyvdroeen production piants and o Targe number of other manutacturing and electricin-generating plants hayve been
identificd in Cabitormiu et the Lurepean Union as o source of carbon dioside ermssions and these plants are subject 1o
cap=nnd-trade regnlarions mothose purisdictions, Tinde believes ie will be able to mitigate the costs of these regulutions
thraugh the terms of s product sapply contracts Howeser fegislation that fimits CHO entissions mas impact grosth by

ncreasing capitul, complnmoe, operating and mamtenance costs and or decreasing demand.

Tormunege busimess risk~ from current wd potential GHG enssgon regudanion gs well ds physical consequences ot
climmate change. Linde actnvels menitors carrent des clopmients, ey aluates the direct and indirect business risks. and takes
appropriate actions. Ameny others. actions include: increasimg relevant resourees and training: maimaining contingeney
plans obtaining advice and counsel from expert vendors. insurance providers and industry experts; incorporating GHG
provisiens In commercial agreements: and conducting regular reviews of the business risks with management. Although
there are considerable uncertainties. Linde believes that the business rish from patential regulations can be effectively
managaed through its commercial contracts, Additionally . Linde does not anticipate any material ettects regarding its plam
operations or business arising fram potential physical risks of climate change.

Linde continuoushy sech~ opporiunities o optimize its own energy use and GHG foorprint through rigorous energy
cfficiency. investment i renessabic enerey . and purchasing hvdrogen as a chemical bypraduet where feasible, Linde
maintains related performance improyvement targets and reports progress against these targets regularls o business
management and snnuadly o Lande’s Board of Directors.

At the same tme. Dinde may benpefit frony business opporiunities ansing from governmenial regulatiom of GHG and
other emissions: uncertion costs of energy and certain natural resources: the development of renewable eperygy alternatives:
and new technologies that help oxaract natural gas. improve air quality, increase energy efficiency and mitigate the impacts of
clinare change, Linde vontinges 1o des elop new applications that can iower emissions, meluding GHG emissions, in Linde's

‘g
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Conix Relating o the Proteciion of the Environiment

Environmental protection costs in 2018 were not significant. Linde antictpates that future annuai environmental
protection expenditures will be similar o 2075, subject to any significant changes in existing laws and regulations, Based un
historieal results and cutrent estimates. management does not believe that emvironmental expenditures witl have a material
adverse effect on the consolidated finuncial position. the consolidated results of operations or cash flows in any given vear.

Legal Proceeding

See Norz 1Y e the consolidated fimancial stements Loy mfornudion concerning legal proceedings.
Retirement Benefirs
Fessions

The tet periodic benefit coar bon the Loy, and Internationial pension plans was $24 million iy 2018, 958 million in 2017
and 31 nmudlon in 20Te, The net periodie pelston cost for 205 mcludes @ benefic of $44 million related 1o gains on
settlements trigoerad gs part of the Praovr Lurapean business divestiiure and recognized on the Net gain on sale of
rered by change i conteol or
lion and $4 miflien.

businesses hine, This abso mludes settlement churges related o lump s payvments te.g., trig
normal retirements b of ST milhon in 2018 settiement charges for 2017 aud 2016 were $2 mil

respeciieln

The tunded status tponsion benefin abhivaton C'PBO7 Jess the Tur value of plan assets) for the TS plans was a deficn
ol 5356 milhon as of December 310 2008 versus andeficit of s3atbmilhon at Decentber 310 2017 Actuarial gains on fay orable
liabthy evpertence that arose doring the cirrent vew related primarihy 1o Kigher discount rates and were Targeds ollTset by a
Tonver returit on assets. The Tunded status o pension benefit ebligation CTPBO™) Tess the fair value of plan assetsy fur
mternationad plans was wdetion o w2240 midhon as of December 310 2008 sersus o deficit o SIS mitlion at December 31,
20070 The detteit s primarily dee o the Bisde Mormerger. Linde” AGT major mternational pension arrangements are in the
United Kingdom and Germany,

Global pension contbunions were S8 milhon i 2008 %1% milhion m 2607 and ST mullhon in 20060 At a mimimum,
Linde vontmbutes o its penston plans te compls soith locat regalaton requirements fe.g FRISA inihe United States),
Discretionars contributions i excess ot the local minimuany requinements are miade based on many factorss ineludimg longe-
tern projection- of the plans” funded ~twuss the ceonomiie ey iromment. potental risk of oy erfunding. pension msurance
costs and alternative uses of cast Chunoes 1o these tactors can impact the rming of diseretionars contribotions from vear to
vear., artmated requuted contributions for 2070 are currently expected 10 be mthe range of $95 mithion o S0 million

I inde assumes espected retarms on plan assets for 2009 of 73000 and 5.00" for the U.S. and mternational plans,
respectively s which are consistent with the Tong-term expected return on its investment portfolio.

Excluding the impact of any settlements. 2019 consohidated pension expense s expected to be $6 million.
Posirerivement Benefiis Other Than Ponsivais 1 "OPEBR ™)

The net periodic benefit cost for OPER plans was a %4 nulhion costin 2018, a $13 million benefit in 2017 and a
SEmilien cost i 200 e, 2007 includes g curaibment gain ona South Amertcan OPEB plan of 18 million.

In 20019, consohidated net periodic benetit costs for the OPEB plans is expected 10 be approvimately $35 million.

Reter to the Critical Accounting Policies section and Note [N 1o the consolidated fingncial statements tor a muore
detailed discussion of the company’s retirement henefits, including a deseription of the varous retirement plans and the
assumptions used in the cailculation of net periodic benefit cost and funded status.

Trsurance

Linde purchases insurance 10 limit a variets of properny and casuwuliy risks. inciuding those related to property, business
mterruption. third-pirty habiliny and workers” compensation. Currently. the company self-retains up to $35 mitlion per
occwrence for workers” compensation, generai and vehicle tiabiling 1 the United States and rewans up o 53 million per

s
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occurrence al ity various properties worldwide, Te mitigate itz acrezate hess potential above these retentions. the company

purchases insurance coverage from highly rated insurance companies. The company does noi currently operate or participate
in any captive Insurance companies or other non-traditional risk trapster alrernatives.

At December 31, 2015 and 2017, the compuany had recorded o total of 300 mitlion snd $35 miflion, respectively.
representing an estimate of the rerained Liability for the ultimare cost of vlaims incwred and unpatd as of the balance sheet
dates. The estimated liabilitv 1s cstablished using statistical analvsis and s based upon historical experience. actuarial
assumptions and professional judgment. These estitnares are subject to the effects of trends in loss severity and frequency and
are subject to a significant degree of inherent variabilitv, If actual claims differ from the company’s estimates. they will be
adjusted ar that time and financial results could be impacred.

Linde recognizes estimated insurance proceeds refating 1o damages at the ume of loss onlv to the extent of incurred
losses. Any insurance recoveries for business interruption and for property damages in excess of the net book value of the
praperty are recognized only when realized or pending pay mients confirmed by it fnsurance companies.



SEGMENT DISCUSSION

Through Getober 31 261 s the company’s o
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been determnuned oo 2 peosraphic basis of segmentaticy . N
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407 Linde AG became a separate sixth reportable seoment effectise with the merger on October 31, 201 L
accordingly . Lmde AG s operations were included in the consolidared financiad ~iarements effectne from the merger due

-

fsee Notes | and 2 o the consolidated finuncial statements for addinonal information,

GAR1E LT he discisaneni hat Lo e s oo

orent prasides

The following summmars of sules und operating profis by se 1
addiriona! informarion concerning Linde™s segments. see Note 200 to the consoiidated finsncial statemenizs. 1inde ¢valuates
the performance of it reportable segrments based on aperating profit excluding the nems not indicative of ongoing business

rends

] R N arinice
tDediar amoyris in ocilions, (LW HITING

Y ear Ended December 34, 2UIN 2017 2400 I8 vs, 0T 2007y, 2l
Sales
North Americas ~ RS TR L2 UL oL N
Furope TR [P 1,342 S [P
Soutl dmenica RTE [IRTEN LY P o
SONT] pLund RN [ = [
Surtace Technologies 6N i 9 bron 4o
linde AG 2T
N Tisnn s g s S

Operating Proti
North America ~ [ady s LT s = (LI I
Lurope o iy 2T T Loy,
south Anmerica R Y ot b SRS
s 427 RER 27 I o
~urfaee Technoiogies PEN ]t R iy
Lnde AO 252

Segrient operating profi TR A T T -
Fransaction costs and orther charge- LAl it i
et gatn on sabe ol Busimesses U
Purchase accountimg nnpacts - Linde At 114 —

Consolidated operating protit N ST s 2aM s 2

o
fh



North dnierica

(Dofiar aiewnis in milfions,

Yariance

Year Ended December 31 2015 2= 2016 I8 s, 2017 21T 2006
Sales 5 6420 % 6023 % 5392 T B
Cuost of sales. exclusive of depreciation and
amortization 3,305 3.167 2871
OToss margin 2.0258 27
Operating expenses 71" 676
Drepreciation and amoriization 460 63 614
Chperanng profu 5 a4l N 1517 % 1431 R 6
Operaling margin 2T 2320 2EAM
20018 vs, 2007 2017 s HHG
*u Change “o Change
Operating Operating
Sakes Profin wides Profit

Factors Contributing to Changes
Volume 4 SR 4% N
Prive Mix ey N, ey <,
Coal pass-through " - 2 e
Curreney —"a - —"u "
Sugpstitems P estures " - —
tlicr —" (51 - [N

_"“u arn 'Q“n [SY

Phe tollow mg tables provide sales b end-market and dismribution method.
"a ot Sales "o Change™
2H 8 27 MY 2008 v, 2017 HHT vy 216
Nales by Frd-Marken
NManufactarmy 2o, 2uny 29t S0 4
NMetals v b2 12 S T
Enerpgy 179 (e 15 e Al
Chemicals 1% Yy 9% 230 AR
Flectronies 3y 5% vy 3V [ 7%
Healtheare 7 T a T Sy
Food & Beverage 109 [07a 10°, Sy Svy
Actospacy My 20 2 B i,
(-)\'h\'.“; Ny [y Qi SRR 14
1007 ¢ {0 1O

s Eaciudes nmpaci o enereney. natrad gas prectous mectals cost pass-through and sequisivons divestures.
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Packaged Gas
Other

The ™orth America segment includes Lindes industrial

Sale< for 2015 inereased $397
Prices passed
pass—through. sales jnereased 6°

Operating profit in 20018 mesased $131 million, or 9% trom 2007

profit for 2018 also included ©

dnsel x]lb],"\)Sdk).

Sales for 2007 inercased 431

prices pussed through o hvdrogen custoniers, mercased sules |

puss—through.

Operating proficin 201

partally offser by farncane ipacts and higher costs, primarils

Lurope

tDollar wmaonnis in mitiion
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million. «
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2008 vy 20T

201745, 2016

"o Change

%o Change

Operating

Operating

Sales Profit Sales Profit
Factors Contributing to Changes
Volume I o I F 80
Price Alis 20 T v 20,
Cost pass-through 2 — it —
Curreney 490 30 It 2y
Avcquisitions D estitures (71" (R Kt 20
Other — "y (30 ' (3"
2 50 AR 1O,
The tollowing wbles provide saies by end-market and distribution method:
Yo of Sales " Change™
201 007 2016 2008 vy, 2007 2087 s, Mo
safes by End-Viarkets
Manalactaring RIS 2t R o 4,
Netals {7 (6 SEU St Yy
Fnergs A0 5% S 1 "o
Chenmpeals (A F2e 14, G Tt
Flectamines Rt R T 2t T
Healthears P [N ol Lot '
Food & Besorige [ F [ ! R
Acrospace N i ‘ vl A
tther 2 RS Ik il S
Too™, faney, rane.,
Bk e o e i s st 2t pree ol 2l oot e -t e et e quiaions e csitares
Yol Salos
RITR 2017 RTINS
Sales by Distribution Method
(In-Nite INE ia Jor,
Mercham 34 RAN 35
Pachaged Gas 43¢, 420, 428,
Other Sy 3u, 10,
TOU" o FO00 [0

[ inde™ Furopean industrial gases bugines

operated in Spain. Trefand. Ttaly. France. Germuany, Rusa the United

Ringdam. scandias i and the Benelux region. In connection with the merger, Prasair was reginted 10 sell the majorniy ot i
European industrial gases business. The sale was completed on December 3. 2018 and the Turopean business resuls are
inciuded in the consolidated financial statenients througly the date of sale. See Note 4 to the consohdiated Ainancial starements.

Sales in 2018 mereased S34 milhion. or

w frons 2017, The divestiture of the Furopean businesses decreased sales by

7o Exeloding the divestiture impact. sales increased 9% from 2017, Higher cost puss-through inercased sales by 2%a with
minimal impact on operating profit. Favorable currency transtation increased sales by 4w, Higher volumes and higher price

o

inereased sales by 1%a and 200 respectively,
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4 LO1S ot s 2TA aiion twreased STE million, or 272 from 2017 The divestinue Fe Fuonean

4 1
Pusiniesses decreazed operating profit by 7o Cuwrrendy translation impact increased operating profit by 3%- Excluding the
crvestitures and curpene: impacts, aperating profit increased Te dviven by higher price aud bigher wohurnes partiall o b
LT IRtlation,

Sales in 2017 nereasea 3166 million, or 2%« from 2016, Higher cost pass-through moreased saies by 1+ with minimai
impact on operating prolit. Favorable currency translation increased sales by 2%a. Higher overall volumes. including new
project start-ups. and higher price increased sales by %o and 1o, respectvely. The acguisition of a carbon dionide business
in the prior vear largely serving the food and beverage end-market increased sales by 3%,

Operating profitin 2017 of 5301 mullion increased $27 million. or 194 from 2076 driven by higher v olumes and
higher price. Favorable currency wanslatien and the acquisition of the carbon dioxide business in the prior vear each
contribued 290 1o operating profit grewth,

South America

Variancee

tDollar saunounes in mitlions;

Year knded December 3. 28 207 2016 2EH vs 2017 2007w 206
Sales ~ T I S [IS1Y5 108 ISNRY T
Cast ol sales, evclusive ol JU;JT'L\ ation and
AmMortziton ] 905 822
Gross margin 330 596 5T
Operming expenses IN7 19X 8]
Deprecianon and anortzation 4N 134 33
tperating profit b MR ~ 234 S AR P [ RS
Urperating margin P8 5 TN N
20ER vy, 2007 27 s 20 e

"o Change “u Change

Operating Cperating,
Sales FProfit Safes Progit

Factors Contribating 1o Chuanges
\oofuine b R -t ANNS
Price N 2 12 [ Lo
Comg pass-through T S -
Currenas ALY (1% ol 30y,
Acquisitions Dy estitures — " — ety -t
Other — "y [ 0y, e
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¢sales by end-mareer and distribution method

%5 of Sales %s Change”
2018 2017 2016 2018 v, 2017 201755, 2016
Sales by End-Markets
Nanufacturing 13% 1784 18 (51 (29
NMetals 32% 31va R 3 %% I %a
Energy 28 2% 2% I 230
Chemieals 10%% 10% 9% T S0
Electronics —ly —" —"y —"q — ey
Healtheare 19ty 19%. 1 9% 2y, R
Food & Ben Chuge |49, 1 3% fat, 3V ey
Naronpuny —Ya —0 —f — " —-—ta
Oither 8 5V R [N s
1a0v . oy, 1000,
: S S el g preiios Mty g ool pasesihiretgdy wnd aegisi-inon s divestitenes
?u of Nales
i 217 216

Sales by Disteibution Vethod
RTTRTITS 33 Rt I
RSN E RIS RER i
o haged G 2 R o
il 2t 2 o

[EE TN OO e,

The South Amertcr segment includes |inde’s mdustrial gases apergtions e Brazil, Argentina. Bolivia, Chile,
Coloimbie Paacaay, Perve and U rognan.

Sabes i 2018 decreased S 132 million, or Yea, versus 20070 Lty orable correney impacts decreased sales Ty § 24

drevep baothe werkening of the Bragzilian real and Argentine peso against the LS dollar, Exeluding cuireney., sades meveased
Stcdeeeen B ighet price and s olumes

Operating protin decreased $24 mliton or Tov versas 2005 Txeluding anfas orable currency impacts. operiting proda

aereased Bt e deiven by higher price and lower costs partially offset by unfas orable sales miv.

Crtective July £ 201% Argentina was deemed a highly inflationary cconomy (see Note 5 to the consolidated financiat
STlEMentsy,

Sales in 20 7 increased $102 millton, or 7%, versus 2016, Favorable currency translation impacts increased sales by
ot primarily due 1 the strengthening of the Bravilian Real against the ULS. dellar. Excluding currency, sales increased 194
driven by higher price Volumes were flat as new project contribution wag offset by negative underlyving base volumes in
Brazil due o weak wmdustrial production, Growth in on-<ite volumes due w new plant ~tart-ups aecounted for the increase in

c-ste stiles as uopercentage of total segment sales.

Operating profit decreased 824 million or 970 versus 2016, Tyeluding curreney ranslation. operating profit decreased
137 driven by unhinorable product sales mik and cost nflation which were partialhy offset by higher price.
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e Dedtar amonnes i millions
Y var Ended December 31,

\arionce

Sales \
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation und
amortizarion
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Depreciation and amortization

Operaung profit s

Operating Imarein

Factors Contributing to Changes
\ olume

Price Mix

Coost pass-thraagh
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MY 2057 itio MO R i 2617 vs, 2036
1.264 . 1.738 5 1.252 13¢% P2,
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Ihe following ables provide sales by end-market and distribution method:
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Metals
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Food & Beverage
Aerospace

Onhes

Sales Profit Subes Profit
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2 4 1 S
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(I [T Y e
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* Drchilaes eyt OF CUITeNL Y. fatueal gas precious metais cost pass=ihirough and acguisinons dinestitures,
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“ o af Sales

2018 2017 2016
Sales by Distribution MVethod
C-3te 2, S0, S0,
NMerchant KA 307, oo,
Packaged Gas 11%a 13¢,, 145
Other 70, Zo, 70,
100 1005 1000,

The Asia zegment includes Linde™s industrial gases operations in China. India. Korea and Thailand. with smaller
operations in Taiwan and ihe Muddle East,

Sales in 2618 mercased 3226 midlion. or 13%e versus 2017, Cost pass-througl, primarily energy . and cwrrencey impacts
eachi increased sales by 1% N olwne growth of 9%« was primarily attributable to base volume growth in China, Korea and
India and new project start-ups in China. Higher price increased sales by 2% driven by China, Sales growth was the strongest
in the metals, eperey and electronics end-markers, b

Operating produ for 200X inereased $94 midlion, or 258" as compared to the pnor vear driven by higher volumes and
price. Operating profit tor 2075 ielnded a %22 million asset impairment charge. offset by a lidgation settlement gain,

|:(J oy

Sales in 2017 mcereased SIS mudlion. or o versts 20H6. Favorable currencys translation and cost pass-through each
inereased sales by 170 Divestitures decreased sales by 290 due to the sale of an ow nershup interest in a majoritv-owned joint
venture in India in 2010, Excluding these impacts, sales increased 1270 driven by base vy olume growth in China, Morea and

India. new project start-ups m Chung and Rorea and bigher price,

Operating profivior 2007 mereised S37 million. or 280 as compared 1o the prior year driven by higher volumes and
prive. partigdly oftser by costimltlanon,

Surfuce Technologios

Narnance

(Dollar amogris in milfions

v car baded Deceniher 20 2018 2017 20 La 208 vs 2007 1T v 2000

Sales & au’ i ol” B SO Lo 40,

Costof sifes, exedasnve of depreciation and

amortization S 402 A

Qross margin 234 208 205

Uperating oaponses T2 aY th

Depreciation and amornzation 44 40 46

Operating profit S s s e  » 99 11" EAPS
Operating margin 17.3% 17.2%, bo.6%



2008 v 2017 THIT v 200

"o Change ¢ Change
Operating Operating
sales Frofit Sades Profit

Factors Contributing to Changes
Volume Price S 14y It 4%,
Cost pass-thirough e - — ~—"
Currency 2 2" — o
Acguisitions Divestitures - — A A 1oy
Other - 11" —u 29,

e 1T 45 Ty

The foliowing wble provides sules by end-nark e,
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“u Change

RIES M it Jirihoay, 2007 2T s 2006
Sales by End-Markets
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Motk N L NS A BT
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t hemicdls o oy 0 e e
Lleetronies " it i RREL I,
Healthuare . L o o
Food & Bevernge s 4 PR i
AeTonPilu e Jse 440 A, AR 1w,
her Pl i 1o 2o ooy

LU JOa oo,

Tl et st ol SulvUie o Barbial 2o Precredls it ceet Pos =1 el g st tions e nres

surtace Technologies provides lngh-pertormiinee voatimes and thermial-spray powders and equipment o the Siacrieas,
Forepes and A

Salos mercased So5 o or Fete versas 20007 prmar b diee o iz her volumes tooahie acrospie e did nuimiiaciunng
ehd-ptarhets and Bigher price. Correnes banshion incicased sales w27

Operating profir mereased SE2 mdhion, or T versus 20070 Correncys translation mereased operatmy profit by 2%

Excluding currency impacts. operating profit increased 9% driven hy increused volumes and price partially effset by project
IS TARE ANNATS P

Sales increased $21 million. or e versus 2006 primuarily due to higher volumes 1o the acrospace end-market and
acquisitions driven by a majority-owned jeintyenmre with GE aviaton,

Operating profit mereased 87 million. or 7 versus 2006 doe o higher solumes and acguisitions.



Linde 1G

(Doflur amonnis in mitlion

Y ear Ended December 31, 016

> 28T
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization 1.899
(3ross margin 974
Chperating expernses 440
Depreciarion and amdartization 252
Operating profit %

Operating margin

[he foliowing mbies provide sales by end-market und disuibunon method:

"o f Sales

2008

Sakes by End-Markets
Manputacturing 1ue,
AMotals TS
Chemicaks & Lpergy [ 30,
Eliectronies o
Healrheare S
Foow & Beseruge o
Lommecting N
Orther <o

Toor,
E Ddes Pt St oar 1L A s PR ins ekl e e oo s s st Qoo e

Yo 0t Sakes

Mt
Sates by Distribution Method
IRIENIIG T
MMerehunt P,
Packaged Gas an,
Criher e

100°%,

Linde AG hecame a sivth reportable segment etfective with the merger on October 31, 2018, Sales of $2.872 miltion
and operating profit of $232 million represent results for the rwo month period from merger date through December 2
200,

14
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1o belp understand ilie reponed resulrs. the follewing 15 a summary of the ~ignificant currencies underlving Linde’s
consolidated results and the exchange rates ued to ranslate the financial statemenss ivates of euchange eupresed in unite of
foval currency per Loy, dnllars:

Percent of

Statements of Income Balapce Sheets
2018

Consolidated yverage Y ear Ended December 31, December 31,
Currenc Sales k] AT 2t 2018 M
Fure 16" IS ti 59 RV 18T {182
Brazihi reql ey s 2y e ER 7
¢ hnese vuan T o BT T oSN e
Canadian dolla LN HRIY: Pan [ fL36 I 2o
NMeyioan pese R [N P a6 RN 19 6% SRS
Korean won . I it [Lh3 RN N T
British pound R {.7= 078 st TS (17
Indian ruped % ha o -0 4
yostralia dollars I |34 — 42 -
Frvwany dollars [ RITER R R T
o egin hron B SG AR S =0
Arzenhing peso i [ Ty 1474 Rt R
Iy Ciective Fols B 2008 Argenting was deemed a highls intlavonaey ecomomy tsec Nate 250 he cotsolidited

Pnancial siateimentst



LIoUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND OTHER FINANCISL DT 4

s o dolio

Yo Dnded Decenibey 31

Net Cash Provided by (Used for
Operating Activities
Income from continaing operations including noncontrolling interests)
Non-cash charges teredits )
Add: Tramsaction costs and other charges. net of payments (4
Add, Amortization of merger-related imventors step-up
Leas: Net cain o sale of businesses (b
Adds Tus Actmcome Ly charge, net
vdd., Depreciation and mmwertization
Add cbessy Deterred invome tanes, excluding Tus Aa

Add 1D one s pon-casln Charees amd other

ficomie Tront continumy operations adiusted for non-cash churges and vther

o centribution

Aol e Workane capaal

Sold thooss s Ondwe

el el provided by operating activ ities

Insesting Activities

Copital cupoindiines
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Notteomied g e rest rnasactions and othes

et eash ruseds for fimancing

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Cash and cash equivalents, end-of-period

() Se Nate S tothe consolidated financial statements,
by See Sote (o the consolidated financial statemenis.

Coanhimnerensed S2.549 mion 1 2008 versus 2017,
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The primars sources of cash in 2018 were cash flows from

aperations of S2e53 million, proceeds from divestitures and usset sales of S3908 million and cash aequired i the merger of

ST milhow, The primany uses of cash ineleded capital expendiures of %1883 pnullion. cash dividends to sharcholders of
S ten million. net debt repay ments of $2.908 million and net purchases of ordinary shares of S522 million.

4t



Cash Flovws From Operarion:

Cash Flows From Operations :
(Millions of Dollars) !

S2923

24

2018 compared with 2017

RPN

Cash o s from operations was S 3053 nuilion. or 2370 ot sales, un mmorease of S0 13 nullion from S5041 nuthon. o
27 b sdes 2017 The mercase was pamanily anribuiable o the merger. higher nvt meome adjusted for non-vish Charges
and Fnvorable seorking cupitad tequitements, pariialby oftset by untavorable changes i other fong rorm a~sets and Dabshines

and ligher pension contributions

2047 compared with 2016

Lash fows from operanons was S04 mihon, or 2700 of saless an o merease of 5232 midhon brom S2789 pudhon, o

2ofa ot sales in 260160 The mcerease was primaridy attribuiable (o higher net income adjosted for non-cash charpes. a
STO3 million erease modin idends received from equits companmies. prinwariby i China. and fin orable changes in other long -
term axsets and habibies which were partally offset by hicher workmg capitul reguirements and pension contribations,



Investing

Capital Expenditures ‘
{Millions of Dollars)
$1.883
S1.689 o
135 31465
$1.311

: ‘ -

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

2018 compared with 2017

Netcash vwed provided Dy vy esting activites of 33363 million increased $6.677 million from 2017 primariiy dres en
by proceeds from the divestiture of Prasair’s Luropean business wnd cash wequired in the merger. paniialhy offset s hicher
capitil expenditures.

Capite) ovpenditures m 2008 were S LAY milhon an nerease of S372 mithon Bom 2007 driven primacils by the
merger with Linde AG, Cupural expendiures during 268 related primartls to mvestments in new plast and production
cquipment for srowth and density . Approsimately S0% 0 of the capital expenditures were i North America with the rest in
Asit Europe. South America and Linde AG.

Acquisition expenditures m 2018 were %23 milhon, o decrease of S5 million Trom 2017 Addtionallv, $ 1363 million
of cash was acquired in the merger (see Note 3 o the consolidated financial statements i

Divestitures and nsset sales in 200X towaled $3.908 million primacily diven by proceeds rom mieraer-relaed
divesatures including 83562 million from the sale of Praswr’s Faropean business and $2 14 million related v the sale of
Praxair's Talian joint venture (see Note 4 o the consolidated financial statenents).

2087 compared with 2016

Net cash vsed for imvesting activities of 51.314 million decreased $456 million versus 2016 due 10 lower acquisitions
and capital expenditures. partiatly offset by lower proceeds from divestiture and asset sales,

Capital expenditures in 2017 were $1.311 million. a decrease of $154 million from 2016. Capital expendirures during
2077 related primarily 1o investments in new plant and production equipment for growth and density, Approximatels 60°, of
the capital expenditures were in North America with the rest in Asia. Europe and South America.

Acquisition expenditures in 2017 were S23 million. a decrease of $330 million from 2016, Aequisitions in the prior
vear were primarihy comprised of the acquisition of a European carbon dioxide business and packaged gases businesses in
North America and Europe (see Nate 3 1o the consolidated financial statements ).

Divestimures and asset sales in 2017 totaled $30 million of proceeds from asset sales. 2016 div estitures and asset sales

were S8& million which meluded proceeds from asset sales and the sale of an ownership mierest in o majoritv-omned joint
venture in India.

48



Financing

Linde"s

issaing public notes and debentures and
ional operatico funded throuah o

d= and 1o Mmang e and Ceinda L
1

nsare

A1-

currendy exchangze enposures, A< deemed negessary, Linde manszes 118 eosure 1 imerest-rate chanoes through «
financial derivarives isee Note 14 10 e conselidated financial statements and liem ~A. Quanttative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk .

Cash used by financing gerivines was 54998 million in 2015 compared to $1.636 mithon in 2007, The priman
fnancing wses of cash were for net debt repas menis. cash dividends and net purchases of Linde ordinars shares. Cash
dividends of S1.166 million 1oeregeed \30_‘ million from 2017 driven primarily by higher shares outstanding after the merger
and & 3% crease n dividends per share from $3.15 to 8330, Net purchases of ordinam shares were $522 million i 201%
versis net issuances of ordinary shares of 105 milion in 2007 driven by increased share repurchases. Noncontrolling
interest ransactions and other panments was S402 myillon 0 2075 versus S92 mullon i 2057 Amounts paid m 2018 inviude
$315 million for the purchase of the nonevnirolling wterest m Prasair’s {tallan joim venmre ina merger-relared transaction
csee Note 4 1o the consolidated financial statementstand 525 nullion in mierest related to the early redempiion of bonds 1.c2
Note |3 1o the consohdated Dnaneiad statememsy: while 2017 include dividends paid to WCE jolnt venture partner anid
repas ment of project ads anves. The vush used for debt repas ments-net of S2908% mithen mereased 2,137 millon fiem

“milhon during 2007 swhile cast increased 53349 miflion. Ner debt idebt mmnus cash mereased 82,447 million
primanly due 1o debt woguired 1o the merger partially offser by the repavinests of debt and increesed cush

The company believes that 1t has <utiicient operaiing flexibilits. cash reserves, and tunding sources 10 maintain
adequate amounts of hguidits 1o meet it busimess neads wround the world, In March 20190 Linde’s credit ratings as reporicd
by Sundard & Poer’s and Moody'ewere AT and P-1 Jor shor-term debt respectavels and A and A2 for Fang-term Jdebt.

respectively.

Note Yo the consalidaed Pnanciad statements includes information s ith respect o the compam s debt epas nrenis i
20TR current Jobt position, debr cosenants and the avanlable credit fucibities. wd Note T4 includes normation relaung 1o
Jurivative tioaned netroments Linde s credo facibties are wath magor fmancial msatunions and are non-cancelahic untl
matarits. Pherctfore, ihe company bebieves the risk of the financiad mstitogions betg unable to make reguived Toans under the
credit facthitios. it roquesied. to be Tow Binde s o bank credit and long-serm deb agreements contain standard covenant-.
The company w1 complunee with these covenants ar December 31, 201X and expects 1o remain it complianee lor the
Foresceable fulure.

Linde ™ towl net debt oastanding ar Deceniber 31 2008 wis SO0 nithon, %2447 million higher than
SRR million @ December 31, 2017 The December 3102008 net debt halance mefudes 314258 nulion 1o public socuriies.
S L0A% million reprosenung promarihy aorkdvode bank horrowings pet of $4.300 nulhon of cash Dinde’s global effvctin e
Borrowing rite was approsnnated s B 90" o 200,

I Niach 200 s Linde repard SSt0omiilions of E20%0nates that beeame due and i Soaember 200 Linde repang
$475 nublion of 125" potes that bacanie due,

Additionallv. in December 2015, Linde repaid o0 million of 453070 notes due 2019 and €600 million of 1307, nenes
due 2020 resulting in a 826 million interest charge (520 milhon after-tas, or S0.06 per diluted share) (see Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements).

Also in December 2018, Linde repatd €730 millien of 3, 125%, notes that became due.

I Februar 2019, Linde repaid S300 million of 190"« notes that became due.

In bune 20 3 the company s SSO0 million 364-day rovalving credin faettiny with o syndicate of bunks exprred and s
not renew el

On December 10, 201 the company anneunced a S 1.0 billion share repurchase program, of wihich $629 mullion had
been repurchased through December 31 2005 This program was completed in February of 2619, On January 22, 20149, the
company’s bogrd of directors approy ed the addinonal repurchase of 6.0 biflion of it ordinary shares with o stated ¢ wpiration
date of Februar 1. 2027, For addivonal information related to the share repurchase programs. sce Part I Ttem 3. Muarket tir
Registrant’s Common Fguin. Related Stockholder Matters and Tssuer Purchases of Equiny Securires,

CONTRACTU AL OBLIGATIONS

The fellowing mble sets forth Linde s material contract obligations and other commercial commitments as of
December 31, 20118



t¥filtions of dollers; Pruc or expiring by December 31,

2414 MY 2p21 m 023 Thercafrer Toral
Long-term Jebr obligarions:

Diebt and cupitalized lease maturine-

Nete 1) $ L2300~ a4l s 1RAL S ZR3n % 1R T 463y % 130811
Contractual interest 3is a8 RN 169 141 621 1.76]
Operating leases (Note 6) RIS 236 156 143 102 326 1.300
Retirement obligations 245 29 30 31 3 150 <46
Unconditional purchase obligations 542 T N R 283 1067 6,853
Construction commiiments 2100 902 049 3 - e 3,255

Total Contractual Obhgations S 5330 0% 388G 8 3282 % 3340 N 2645 0% 9052 ¢ 27.52%

C ontrawtual mterest on lonig-term debt ol SE761 million represents interest the company is contracted 10 pay on
outstanding long-tern debr, current portion of long-term debr and capital lease obligations. calculaied on a basis consistent
with planned debr maturities. excluding the interest impact of interest rate swaps, A1 December 31, 20] % Linde had fised-
cute debt of S T2 5868 million and floatiug- rte debt of 82730 sabhion, The rare assumed for floatipu-rate debt was the rate in
eflect at December 31, 2015

Fetirement oblieations o 546 nithon mclode estimates of penston plan contributions and expecied future benefit
paviments tor untunded perision and OPEB plans. Pension plan contributions are forecasted for 2019 ouly. Tor purposes of
the table. $ 125 mihon of extinmed required contriburtions liave been inehuded for 2019, Expected future untunded pension
and OPER benefit pus ments are forecasted only through 2028, Conoibution and untunded benelit payment estimares are
based upor vorrent saluation assumptions, Datimates of pension contributions atier 28149 and unfunded henetit pay ments
after 202% Gre not incladoed mthe wable because the nming ol thedr resolution cannot be estmated, Retivement ohligations are
mare tulhy Jdesceribed i Aot Do the consoludated financial statements

U noobditional purchuse oblizations ob S6835 nullion represent contractuad commitments under varteus Jong and <lvor-
teren Lihe-or-pas rangements with sappliors and are not included on Linde's badanee sheet. These abligations are primariby
mininnm-puarciiose commitntents for hehiun, eleciriciny . natural zas and feedsiock sed to produce atmospheric and process
2ises. A sicnificant pornon of these obligations is passed on 1o customers ihroagh smitlar tahe-or-pay or other contractual
arrangements Purehuse obligations that are not passed along te customers through such contractual arrangements are subject
o market condrions, bat do not represent woniaterial risk o D inde, Approsimately $2.224 million of the purchase obligations
relates to power and 1< intended 1o secure the uninterrupted supply of electnon and feedstock w Linde s plunts 1o reliably
satsty costomer product supphy obhgatems, and estend through 2030, Certan of the poser contracts contain arivus
canvetlanon provisions regiaring supphier agreement. and oy are subicet o annuad excalitions based on local intlation

lactors.,

Consruction commitments of S3.235 mullion represent outstmding commitanents o complete suthorized construction
projects as of December 310 2055 A significant partion of Linde™s capital spending s related 1o the constriction of new
production tacilities to satisfy customer commitments which mav take a vear or more to complere.

Erabslities for uncertain tax positions totaling $367 million, including interest and penalties. and tax habilities for
decmed repatriation of earnings of $29 1 mithon are not included i the table because the timing of their resolution cannot be
estintated. Soe Note T to the consolidated financial stmements for disclosures surrounding uncertain imcomc @y positions.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET 4ARRANGEMENTS

As disvussed m Note T4 1o the consolidated fimancial <tatements, ot December 310 200s, Uinde had undrawn
outstanding leters of credit, bank guarantees and surety boids entered into in connection with normal business operations
and thev are not reasonably likelv 1o have a material impact on Linde’s conselidated financial condition. results of
aperations. or fquidity,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The pohicies discusaed below are considerad by management 10 be critical w understanding T inde s financial
Aarements and accompans g noetes prepared inaccordance with decounting principles generally accepted in the United
States ("L GAAPT Their application places significant importance on management’s judgment as a result of the need 1o
muke estimates of matters that are inherenuy uncertain. Linde's financial position. results of operations and cash flows could



be mareridiy aflected il ac

been reviewed by Linde™s Audit £ ommitice,

EHUNE

Purchase Accounting

As discussed below, Linde AG s assers and fabihtics were measured at fatr value as of the dae ot the mergervn a
nreluninary hasis, Estimates of tair value represent management’s hest estimate of assumptions about future evems and
uncertainties. In determining the tair salue. Linde urilized various forms of the income. cost and market approaches
depending on the asset or liability bemg fair valued. The estimavon of fair value includes significant judgments related to
future cash flows (sales. costs. customer attrition rates. and contributory asset charges). discount rates. competitiv e trends.
market comparables and others. Inputs were generally obtained from historical data supplemented by current and anticipated
market conditions and growth rates. The estimates and assumptions used to deternune the preliminary estimated fair value
assigned to each class of assets and liabiinies. as well as asset lives. have a material mmpact to the compam “s consoblidated
financial starements, and are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable bur that are inherently uncermain.

Due 1o the timing of the business combination. the magnitude of and multi-pational nature of the net assets avquired.
and the hold separate order £see Note | o the consolidated financial statementsy which deterred mtegration of the tao
merged companies. at December 1. 2015 the valuation process to determine the tuir values is not complete und further
adjustments are expected i1 2019, The company has estimated the prefiminary fuir salue of net assets acquired based on
informatien currenthv as ailable and will continue 1o adjust those estimartes as additional intormation beconies wvailable. The
areas where the fan value assessmients are not tinabized and. therefore. subject to adjustment durig the measurement period
relate primariby 1o identifiable intangible sssets. propern., plant and equipment. net assets beld for safe. cquity myestments,
meome taaes. noncontrelling interests, contingencies and goodwill, As the company finalizes the fair value of men assets
acquired and Tabiliiies assumed. additonal purchase price allocatton adjustments will be recorded during the measurement
peried. but no Tater than one year from the date of the acquisition, The company will reflect mewsurement period adjustments
in the pertod s bich the adjustments are determuned. Any adjustments to the Tar value of assets and habihues aeguired will
he oftset to goodwilh and any mcome sttement impacts will be recorded at that time.

See Nate 3o the consobiduted Tinamcial statements tor additional intormaton,
Depreciation and Amortization

Dicprectahic Lives of Prapern. Plane and Lgarpaient

5

Linde’s net properiy. plant and eguipment at Decemiber 310 2018 was 329717 milhon. representing 320 of the
compam s consolidated total assets and metuding S 19497 miliion of Dinde AG assets acquived at fair valoe in the merger.
Deprectation expense tor the vear ended December 312008 was $Eals milbon, or 13" of total operaning costs, This
inciodes S225 million of purchase accounting impacts, Management judgment is required in the deterniination of the

estimated depreciable Trves that are wsed o calenlate the annual depreciation expense and accumulated deprecuition.

Properi, plant and cquipment are recorded at cost and deprecinted over the assets” estimated wsetul bves ona strinehi-
e basis tor financial reporting parposes. The estmiated usetnd e represems the projecied period of e than the asset wily
be productivels employed by the company and is determined by management based on many tactors, inctuding histarical
experience with similar assets. technological life eveles. geographic locations and contractual supply relatonships with
on-site customers. Crecumsiances and events relating to these assets, such as on-site contract modifications, are monitored to
ensure that changes in asset Iives or impairments (see " Asset bupairments™) are 1dentified and prospective depreciation
expense or impairment expense 18 adjusted accordingly, Linde’s targest asset vajues relate to crvogenic air-separation
production plants with depreciable Iives of principally 15 years.

Based upon the assets as of December 3102015 it depreciable Tives of machiners and eguipment. on average, were
increased or decreased by ene vear. annualized depreciation expense. wcluding Iinde AG for a tull year on a pro forma
basis. would be decreased by approximately S328 million or increased by approimatels S39¢ million. respectively

See Notes 39 and 1010 the consolidated financial statements tor additional information,
dmartizarion of Ciier Dirangible dsseis

Linde’s net other intangible assets a1 December 310 2018 was $16.223 nullion. representing 17%0 ot the company’s
consolidated total assers and including $15.636 million of Linde AG other intangible assets acquired at fair value in the
merger t515.967 million with timite lives and S Loew million with mdetinite lives) Amortization expense related to inite-
lived intangible assets for the vear ended 1Yecember 31, 2018 was S215 million. or 2% of tonal operating costs. This



includes S 121 million of purchase aceounting srpacts, Management rudemeni is reonired in the determination of the
esiimated amortizable hves that are used 1o caleulate the annuat amortization e
Note |2 to the consolidated Ninancial statements.

ense and accumulated antortizanon. See

Based upon the assets 2z of December 21, 2005, if amantization Hyves of other Intangible assers. on average. wore
inereased or decreased by one vear. annualized amortization expense. including Linde AG for a full vear on a pro forma
basis. would be decreased by approximately 363 million or increased by approximately $49 million. respectively.

See Notes 3.9, and 12 to the consolidated financial statements for additionai information.
Revenue Recogunition
Long Termt Consiruction Coniracts

The company designs and manufactures equipnient for air separation and other vared gas production and processing
plants mapuwlactured specifically for end customers. Revenue from sale of equipment s generally recognized aver tine as
Einde has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed 10 date and performance does not creare an asset w ith
alternative use. For contracts recognized over tune. rev enue is recogmzed primarily using a cost incurred input method. Costs
incurred to date relatis ¢ 1o total estimated costs ar completion are used Lo measure progress toward satisfving performance
abligations Costs incurred iclude material. fabor, and overhead eosts and represent work conributing and proportionate 1o
the transfer vl control to the customer. Contract moditications are o pically aceounted for as part or the existing contract and
are reengnized as a cumulative adiustment for the weeption-to-date eftect of such change. We as~ess perlormance as

progress wewards completion is achioved on specific projects, earnings will be impacted by changes 1 our farecust of

ey Gl ‘dnd cosls an these Di‘(\_icci\j
Pension Benefits

Pepsion benetits represent Gnancial chlivatons that sl be uliimatel sottled in the future with emphos ces who meet
cligibility requirements Becaune of the uncertainnes i ob cd inestimating the timing and amount of fulure pavienits.

significant estimates e tequired o cadentate pension ovperse and Habilities refated o the compans ™= phins. The company

ntihizes the services of predependent eotudries, whose el are oseo e Teobitate these caleubutions

Several Key assumptions are wsed 11 actuariad models o caloulite pension expense and labiite amounts recorded i
the financial statenents Manogoment helieyes the theee most signiticant variables mothe models are the expected long-term
rute of retarn on plan assets, the discount rate. wnd the expected rate o compensation incrense, T he actuarial models also tw
assumptions tor various other factors, including emplos e turnoser. retiremient age. and mortalite. Linde management
belieses the assumptions used in the actuarial calealations are 1easonable, retlect the company s experience and expectations
tor the futtre and are within qecepted practives in cach of the respective seographic focations in which it operates. Avtual
resaltx moam 2iven vear watl ofien differ frant actariad assumptions because of cconomic and other tactors. The sensitiv ities
o cach of the kex assummptions presented below excinde the impact of special iems thar occurred during the LU (e,

settfement zaims from divestitures. settlement charges resulting from change 1 contral provisions, ete.)

The weighted-average expected long-term tates o return on pension plat assets were Ta2 for LS, plaps and 5137,
for international plans for the year ended December 31 2018 (8.00% and 791", respectively at December 33, 20173, Fhe
expected long term rate of return on the LS. and international plan assets is estimated based on the plans” investment
strategy and asset allocation. historical capiral market performance and. to a lesser extent. historical plan performance, A
1.50" 0 change 1 these expected long-tern: rates of return. with all other variables held constant. would change Linde's
pension expense by approximarely %38 miliion.

The company has consistently used a market-related 1alue of assets vather than the fair value at the measurement date
tev determine annual pensivn expense. The market-related value recogmizes im estment gadns o1 losses over a five-vear period.
A~ resulr. changes in the fairvalue of assets from year to year are notimmediately reflected in the compams annual
pension expense. Instead. annual pension expense in future periods will be impacted as deferred invesunent gains or 1osses
are recognized in the marker-related value of assets over the five-vear period. The consolidated market-related value of assets
was S8R0 million. or S286 million higher than the faiv value of assets of $8.244 million at December 31, 2018, These net
deferred invesment gains of $286 million will be recoenized in the calculation of the market-related value of assets ratably
over the next four years and will impact fture pension expense. Future actual investment pams or losses will impact the
market-related value of wesets and. therefore, will impact funure annual pension expense ma similar manner.

Discount rates are used to caiculate the present value of plan liabilities and pension costs and are determined annualls
by management. For fiscal vear 2016, Praxair changed the approach that it used to determine the service and interest cost
componems of pension and OPER expense for significant plans to the spot rate approach. Linde AG also adopted the spal
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s approach Tfor it material ULS, and imernational pensioen plans as of the merzer date. T nder thit approach U.S. plans that
h i £ I

M
A et use the spat rate approach continue 1o determine discuuns rates b using & cash flow matching model provided by the
cowmpany s independent acwuaries. The model includes a portfolio of carporats bonds graded Aa or hetter by at least half of
‘ agencies and matches the TS plans’ projected cash flow s to the calculated spotratzs, Discount rates for the
remaining witemational plans are based on market vields for high-quality fixed income investments representing the
approximate duration ot the pension liabilities on the measurement date. Retfer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statentients for a summary of the discount rates used to calculate plan liabilities and benefir costs. and 1o the Retirement
Benetits section of the Consolidated Results and Other Information section of this MD&A for a finther discussion of 201§
henefit costs. A .30, change in discount rates. with all other variables held constant, would decrease increase Linde's
pensian expense by approximately 524 miflion. A 0.50% reduction in discoum rares would increase the PBO by
approximately $306 million whereas a 0.30%; increase in discount rates would have a favorable impact 10 the PBO of
approsimately 5710 million.

The weighted-av erage expected rate of compensanon increase was 3257 for U5, plans and 738 tor internationai
plans at Decernber 312018 (3. 25%0 and 3.25% respectively. at December 310 20171 The estimated annual compensation
merease 1s determined by management evers veur and is based on historical trends and market jndices. A 0.30%4 change in
the expected rate of campensation increase. with all ather sariables hetd vonstant. would change Linde s pension expense by
approvamatels S5 mitlion and would mmpact the PBO by approvimatels So0 million

Asset Tmpairments
CroedwWill and Orher Ind tinirc-Lived huangibley Avsers

At December 31, 20180 the company had voodwill of $26.574 mullion, of which 823320 miflion was recorded in
connection with the Linde AG merger, and $1.664 mitlion of other indetinite-liv ed intangible assets acquired in the merger,
Goodw ] represents the apgregate of the excess consideration paid for acquired buzinesses over the fair value of the net

assets acquired. Indefimite-nved other intangibles refate to the Tinde name

The company pertormis a goodwill imparrment test annually in the second gquarter or more trequenthy i cvents o
Cieumstances idicate tha an impatrment Toss miay have been incurred. and no imparminents were indivated. The company
has contnuousty re-evaluated the Bkelihood of goodwill impairments mots reportng units subsequent to the second quarter
1estand does net behieve there ts indication of impairment for any of it reporting units. At December 21, 2008, Linde s
caterprise value was approvimately 5896 bithion toutstanding shares multiphied by the vewr-end stack price plus debt. and
without any control preminmn while its ol capital was approvimatels S6X bilhion.

The impairment test allows an entity 1o st assess gqualitative tactors o determine if it is more likely than not that the
farr value of 3 reporting unit i~ Tess thas carrving vatue. 1t 15 determined that o is more hikels than nor that the f2ir valae of
aoreportmg bt less than carrving value then the company will estimate and compare the Lair salue of its reporting units 1o
therr carrvmg valoe. moluding gondwill Reportmy anits are derermimed based on one lesel below the operating segmient
les el Fairvaluc s determined through the use of projected tuture cash flow s mualtples of earings and sales and other

tactors,

Such analyvsis requires the use ot certam market assumptions and discount factors, which are subjective in nature. A~
applicable. estimated values can be affected by many factors bevond the company s control such as business and economic
trends. goy ernmient regulation. and technological changes. Management believes that the qualitative factors used to perform
its anpual goodwill impairment assessment are appropriate and reasonable. Afthough the 2018 gualitative assessmem
indicated that it i~ more likely than not that the fair value of each reporting unit substantially exceeded its careving s alue.
changes in circumstances or conditions atfecting this analvas could have a sigmificant impact on the fair value determination,
which could then result in a mutenial impairment charge to the compam s results of operations,

Onher mdefinite-fiv ed intangible assets are oy aliwated for mpairment o an annual basis or mmore frequently 1 events
and crrcumstances mdicate that an impairmient loss may have been incurred. and no impairments were indicated.

See Notes 3011 and 12 1o the consolidated financial statements.
Lomg-Lived duaen

Long-fived assets. mctuding Properts . plant and equipment and finite-lived other imangible assets. are tested for
Impairment wheitev et ey ents or changes i circumstances mdicate that the carrving amount of an individval asset or asset
aroup mav o7 be recoverable, For purposes of this test. asset groups are deternuned based upon the lowest level for which

1
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thare are independent and identifinble cash flows. Based upon Linde s business model. or property. plant and equipment an

asset group may be a single plant and related assets used to support on-site. merchant and packaged gas customers.

Vternatively. the asset group may be a pipeline complex which includes multiple interdependent planis and relaied assets
¢

connected by pipelines within a geograplic area used @ support the same distribution methods,

Jacome Taves

At December 31. 2018, Linde had deferred tax assets of $2.039 million (net of valuation allowances of $237 million).
and deferred tax liabilities of $8.961 millien. Ar December 31. 2013, uncertain tax positions tataled $319 miliion (see Notes
2 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements). Income tax expense was S817 mitlion for the vear ended December 21,

o

2015, or about 1620, of pre-tax jncome (see Note 7 1o the consolidated financial statements for additional information
related to taves).

In the preparation of consolidated financial statements. Linde estimates income taxes based on diverse legislative and
regulatory structures that exist invarious jurisdictions where the compansy conducts business. Deterred income tax assets and
liabilities represent tax benefits or obligations that arise from temporary ditferences due to differing treatinent of certain
items for aceountmyg and icome tax purposes. Linde evaluates deferred 1as assets each period to ensure that estimated furure
taxahie inceme will be sufticient in character (e.g. capitai gain versus ordinars income treatment). amount and timing to
result iz their recovery. A valuation allow ance is established when management determines that it3s more likely than not thar
adeferred s asset will nor be realized to reduce the assets to their realizable value, Considerable judgments are required in
estiblisting deferred ay valuation allowances and m assessing exposures refated o tay nuatters. As events and circumstances
change. related reserves and valuation aflowances are adjusted to income at that time. Linde™s tax returns are subject o audit
and hocal taving authertties cauld challenge the company s tas positions. The compans s practice Is to revicw tas 1iling
pusitions by jurisdiction and te record provisions for uncertain inceme tux posittons. including interest and penaltics when
applicable. Linde believes it records and or discloses such potentigl tay liabilities as appropriate and has reasonably estimated
ity income tay Habtlities and recoverable iy assets. [ new information hecomes availuble, adjustments are charged or
credited agamst meome at that time Aanagement does not anticipate that such adjustments would have a materal adverse
cifect un the company™s consohidated financial posinon or baquidity 2 howeser. it is possible that the Iinal outcomes eould

v e o matenad unpaet on the compam s reported results of operations

In 20019 Linde completed it aceounting and updated its provisional estimate related o the deemed repatriation ol
Forcign camnings under the 207 Tan Actin accordance with Sttt Accounting Bulletin Number TS resulting i net
reduction o mncome tay eapense of Somillion tsee Note 7 o the conselidated financial staitementsy. A provision is made for
taves on undistributed carnings of Torcign subsidiaries and related companies to the extent that ~ueh carmings are not deemed
(o be permanently remyested.

Contingencies

The company acerues Habilities tor non-income tas contingencics s hen management believes that i loss is probable
ad the amounts can be reasonablhy estimared. while contingent gains are recognized onhyv when readized. It new information
breomes avaitabic or Josses are sustimed inexeess of recorded amouats, adjustments are charged against incone at that
time, Management does not anticipate that in the aggregate such josses would have a material adverse effect on the
compan: ‘s consolidated financial position or liquiditv: however. it is possible that the final outcomes could have o material
impact on the company s reported results ot operations,

Linde is subject to various clams. legal proceedings and government ins estigations that arise from time to time in the
ardinary course of business. These actions are based upon alleged environmenial. tax. antitrust and personal injury ¢laims.
among others (see Note 19 1o the consolidated financial statements). Such contingencies are significant and the accounting
requires considerable management judgments in analyzing each matter to assess the likely oucome and the need for
establishing appropriate habilines and providing adequate disclosures. Linde believes it records and or discloses sucly
contingencies as appropraate and has reasenably estimated its Habilities.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
See Note 2 1o the consolidated financial statements for information concerning new accounting standards and the
impact of the implementation of these standards on the company”s financial statements.

FAIR VALLE MEASUREMENTS

Linde does not expect changes in the aggregate fair value of its financial assets and liabilities to have u material impact
an the consolidated financial statements, See Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.




NONGHAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

The follivaing non-GAAP measures are mrended o supplement s estors” understandimg of the corpany s Hnancial
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future business trends on a consistent basis. Definitions ofnhese non-GAAP measures mav not be comparahie 1o similar
detimrions used by other companies and are net a substiture for similar GA AP measures.

The nom-GAAP measures in the following reconciliations are presented in the Selected Finuncial Data them A or this

MD& A

Adjusted Amouns

Certam amounts for 201N 2007 2006, 2075 und 2014 have been included for reterence purposes and 1o tacilitare the

caleulations contamed hereim
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EBITD A, tdjusted EBITDA. EBITD i Stargin, and Adfusied LBIFD T Margin

These measures are used by investors, fnancis

Dollar amounts ia milljons;
= TE .
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Year Ended December 2}

Reported income from continuing operations
Add: noncontrolling interest from continuing operations

Add: Interest expense — net
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FBITDA
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FIEAM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUATLITATIVE DISCEOSURES ABOUT MARKLET RISK

Linde i exposed to market risks relating to fluctuations i mterest rate< and currene: evchange rates, The ohj

e rish misnzgeinent ar Linde o= rovononinuze the negain ¢ impls - itdrestrome and 0o

on the company’'s eamings. cash tlows and cquity.

To manage these risks. Linde uses various derivative financial msomuments. including interest-rate swaps. treasurs rale
tocks, currency swaps. forward contracts. and commmodity contracts. Linde only uses commonly traded and nen-les eragad
mstruments, These contracts are entered into primarily wirth major banking wmstitutions thereby minimizing the risk of credic
toss, Alsos see Notes 2 and 14 o the cepselidared tinunciad statemenss for a more complete description of Linde’s acemunting
policies and use of such instruments,

The fellowing discussion presents the sensitvits of the market value, earnings and cash flows of Linde s financial
mstruments to hy pothetical changes i interest and exchange rates assuming these changes vecwred at December 31, 201y,
The range of changes chasen fur these discussions reflects Linde's view of changes which are reasonably possible overa
one-vear perind. Market values represent the present values o1 projected fiture cash flows pased o interest rate and
evchange rate assumptions

Interest Rare Rivkh

At December 31, 2005, Linde had debr totahng $13.296 mithon (52000 milbon st December 31026017 For fised-rate
INstruments. imerest rate changes affeer the fag marhet vatue but do ot mpact 2arnings of cash flows, Comversehv . tor
Noating-rate instruments, interast tate changes generally do not attect the fuin market vatue ol the instrument but impact
future earmmgs and cash Tow s assuming that other tactors aie held costunt, A December 31 2008 includimg the nipact ot
derivatives Linde had fived-rate debt ot $12.565 milhion and loaung-rate debt of 82731 milhon, representing X270 and 15V,
respectively, of totd debt. At Deceniber 31, 20170 Linde had tived-rate debr of S8 253 million and floating-rate debn of
ST million, representmg 200 and 8 respectivel o1 jotal debt,

Fived Rate 1)3in

I order o minigate inderest rate vish, when considered appropriate mteresi-rate ssaps are entered mtoas bedges ot
underlyimg financial istruments to eitectively chunge the charncteristies of the interest rate without actually changing the
underhy ing tinancial mstrument. 41 Deceniber 310 20050 1 inde had fived-to-floating interest rate swaps outstanding that wery
designated as hedging instruments of the underhving debt issuinees - refer to Note 14 1o the vonselidated financiad stnements
for additional information. This sensitiv ity anadyvsis assumes that holding all other variables constant (such as foreign
oxchange rates, swaps und debr fevels g a one-percentage-point increase in interest rates would decrease the anrealived faun
market value of the fivederite debt portfolic by approvineatels $594 mitlion (5450 milton in 20170 A 100 basis poing
inerease ininterest rates sould resultin an approsimate S92 mithon increase o derivative assets revorded,

F i Roae Db

At December 31, 20050 the atter-tan cariiogs and cash o s mapact of o one-pereentage poibt INCreise 1 erest rates,
including the offsetting impact of derivatives, on the vanable-rate debt portiohio would be approvimately S 24 milhon A
December 31 2017 the impact of a one-percentage pomt increase was S6 million. holding all other vaviables constant.

Foreign Currency Risk

Linde’s exchange-rate exposures result primariiy trom its investments and ongomy operations i South America
iprimarily Brazil, Argemina. Chile and C olombia). Europe ¢primarily Germany . Scandinasia. and the United Kingdem
Canada. Mexico. Asia Pacific (primarily Austratia. China. India. and Koreay and other business transactions such as the
procurement of equipment from foreign sources Linde frequently utilizes currency coniracts 10 hedge these exposures. At
December 31, 2018, Linde had o notonal amoont outstanding of S4.412 million (82,692 miflion at December 31, 2017
related to foreign exchange contracts. The magority of these were 1o hedge recorded balance sheet exposures. primarily
intercompany foans denominated in non-functional currencies. See Note 14 10 the consolidated financial statements,

Holding all other variables constant, if there were uw 0% adverse change in foreign-currency exchange rates for the
porttolic. the tair market value of forcign-currency contracts outstanding ¢t December 31, 2018 and 2017 would decrease by
approvimartely $307 million and 174 muillion. respectively, which wauld be largely offset by an oftsewing gam on the
foreign-currency fuctuation of the underiying exposure being hedeed.
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AMANAGEMENT'S STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Lmde’s consolidated financiul statements are prepared by manazement. w hich is responsible for thelr faimess. intearits

IS

LLvE ey

evd obiectinin Th aclompany ing Nnancial staremans pured 11 onn oMy R T Golsunt

generaliy accepled in the United States of America applied on o consistens hasis, axgept for acsg

.

CoOUITETL e
historical financial inTurmanon in this annual report is consistent

u as disclosed.
and miclude winoums that are estimates and judoments.

with the accompanving iinancial statements,

Linde maintains aceounting syvstems. including internal accounting controls, monitored by a statf of intemal auditors.
ihar are designad 1o provide reasonable assurance of the reliahitity of financial records and the protection of assets. The
concept of reasvnable wssirance 15 based on recognition that the cost of a <5 ~tem should not exceed the relared beneflts, The
effectieness of those svstems depends primarily upon the careful selection of financial and other managers. ¢lear delegation
of authority and ussignment of accounrability, inculeation of high business ethics and contlict-of-interest standards. policies
aud procedwres for coordinating the management ol corporate resources. and the leadership and commitment of top
management. In comphience with Section 404 of the Surbanes-Osdey Act of 2002, Linde assessad its internal control vuer
rinanctal reporting and Issued a report (see below

Pricevwuterhousel vopers LT P an independen regisierad pubhc acoeunting fiem, has comypleted an audit of Limde s
COES 2017 and 20 L6 consnlidated finunciad statenients and of i nteenai conttol aver fnancial reporting as of December 31
2008 in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting  nersight Board 1United Stmesh as stated in their

report.

The Audit Commitee ot the Board of Dhirectors, which consises solely of non-employee dinectar. s rexponsible ol
oversesing the functionmg ot the wecounting sy stem and relared controls and the preparution o annual financial statements.
The Audit € omnurtee periodicatly meets with management. internal auditors and the independent aecountants (o review and
evaluate their aecounting. suditing and financial reportimg actiy tiies and responsibilitics. including management’s dssessment
af mternal controb over Bimancial reportimg. The independent registered public accounting tivm and inernal suditors hine ful|
and trec access o the Audit Committee and meer with the conunittee. with wnd without mumasemoent present,

VAN TGLVIEN D S REPORT N INTERN 1D CONTROL QOVERTIN Ive (0] FEDCRTING

Linde’s management is responsible for establishing and muntaning adeguate mternal control over financial reporting.
as such terntis defined in Exchange Act Rule Pxa- 15000 Under the supersasion and with the participation of management,
mneluding the company 's principal executive otticer and principal financial orticer. the company conducted an evaluanon of
the effectiveness of it internal contral over financial reporting based on the framework tn fafersad Connol — fnteer ared
Framework (20131 isued by the Connnittee of Sponsaring Chrganizations of the Treadway Commission iofien refurred 1o as
COSOHL Based o this evaluation. management: concluded that the company s toternal control aver financial reporting was

citective as o December 30, 2008

Trade™s cvaluation of muernal contral over Tnancial reporting as of Decerher 310 2618 did oot include the interiat
control over financial reporting related 1o Linde AG because the business was acguired in s merger accounted for s g
business combiration censummated during 2018, Total assets and sales for Tinde AG represent approximately 20,40 and
9. 3%, respectivels . of the related consolidared financial statement amaounts as ot and for the vear ended December 31, 201 &,

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. an independent registered public accounting firm. has audited and issued their opinion
on the effectiveness of the company "~ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31. 2018 as stated in their
report.

s Steenrs TLUOANGEL 5. Krreey T Hon
stephen FooAngel helees E. Hovt
C hief Frecutise Officer C hief vecounting Officer

s MNatTHEW ) WanTe

Matthew J, W hire Nareh s, 269
Chief Financial Officer




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To e Board of Directors aud Sharcholders of Linde ple
Opinions on the Finuncial Staremems and Internal Conitrol over Financial Reporiing

Woe have audited the accompanving consolidated balance sheets of Linde ple and its subsidiaries (the “Company 7y
as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related conselidated statements of income. comprehensive income. equity and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31. 2018, including the related notes tcoliectively
referred to as the “econsolidated financial statements™, We also have andited the Company”™s internal controf over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in fnrernal Congrol — Integrivted Framevwork 12015 issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadw ay Commission ¢COSO).

[t our opinion. the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly. in all material respects. the
financial posinon of the Company us of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and ihe results of tts aperations and its cash flows for
each af the three vears in the period ended December 31, 200 % 0 conformity with accounting principles generally accepled
m the United States of America. Ao in our opinion. the Company mamtained. in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on eriteria estabiished in fnreridl Contral - resrancd
Fecncwork (201 3y iscued by the COSCL

RBuasis for Opinions

The € ompany s manugemem is responsible for ese consolidated finimeial statements. 1or maimaning eflectine
controb onver financiu!
reporting. included in the accompany ing Management™s Report on Internal ¢ ontrol Over Financrd Reportmg. Our
respansibifity s 1o express opinjons on the Company *s conselidated financial starements and on the Compuny "~ mrernal
control over fmanctal reporting based on our audits. We are a public aecouming firm registered with the Public Compans

internal controd over inanaial reporting, and for i< asseasiment of the effectiveness of internal

vecounting Onersieht Board (1 nited Statesy (PCAOB) and are required to be mdependent s ith respect to the Compans i
aceetdanee ok e TS tederad securities law s and the applicable rules and regalations of the Sevuritios and Eachanee
Caotiiniesend sind e PO NOHA,

We conducted our audits i accordance with the standards ot the PCAORB. Those standurds requine that we plan and
pertorm the audits 1o Ghiin reasonable assurance abott whether the consobdated tinanciai statements arc free of mieral
misstatement. whether due to error o fraud, and whether effectyve imersal control over financal reparting was maintaned
all marerial respects

Our audits ot the comsedidated lMnancial steements included pertorming procedures to ussess the rishs of material
misstdenient of the consoldated financial statements. whether due 1o crror or fraud. and performmg procedures that respond
to thase rishs Sach procedares included examining., on g test basisg evidenee regarding the amounts and discloseres ni the
cutesoludited tnanciad statements, Oue audins also included evaluzaung the aceouniing principies sed and stenthean
estimites made by pwnagement. ws well as ovaluating the everall presentaten of the conschdated financial statemens Ouar
adin of mternad controd over financial reporting inchuded obtaiming on viderstanding of intermal control vver fiuanaiad
reporting. assessing the rish that a material weakness exists. and testing and evaluating the design amd operating effectis eness
of tnternal control based on the assessed rish. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We helieve that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions,

As described in Management™s Report en Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. management has escluded
Linde Aktiengeseiischaft v Linde AG™) from its assessment of internal comrol over finamcial reporting as of December 31,
2018 becuuse the business was acquired in a merger accounted for as a business combination conswmmated during 2078, We
have alse excluded Linde AG from our audit of internal control enver financtal reporting. Linde AG is a subsidiary whose
total assers and total sales excluded from management’s assessment and our audit of internal control over financial reporting
represent 26,4 and 19,370 respectively. of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as ofand for the vear ended
December 312078



Befinition amd Limitasions of Iniernal Conrrol over Finuncial Reporting

3 Compals s iuternal orntrod o er tinancial reporting s a process designad w pros ide reascnable oasurance

ding v abilite o Mnaneia reporing and e preparaiion of nancicl it or nisrnal s
generaily accemed accoanting Tsimternal contrel over financial repor

Fu. A COMpans
r

ALtk . Qo
G Uidi, 155 IChasonan

I : a1l accurately and fairly e
rransactions and dispositions of the assets of the company ; (i1} provide reasonabie assurance that ransactions are recorded as
necessary te permit preparatton of financial steternents in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made onlv in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company: and 11 proside regsonable assurance regarding prevenuon or nely detection of unauthorized
acquisition. use. or disposition of the company s assets that could have a waterial effect on the financial statemenis,

P T s R B IR St .- N R U e
woccdures that {1} poria oothe maintenance of reco

R el sl
:

-

Because of its inherent limitations. internal control over financial reporting mas not present or detect misstatements,
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to futire periods are subject to the risk that conrals man begonme
ingdequate because of chunges in conditions. or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures mayv

deteriorate

s/ PricematerhouseCoopers LLP
Stamford. Connecticut
March 18, 2019

W hinve sorved as the Compum s orits predecesson auditor since 1992,



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOAE
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
tDollur aniqunrs {n millions, excepr per share dutat

Year Ended December 21, 018 b w16
Sales § 14000 & AT % 10334
Cost of sales. exclusive of depreciation and amortization 9.084 6461 IRAS
Sellinu. veneral and administrative 1.625 1.207 1145
Depreciation and amosizanon LR30G 1154 .12z
Research and dey elopment 113 93 9z
Transaction costs and other charges 209 52 6
et gam on sale of busingsses RSN — —
Other income {enpeises)  net 18 4 23
Operating Profit 5047 2444 2247
lterest expoense — net 207 ird 1o
seet potsion and OPER cost thene it exciuding ~ervice cost 43 Ay v
Income From Continuing Operations Before Income Taves and Equity

Investunents S 2287 2048
Friceame fan@s oil COMITUINE operations ST 2o RS
Income From Continuing Operatiens Before Equity Investments 4,252 126010 b4u7
Inovme from equuiy iy esfinents S 47 1
Inveane From Continuing Operations (Including Noncontrolling Interests) AN P 1 AR
frecomie Trom discomintied operations, net ol tis P .-
Net ineome (Fncluding Noncontrolling tnterestsy 4403 Lt PSS
e noncontrolling interests Frot Continging opciations Y (il CAN
[ese noncontrathing micrests o discontinued operations i - -
el Tycome - Linde ple h LANT s 247N b a0

Net Income — Linde ple
P vt odhh COBBnRLING Bpetuliogs w 427200 P2AT N ST

Fconie ron disconilifnued opertions AN s s, 5.

Pev Share Data — Linde ple Sharcholders

Basic cirnimgs per ~hare from coninuimng opeiaiinns h {293 0~ 436008 525
Basic earnings pey share from discontinued operations (L2x — -
Basic eamings per share A i326 S 436§ 528
Dilured earnings per share [rom continuing operauons S 279 % 432 % S0
Diluted ewmings per share from Jiscontinued operations 0.32 — —
Diluted carning- per share S P34 432 < =2
W gighted vverage Shaves Outstanding (0H <)

Rasic shares outstanding 330,401 286,261 285677
Difated shares outstanding 334027 28u 4 I8TTEY

The aceompany ing Notes arg an integral part of these financiad statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
fDallar amounts in millions;

Year Ended December 31. 2018 2017 2016

NET INCOME (INCLUDING NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS: 5 4403

[Pl

L3ox 8 1.3

th
%
s

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Translation adjustments:

Forelgn currency translation adjustments (401 3323 16

Reclassifications 1o net income (Note 4 318 - .

Income taves B 92 i+
Translation adjustuments (76) oS R

Funded status - retirement ebligations (Note 150

Retrement proeran remeusuremenis 2ot i29) 1163,
Reclassiflcations to net mewme R 3 60
Ineome tases (35 (3 27

Funded status - retirement obligations 221 11 (76

Deerivative instruments (INote [
current vear unrealized vatn (loss) : — ]
Reclassifications o pet incame i1y _ o1

Inwonme tixes . _— o

Dertvaiive insiradnents i —

Seurities (Noge Y
Current vear unreatized gain thossy o B
Rechssificatims o nel mcome o

Income taves - _ o

Securities i . _

FOIT AT OTHT R COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) {299 536 (&)

CONPREHENSIVE INCONE oINCTUDING NONCONTROLLING

INTERESTS) A 106 i.8-44 F.530
L ess: noncontrolling interests (83) (95) 134
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - LINDE PLC ) 4023 % F749 0% 196

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BATANCE SHEETS
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Dollar amownts in millions)

December 31, 2018 2017
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents b 4466 % 617
Acgcounts recenvable — net 4,297 1.710
Contract agssets 283 —
Inventories 1.651 Al
Assels held for sale 2 498
Prepaid and other current assets 1.077 344
Toral Cirreni 1iseis 17.27°2 3,283
Propertv. plant and eguipment - net 29717
Eguits investmems 1838
Goodwill 26.NTd
Other mtangiblc assets —net 16,223 TNS
Orther long-tem; asscls i 262 SR
Toraf Aase % 93386 & 20 450
Liabilities and Eqguiiy
Secounts pasiable N RIS 9
‘ short-term debe R AR
} Current portion of long-tern deh jLR2s By
Contract habiiies P4
Seorued raves HhaT AR
Prabilites of assets held tor <ple Thn
Other current labihines . 3.TAN 9n
Totad Crorrens Diahiline. 12,956 3307
Long-term debi F2ONK TUURE
Othier Tong-tenm brabilities 3453 TOSEN
Deterred eredits Tt .25
foral {aahriciio 2. 200 Ta.uld
Comnutments aad contingengies thate 1)
Redeemuble noncontroiling interests 1t i
Linde pic Shareholders” Rquin
Ordinary shares (2018 €0.001 par value. authorized 1.730.000.000 shares, jssued
SR1.310.272 ordinary shares: 20170 and Comnon stock 30,01 par s aluc. authorized
ROOMG.000 shares, issued 383,230,025 <hares) 1 4
Additional paid-in capitl 40151 4.084
Retained earnings 16,529 15.224
Accumulated other comprehensive income tlossy (1.d56) i1.008)
Less: Treasurs stock, at cost (2018 - 3068042 shares and
2017 — w6 453 634 sharest (0293 {71960
Total Linde ple Sharehoiders™ Fquits S1.596 6018
Nongontrolling interests 2484 193
Towd Egrine 570580 6.5H
Toral Liahilivios wond Equry B Y3AR6 S 20,426

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial siatements,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASHFLOWS
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Millions of doflurs)

Year Ended December 3. MUK 2017 2810
Enerease 1 Deceenser in Cush und Cash Equivalents
Operations
ST - . LLIeT R 170y
evindume rom diseontived operatinns, net of N — -
A o oentin. i oz [ 2%
SPETATON s i ] LS N =N B ERN 1535
Adrasuments toorecancile WOmE todsh pronided b operaing asnuin
Trnisactian coste and ather oh FONEUAT AL e R Zr w3
SO mer T T Toer Y e — -—
Fi S0 Idmne L GHarge e N AR -
Depreciatien and anont 1850 P i z
crred o wes 2y clding Tos 20 - = ]
o NI T RS nr e B
I I T B TR F TN P - -
Sarmeastcharees and ol TE La R
WG b sl
Dot reven Gl S0 SOy R
I ent 1y '2 [REX
Prepeod and wiher current asscis L 0O
P abies anid et anl - oxT o2 Y2
Pensvon contrbiaon- [ R 1
Loniesyerin essels Tabilinae e el i [ oo
e cust oroode by oper s . RRE] T TR
Investing
L enpariditen s cronN U [ T
St tobes, Tt af cosb e g 5 e Y
Preessigiies wnd sl saloss et ot RRUNIS B AN
Cusdranined e ratisa o [N
et cnsb provided heoriee s oo SOALG t | VLT
Financing
Sheert=terin b b e cepe s 0 e Itk RN [ et
[ RPN ode b R rane - ~ 1 (PR
[N T R S NP AR TR THO N T i [ T
Fewsio e ds o vnd e ot o NE [ 50
Frorchacoos ot Vo T NN
t o rdeiads s 1ol R o, R
ot B e se e~ s e A atbier v T [
Netcash tsed 1or finanaimg actinies [ERERY] Plnien 1HhAY
Discantinued Operations
Cash pronaded by operating et jties ~ 45y —_ 0~ —
Cash imad formmvesting avonies [Ny —
Cash provded by Imancimg acnn ities 2 - —
Netvisb provided by discontmued onerions o — —
FHecr ot enchims rate changes o casloamud cash ey vl zZ 1~
Chanze mcash aimd cash equit alonts 2UNG R R
Casliarnd cash cquivadents, beomning-ol-netimd nl” ]
Caskond cosb equin alents meludmy discontimied op.rtion, > EXGUIRI nlTos
Casboand cosh equinalents of diseonunned operations (13T — —
Cashand cosbequnalents. end-or-pened ~ Jdoe s nitoos 34
Supplermental Daea
T ome e~ pand ~ TETos TrEoos R
Insterest pand. net of capialized mreres? 1N ote ~ 2id N Ind40N Y

The gecompanying Notes are an integral part of these finaneial statements,
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TLINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTE L FORMATION OF LINDE PLC AND BUSINESS COMBINATION OF PRANAIR, INC, AND LINDE AG
Formation of Linde pic

Linde ple (Linde™ or ~the company ™). a public limited company incorporated in Ireland. wgs formed in accordance
with the reguirements of the business combination agreement. Jdated as of June 1, 2017, as amended tthe “business
combination agreement” ). Pursuant o the business combination agreement. among other things. Praxair. Inc.. 2 Delavare
corporation +"Praxait”). and Linde Aktiengesellschaft. a stock corporation incorporated under the laws of Germany i"Linde
ACT agreed o combine their respective businesses through an ati-stock transaction. and become subsidiaries of the
compam reollectively referred to as “business combination”™ or “merger™). On October 31, 2018, Linde plc completed the
business combination. Prior o the business combination. the company did not conduct any business activ ities other than
those required Tor it formanen and matiers contemplated by the business combination agreement.

Business Combingtion of Praxair, Inc. und Linde 4G

The business combinauon has been accounted for using the acguusition method of accounting in avcordance with the
provisions of Financial vecounting Standards Board {7FASB™) Accounung Standurds Codification 17 ASCT) 8OUS, “Busiizenss
Cropphinarions ™ Owith Praxair representing the accounting aeguiver. Pursuant to Rule 12¢-30a) under the Exchange Act as ot
October 31, 2018, the compuny beeame the successor ssuer to Praxair. Also, the Linde ple shares are deemed o he
regi~stered under Section | 2thy of the Exchange Act. and the company 12 ~ubject to the informational requirements of the
Vschange At and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. The Linde shares trade onthe New York Stock
Exchange and the Frankfurt Stock Fachange under the geker svmbol “LINT. Prior to the business combmatian. the Prasair
shares were repistered pursuant 1o Section 12ib) ot the Exchange Actand hated on the NYSEL fn connection with the
comipiction of the business combination. the Privair shares were suspended trom tradmyg on the NYSE as of close of business
i Y ork Timey o Ouvtober 50020150 On November [0 Provan tied o borm 25 o delist and deregister 1s three series
ol Duro~denominated netes o mncluding 1ts 150" Nates due 2020, 12000 Notes due 2024 and 162300 Notes due 2025 that
woere Disted on the NYSLL Trading of the Bure-denonynated notes on ihe NY SE was suspended as of close of business (New
York Timeron November 2 201 and Prasair filed o Form 15 with the SFC termimating the regaration under the Fuxcehange
At od it sevurities and suspepding Privvair™s reporting obligations under Section [3rdh of the Tsehange Act

Inn conmedtion with the business comibination. the company, Praxisy and Linde AG entered into sarions agreements w ith
regulatory authorities to <atsfy anti-trust requirements te seeure appronal to consammate the business combination. These
agreements included e sale of the majority of Praxair’s Luropean busingsses isubsegquenty completed on December 3.
2odisy the majonty of Dinde AGTs America’s business (subsequenthy completed on March L2000, as well s certain
divesttnes of other Prisair and Linde AG businesses in Asiaihat sre eapected W be sold i 2009 eollectively the "mierger-
related divestitures" See Noe 4 for additional mformation relating o merger-related divestitures

Lo obwain merger approval im the Umited States, Tinde. Praxair and Linde AG entered into an agreement with the 1S,
Foderal Trade Commission dated October T, 2018 ¢hold separate order™ or "HSO™). Under the HSO. the compuany. Prasair
and Linde AG agreed o () confinue to operate Linde AG and Praxair as independent. engoing. economically viable,
compelitn e businesses held separate. distinet. and apart front each other’s operations: (i) not coordinate any aspect of the
operations of Linde AG and Praxair. including the marketing or sale of anv products: and (iiir maintain separate financial
Jedeers, books. and records that report on a periodic hasis. consistent with past practices. the assets. liabilities. expenses,
resenues, and income of each. untif certain divestitures in the United States have been completed. The restrictions under the
hold separate order were lifted March 1. 2019, concurrent with the sale of the required merger-related divestitures in the
U nited Stutes.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidarion — The consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting
principles generalls aceepied in the United States of America (= U.S. GAAP™) and include the accounts of all significant
subsidiaries where control exists and. in limited situanions. variable-ingerest entities where the company is the priman
beneticiary. Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation and any significant related-party

transaciions have been disclosed.

Equity investments penerally consist of 20% 10 30% s onvwned operations where the compiny exercises significant
influence. but does not have control. Equity income from equity investments in corporations is reported on an after-tax basis.
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Clhanges i ownerslup mieress that vesult eaher i Constildution o1 decorsalidation o1 wi mvestment are resordod at
fatr value through eamings. ncluding the retaned ownership interest. while changes that do not result i either consolidaiion
or deconselidation of 1 subsidiary are reated as equity transavtions.

Ese of Estimates — The preparsnon of finaneial statements o conformin wath U5 G AAP reguirss mans

ERTR
make estimates and assumptions thar affect the reported umounis of assers and liabilines and the disciosure of contineent

assets and liabilities at the date ot the financial starements and the reportad amounts ot revenues and expenses during the
reporting periad. While actual resuirs could differ. management believes such estimates wo he reasonable,

Operations — 1 inde is the largest indusmal goses company worldwide, The company produces, sells and disributes
atmosphieriv. process und specialty gases. and high-perfomuance surface costings o adnerse stoup of indusiries mcluding
aerospace. chemivils, tood and beverage. electronivss energy . healthoare, manutacturing, and metals, Tinde '~ Inymeering
Division offers its customers an extensit ¢ funge of was prodaction and processing services inctuding supphing plan

compongnts and services direcils Lo customers,

Revenne Recognition — tecnne Jandary 0 2015, Lingde adopied the FASB™ Sccouniing Standards © pdare
N 201400 ASC 067 relating 1o Revenue Recognition Revenue s recounized as connol of goads or servic e o

s ferred e costomers i an amount that refleers the consideration o which an entite expects (0 e entrtled Lo receing i
eachunge tor the poods arseryives, Refer i footnote 21 for addinonal detals regarding Linde revenuy recogintiog,
policies Prior o adeption of ASC 06 reventie was recognized when a firm safes agreenient eniss, collectabilinn ot a Iived
o deternanuble sales prive s rewsonably sesuredsand when trtde and rishs of s nership waes Ler o the customicr for prodag
siibes o e Ui case o athier revettnes when obligetions sre satistied or services are performed. The adoption ol ASC Bhé
resulted i nocdstterences inres onae jovociiitlon compared to presious policies,

Cash Eyguivalenie - Cashcgun cdents e considered to be bighh bogund securntios aonh ongemd snatinine. o ihees

ronths or foss

frivenrories  Inventories are staded ot e losver of cost or net reabizalle value. Costis detetmined e The v erid e

vost nethod.

Property, Plant and Equipment — Ner Property, plant and equapmient are carmed al cost net of aeeumidated
depreciaton. The company capitalizes inierest us part ol the cost of constructing magor tacilittes tee Sote T Depreciation
I~ cadeulured onothe strameit-Tine method based o the estonated usetud lises of the assets, whindh rnge from 3 veass T 40
vedis isee Yot e Dinde ues aocclarated depreciation sacthods Tor 1oy purposes whore sppropiate. Ninienanee o

properte, plast and caumpment i geneetl v o pensed aonenered

The vompans pertorme a test tor impairment wheneyer events or changes in vircnnistunees indreate that the s g
amoeunt ot an individoal asset or aaset group may oot be recoverable, Shoutd projected undscounted Tutare cash Tow s be fess
than the carrving amount of the asset or isset group, an impairment charge reducing the carrying amoust to fair value s
requited. Tair value is determined based on the most appropriate valuation techmgue. including discounied cash Mows,

{sset-Retirement Obligations — An asset-retirement obligation is recognized in the period in which sutficient
mformation exists to determine the fuir value ot the liability with o corresponding increase to the carmy ing amount of the
related property. plant and equipment which is then depreciated over s uselul life. The Hahilits i< initally measured at
discounted fair value and then aeerction expense 1 recorded m each subseguent period. The company’s asset-retirenient
abligations are primarily asseciared with its on-site loog-term supply arrangements where the company has built o raciling on
fand leased from the customter and is obligated to remion e the tacihiny at the end ot the contract term. The companys asset-
retirement abliparions are not matenal o its consolidated financial staremens,

Foreign Currency Translation - Tar most foreign operaiions. the focal currency i~ the functional currency and
ranslation gains and fosses are reported as part ot the wecumulated ather comprehensive income doss) component of equin
as g cumulative translation adjpustment csee Note U,

Financial fnstruments — Linde enters into varous dernvatin e financial mnstroments o manige 1= @3 posure o
tluctuating interest rates. currency exchangs rates. commaodity pricing and energy costs. Such instruments primariy inelude
mterest-rate swap and treasury rate lock agreements: currency -swap agreements: fora ard contracts: currenes options: and
commoditi-swap agreements. These instruments are not entered into for trading purposes. Linde onfv uses commonly vaded

ated nen-les craped mstruments



tec nped of derivitives the campany Saters into: (11 those reluting to fair-salue exposores, (i those

and i those relating o fereign cureney ner investment exposures. Fair-value esposures

ihilitizs, and finn comminments, cesh-Tlow evposures relare 10 the variabi of futey

dnasets or Habilities, or forecssted transactions: and net invesoment

sochanes tute changes ol

Lposures relaie g the

cartn i valne 2f net assers denominatad in forcian curpencies.

When a derivative 1s executed and hedge accounting is appropriate. it 1s designated as either a fair-valye hedge. cash-
tflow hedoe. v a net insestnient hedge. Currently. Linde destgnares all interest-rate and treasury rate locks as hedges for
pooauling purposes: how ey er currency contracts are gensrally not designated as hedges for acceunting purposes uniess they

are refwied o lurecasied transacuons, Whether designated as hedges for accounting purposes or not. all derivatives are finked
o an appropriate wideriving exposure. On an ongoing basis, the company assesses the hedge effectiveness of all derivann es
designated w hedges for accounting purpeses to determing if they continue to be highly effective in oftsetting changes in fair
values o cah flows of the underlang hedged 1rems. 111t is deternuned that the hedye is not highhy effective, then hedge
acccantiug vl be discontinued prospectively,

 hanges in the tar value of derivatives designated s fairy alue hedges are recognized in earnings as an offset to the
Shonge i the fun values of the underlving exposures beiing hedged. The changes in fair value of derivatis es thar are
el

pried e casli-flow hedoes are deterred maccumalated other comprehenan e icone (loss) and are rectassitied to
artnes as e underbving hedged tansaction affects earnings, Any inetfectyeness 18 recognized in earnings mmaediedy
Hedges of net i estiments it torergn subsidiaries are recogmeaed in the cumnulatn e translation adiustment component of
dectinatated other conprehensive meome tossd on the cansolidated balance sheets 1o offset ranslation gains and Josses
amse it waththe bedueed net imvestinent. Depivatives dat are entered e tor tisk-managemant purposes s are not
destgrtaied ds edges g imarts related (o anticipated net income and currency derivatives other than for 1inm commimments
are revordad s then fir marker salues and recognized i current camings.

see Sote [ tor adiimonal wtormation relaang to tiancal istramenis.,

Coodwill  Sequrations e aceonnted for usnre the wegquisition method siuch requires ailocation of the purchase prrive
1o e U v e tand aend g hine s assamied bosed onestimaed fare valies Ay cveess olthe purchase price over the b aduy
o e assets and Tdnalioes acgquied is revorded as goodwall Allocanions o1 the parchise price are bascd on prelmiman
cxlinate s ad dssinnperens AU date of acgursinon and ave subiect e revision bused o fmal mtonmanien secensed. mcliding

apptiisabs ad other soady ses which support underls g estnntes,

Phe compuny perbmiis o goodw b impairment testanmnuathy i the second guarter or more fregquenthy i events or
itcurmstees midicate that oo impairment loss may have been incurred. The applicable puidance allow s an entity to firs
assess guabitative Gcters o determune Wi is maere Tihely thu not that the far vadue ot reporting ot is less than carrving
catne, FEICES determined that i more Tikely than not that the i value of wreporting onit iy less than carrsimge value then
e ompany Wil estmate and compare the 1 s atoe ob 1 reportmg unns to o carrving s aloe includimyg soodw il
Reporiing anils are determined hised onone Tevel below the operating sepment level, As applicable. far s alue i derermimed
thiongls the tse of projecied Tutme casi lows, multpies of eamings nd sales and other factors. Sucl analy sis requires the
e o cortain narket assumptions and discount factors. which are subjective in pature.

see Notes Fand 11 for additional information relating to coodwill,

Other Intangible Assets — Other imangible assets. primarily customer relationships and brands/tradenames. are
antortized over the estimated pertad of benetit. The determination of the estimaied pertod of benelic will be dependent upon
the use and underlving characteristics of the intangible asset. Linde ¢valuates the recoverability of its intangible assets
subjeet 1o amartization when fact< and circumstances indicare tat the carrving value of the asset may not be recoverable. 1t
the carrving value is not recos erabic. impairment is measured as the amount by which the carry ing s alue exceeds te
estiniated T valoe Tar valug is generally estimated based on either appraised value or other valuation wechnigques,
Indetinite Hived intangible asscts related 1o the Tinde brand are evaluated for impairment on an ansual basis or more
frequenth 1 cvents or circamstanees indicate an impairnent Toss may have occwrred.

See Notes 2 and 12 for additional imformation relating to other intangible assets.

1sseis Held for Sufe and Discontinued Operations — Assets held for sale. as well as labilities directly related 1o these
as~et are classitied separately in the consolidated balasce sheets as held for sale if the requirements of the FASB s
Socaunting Standards Codification (7 AS

T 3G Properne Planr and Lgnipment are satisfied The main requirements of
ASC Ao are; Gy management having the authoriny to approve the action hus committed to a plan to sell the assets and an
active progran 1o locate a buyer has been inttiated. (111 the assets are available for sale in thetr present condition at «
reasonable marker price. and i a sale within the next rwelve months is probable. Assets classified as held for sale are

s gt the bewer ot v ing amonnt and i s aloe Tess costs poseti, Amortization and depreciation has heen
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discontinued operanens The profit foss from from the expenses and income
from connnuing operations 1n the consolidazed statements of incoinz. In the comsohdated ~tatement of cash 11w . the cash

fiows from discontnued operations are shown separately from the cash flow s from cominuing operations. The information

pronded Dt the Sates relates 1o continuing wperanens i information relaes eaclusiels o discontinued aperatiog- 1his
15 highlighred secordingly.

See Nore 4 tor additienal informanion relaung w assets held tor sale and dieconunued operations.

Tncome Faxes — Deterred income tunes are recorded for the temporan ditfercnces berween the financial statemen: and
L Bases o assets and labilines waing ettty enacted tay rutes Vadnunon ailow imces me cstablistied agmmat deverred s

dssets whieneser circumstiahess indicate that it more ihely than notthat suct assets will o be rechzed 1 future peviods

Lorudet the gurdanoe fon socounting for uneertny m meonie raves, the compains van recognize tie henetit of oy
HoIe Tay position ands b s more kely than not cgreater tian 5070 that the e position sl pe sustained wpen tos
eraminanon. based solely on the rechnical ments of the v position Otherws ise. ne benetis can be recoonized The ws
Penetits recognized ate Meiswed based on the fargest benetit that bas a greater than 360 Hkeliond of bemg realieed uporn
ulimate settlement. Addinonally s the compuny aecrues interest wid related penglies apphicable on ali tay axposares ton
which reserves have been established consistent with yurisdicnional try Lras, Diterest and penaloes e chassiticd as mconme
s expense in the fingncial statements,

see Sole T for addionalintormation relating to meome tves meludinge the ©S Pas s ed Jobs Ser cnacred

Decomber 2007

Retivemens Benefirs - Most Dinde emplos ces participate ioa orns of dedined benefitor conibution retiremeni phan.
and additiordly cortam emplovees are chigible to partiapate i varous posi-amploy mem health cne and BEe s man.
henetit plans The cost of contribution plans s recognized in the vear carned v il the cost of ofher plans is recoeniood ot
the employees” exvpected sersice periad to the company . adl inaccordance with the apphicable acoomnung standuds Tne
funded status of the plans = recerded as an assct or iabtlne m the consolidated badance shevts Panding ol retiement

bencfits wares and 1s i accordance wath focal faws and practices.
Sec Note bador addivonal information reiatmy ta rerrement progrinms

Sharce-bused Compensation The company has lustorically aranted share-based anards which consist of stock
options, tesiricted stock and performiance-based stoch s Shae-based compensation oxpense i~ senviabhy recognized ona
strarzhi-Tine hasis over the starea sesting period, For stock awards cranted to todisrenremenc-chisihle enpios e,
compeisatin @xpense i Tecognzed over the pertad Trom the vrant date toothe dute retienicnt chigebiling i~ achicead Bl
perfermanye-hased purds compensation expense s recognized anby 10t is probable thithe pertormance condition wilt be

achieved.
See Note 17 tor additional disclosures relating to share-based compensation,

Reclassifications - Certain prior years” amounts have been reclassified 10 conform o the current vear’s presentation.
inchuding reclassificagons on the consolidared statements of income and ~egment operating profit reluring to the adoption of
accounting guidance on the presentation of net periodic pension and postretirement benefir cosis,

As aresult of the merger. certain reclassifications of prior period amounts were made to unprove comparabibin and
conterm with the current presentation. Presentation chunges were made to the consolidared balance sheets. T additon,
certam reclassitications of prior period data were made in the Notes ro the Consolidated Financial Statements o conform
with the current pertod presentation. These reclassifications include: (11 the reclassification of capitalized software from
property plant and equipment — net to other intangibles - net (see Note T and 111! the reclissitication of VAT receivables
and VAT pavables from accounts receivable and accounts payable. respectively. 1o ather current assets and other current
Habiliies, respectively, 1see Note 9,

Recently Issued Acecounting Standards
Accounting Standards Implemcnted in 2018

The following siandards were effective for Linde in 2018 and their adeption did net bave a signiticant impact om the

consohidated financial ~tatements:



. Revenue Recognition - [n Slay 2004 Financias aloounting Standards Board ¢ FASB7) issued updated

putdance on the reporting und disclesure I revenue, Effective Jimuary 1. 2675, Linde has adopred this

voadance vang the nur hnc drerrcspecth et siion mrethed, Mo material differences i revenue recognition

aocounting were identified under the new guidange commpared with i'he cotlpany s historic revenue

rEC OETITION ACCOunTing 18ge hote 21
. ( lassitication of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments — In Augost 2016, the FASB issued updated

cutdance on the classification of certain cush receipts and cash pavments within the statement of cash flows
The update provides accounting guidance for specisic cash flow tssues with the objective of reducing
diversin m practice. The adoption of this suidance did nothave a marerial impact on the financial
SLTeINens.

. Intra-Entity Asset Transfers - In Octaber 2016, the FASE issued updated guidance for income tax
aceounting of intra-entty vansfers ot assets other than inventors . The update reguires an entity to recognj ze
the income fav consequences of an ipir-entiny trancfer of an asset other than imentory in the period when
the tunster oceurs, The adoption of this guidance did ot have @ material impact on the financial stalements.

. Pension Costs — In Maveh 2007 the T ASB issued updated cuidanee oo the presentation of net periodic
retision costand net pertodic postredirentent bonetin cost. The new puidance vequires the service cost
component be reported 7y the same Ting item or ttems as other compensation costs arising from seevices
vendered b emphon eos dunng the pertod. The other components of net henefit cost are required to be

presented i the inceme statement separatels from the service cost component and not included within
operatig profit Ths guidance was adopued i the first quarter 2018 Accordingly, non-service related
components vl et periodic pension and postretirement benefit costs werc reclassificd om of “Operaiing
Profir™ 1o Net pension and OPEB cost thene (it . oscluding service vost™ using the practical expedient to yse
ihve anoanits discloacd i the setirenient benetits note 1or the priot comparative perseds s the estimation

B dor apehone e sonospeciin e ProscRbd et reguti ciivhils aee Note I

. Reclassification of Certain Fay Tfects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Incomce o b ebraan
Jtrisothe FASD ssged opdaned goidance whaeh allew s aoreclassificauon frony aectmulated other
cotprenessive oo toorctamed carmiaes ror strianded tas eftects resadting from the Tas Cuts and Jobs
Sot The company adopied s sirdance i die tousthy quarter of 2008 resubting moa reclussification
adinstment of S55 pulinon

leconnting Standurds to be lmpiemented

. Leases L bebroaes 20060 de TASE wxied updited curdange on the aecoumting and financial statement
proscetitating of leases The new guidance requites lessees to recognize a righteoteuse aaset and Tease Habilin
tor adt leasess exeepo those that mcet certins scope cxeeptions, and would require expanded quantuative amd
drabibabn o disetosures. This cudance wdbbe effective o e company beginnimg i the Hst quarter 201y
and requires compuames o wansttion usmg anodified rerrospective approach. Linde has implemented a new
apphication to administer the accounting and disclosure requirements and is finalizing s determination of
the impact the standard will have on s consolidaied financial statements.

. Credit Losses on Financial Instruments — iy fune 20100 the TASB ssued an update on the measuremen
ol eredit Tasses. The guidance introduces a new accounting mode! for expected credit fosses on financial
instruments. mcluding trade receivables. based on estimates of current expected credit losses. This guidance
will be effective tor the company beginning in the first quarter 2020, with early adoption permitied
beginning in the first quarter 2009 and requares companies o applhy the change iy accounting on a
prospective basis, The company s currenily evaluating the impact this update witl have on the consolidated
Financiad statements

. Simplifying the Test for Goodwili Impairment - [ Linuary 2017, the FASB 1ssued updated guidance on
the mensurement of goudwill, The new guidance eliminates the reguirement to caleulate the implied fair
value of goodwill (o measure a coodwill impairment charge. The guidance will he effecrive for the company
beginning in the first guarter 2020 with carly adoption permuitted. The company does nor expect this
cuidimee 1o have a material impact,

. Derivatives and Hedging — In Auvgast 2007, the FASE issued updated guidance on accounting for hedging
activities. The new uuui mee changes both the designation aind measurement for quatifving hedging
rebativnships and e prosertation of hedze results This cindance will be etlective for the compan
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NOTE 3 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Vicrger of Praxair, fne. aid Linde 1G

A odeseribed in Note 1. on Uetoh

through an
ail-erack transactien and hecame subsidiaries of the company.

In connection with the business combination. each share of common stock of Praxair par value $0.01 per share.
cexcludipg any shares held in weasury tmmediately priov to the effectiv e time of the merger. which were automatically
canceled and retived for no consideration) was converted inoe one ordinary share, par value €0.001 per share, of Linde plc.,
vdditionally, each wendered share of commoy stock of Linde AG was comverted inte 154 ordinary shares of Linde ple.

As provided m the business combination agreement. at the effecuive time of the business combination owstanding
Praxair stock options and other equity awards were generally converted into stock options and equity awards ona 1:1 basis
with respedt v Linde shares, Ouistanding Linde AG share-based compensation gw ands were etther settled in cash (for the
portion vesredi ar are required (o be converted e sunifar stock options abd eqity wwards with respect to Linde shaves ¢ for
the portion umvested . atter giving effect o the |54 exchange ratio. This gramt 5 expected (o oceur in the firg hall of 2019,
See Notew beoand [T tor addinonal mtormanon,

Preliminary Vocarion of Purchase Price

I acenmdunee with the FAST s ANC NGn Busines - Codabindons 7 Prasads was determined w be the aecounting
aogtiiter A ~uch, the compuny bas applied the acguision method of gecounting woth respect to the tdentifiable assers unid
{ grtl b

1
Habilites of Tande AGowhich has e beon mensured st extaraded T v glue oo ot the date of the business coatmbingtion.

i accordance with the business combmauon acresnent, Linde AG sharehoiders that aceepted the exchange ofter
revenvad Linde shiares mexchunge for Linde AG <hares atan ovchanee ratio o 1 534 Linde shires for each Linde AG <hare,

1

Pinde ple to | inde 3G sharchelders o the

s v

colyenderatos Dedow pebteets the conmated b vidue ol e 02

ot e A shmres sendered and Tuinde shares tsued m
cocteroe o these Bisde e =haresssobnch s ased o tbes el o o - Psvain shares proor oothe ertectn e thine of

ihe morger o beloher 31, 2018 of Sind =0 et whare

the purchase prive and esimated Tair oo of Tinde 357 nen aesots woguired e ol 1he merger date oneOctober 21

St e presented as follow s

BT L L T S TSP S NVR (N D

rmie SOccommoen stock tendered as of Ovtober 310 20050400 1707 R Shares
Pt s combmiation derecie it exchange ratie o [ENE
Cinde oo rdiany shorees fssacd o eschanoe o b SR 2634
e e prive of Prasain, Ine, cotmmian stock i b Lo 30
Parchuse prce tnlhiens of dodlurs - 43.08N
(i Sumber of Linde AG shares tendered inthe 2017 Buchange OfYer.

tits E~xchange ratio tor Linde AG shares a-~ set forth in the business combination agreenient.

fiil Closing price of Praxair shares on the Now York Stock Exchange prior ro the effective time of the business

combimaton on October 31, 208,

In accordance with ASC 803 Linde AG s assels and habihities were measured at estnmated fair values ar October 31,
200s. primarily using Level 3 inputs excepr debt which was Level 1) Estimates of fair v adue represent management’s best
estimalc of assumptions abowr future events and uncertainges, including signiticant judgments related w future cash flows
psales. costs, vustomer atirition rates, and contriburory asset chargesi. discount rates. competitive trends, market comparables.
and vthers. Inputs wsed were generallv obtained from historical data <upplemented by current and anticipated market
conditions and growth rutes.

The 1ollowing table swmmarizes the pretuminars allocation of purchase price to the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by Linde. with the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of Linde AG s net assets recorded as
goodwill, Due to the timiny of the business combination. the magnitude of and mult-nationa! nature of the net assets

avanirads and the fold separate order gSee Note Powhich deterred integration of the tae merwed compames. zt Decentber 21,

6



201% the valuation process wo detenmine the fair s alues 1s nat complete and furibier adjustinents w200
compans has estmated the prei%m;“an' Talr value ni Bet Gasels aoguired bq\:d <l mium' AT Qurvernt
Connte o adjust those estimaies as additional infornieton belomes avaziable, analy
W market participant assumptions. finglizauon of 1@ax retuems m the pre-mearrer
accounting at the subsidiars level. The aveas where the fair v alue asseasments are not finalized and. therefore. subjzct 1o
adjustment during the measurement period relate primarily to identifiable intangible assers. properte. plant and equipment.
net assets held for sale. equiry mvestments. imcome taxes, noncontrelling interests, contingencies and zoodwill, As the
company tinalizes the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. additional purchase price allocation adjustments
vill be recorded during the measurement period. but no later than one vear from the date of the acquisition. The compam
Wity reflect taeasurement period adjustments in the period in which the adjusimients are determined,

capplication o pusii-dons

Therefure, final determination of the faw values will likely result in further adjustments w the values presented in the
tallowing table:

Vi Estimated Fair v adue
Lssets
Cash and vash equivalent- =~ IR
Aecodnts recenvable i 2Ny
[y enturies [452
Asets held for e RIS
Prepaid and other curment asseis P23
Propertv. plant and caquipment 1938
quity tivesiments L3905
Crovndwill IS IR PY Y
Oither ntungible dssets [3.502
Otlier foli-Ternn dssels o243
o Tsecis dogiined $ BRRIS T

I.ess: Liabilities Assumed

Accowts pinable 5 13RO
Shart-terny debt L
Current portian of Jong-torm Jdebt | 864
evrued anes [ <0
[yakilities o aasets held tor <ale s
Cnher current habihoes RNITER
Long-term dehs (293
Other long-term liabilities (RO
Deterred credits. including deterred income laxes f.754

Tored Livhitirics 1ssumed 5 25,209
Less: Yoncontrolling Interests 3146
Purchase Price (i) 5 RETRYS

i Sce above for the caleulation of the purchase price.
Summary of Significant Fair Value Methods

The methods used 1o determine the fair value of significant jdemitiable assets and habihves included in the pretiminary
allecation of purchase price are discussed below.

Divenrories

Acguired inventory s camprised of fintshed goods, work in process and raw materials, The forr value of finished gonds
was culvnlared as the extimated selling price. adjusted for coss of the selling ofort and 2 ressonabie protis allowanee relann




o the «elling effort. The fair value of work in process nventory was primarihy caluiated as the estimated sefling price.
adjusted for estimated costs 10 complete the manufacturing. estimated costs of the selling effort, ax well as a reasonable profit
margin on the remaining manefacturing and selling effort, The falr value of rasw materials and supplies was derermined based
on replacement cost which approximates historical camryving value, The prelimmary falr value step-up of im entories 15 being
recognized in “Cost of sales” as the inventory is sold.

Assers held for sale and Liabilitics of assers held for sale

As described in Note 1. as a condition of the European Commission ("EC™ ). the U.S. Department of Justice ("DOJ™),
and other governmental regulatory authorities approny al of the mereger. Linde ple, Pravair and Linde AG were required (o
divest various businesses in Europe. the Americas and Asia. The fair value of these businesses has been determined based on
the estunated net selling prices or sales agreements, Actual amounts may differ from this preliminary determination, See
Note 4 for further informarion on merger-related divestitures.

Fropertv. Plant and Equipment

The fair value of property. plant and cquipment was primarily calculated using replacement coste adjusted for the age
and condition of the asset. and i3 cummarized befow:

Property- plant and equipment (7 PP&E™)

{in millions)

Production plans 5 10.739
Storage tanhs .80
Transportation equipment and other 571
Cylinders 2403
Buldimgs .97
Land and IMproy ements o7
Construction in progress P19
Prefmumaes tan salue of PP N U 3

The tinal S s alue determinanon for properts . plant and cguipiient vr estimates of renioning eeetul Hues mas difter
1rons this prefiminan determination,

fefonnpiable Intancible taovers

The tur salue of idenniable intangible aesels is sunmarized below -

Weighted vveraue
smortivation Period ‘

(i years) tin milliomns

ldentifiable intangible assets

C ustomer relationships 27 b 12,355 1
Linde Brand Indefinite | 6dx
Brands Tradenames 2- 57N
(kher intangibles 8 K1l
Preliminary fair value of identifiable intangible assets 26 5 15,562

The fuir value estimate for atl other identitiuble imangible assets is based on assumptions that market participants
would use in pricing ap asset. based on the maost advantageous market tor the asset tie,, s highest and best user. The inal
fair value determination for identifiable intangibles or estimates of remaining useful lives may differ materially from this
preliminan determination. 3

The fair value of the customer relationships imangible asset was valued using a multi-period excess camnings method. a
torm of the income approach. which incorperates the estimazed future cash flows to be generated from Linde AG s existing
customer hase. Lxeess camnings are the earnings remaining after deducting the market rates of return on the estimated \ﬂ]l!;,\
of contyibutory assets. including debt-free net working capital, tangible assets. and other identifiable intangible assets. The
evcess earnings are thereby caleulated for each vear of multi-vear projection periods and discounted to present value.



Brunds Trac 3 s i
Crinzr inangibles primunly includes acquired technology. These intangible assers were valued using the relizf from rovaln,

smes meludes $T.64% million retated o the Linde brand which 15 considered 10 hat e an indatiniie fite.

methed under the income approach: this methed estimates the cost savings generated by a company relaied o the awnarship
“an w-set for whach maoald otherwise have had to pay ravalies or eense fees an rev enues earincd thiough e use of the

azser and disveunted (o present i\ alue.
Fension and Other Postretivement Liabilities

Linde revegnized a pretax net liabilits representing the unfunded portion of Linde AG’s defined-benefit pension and
oeher postretirement benefit (MOPEB ™) plans. Refer to Note 1X for further information on pensions and OPEB arrungements.

Long-Term Debr

The rair value for long-term debt was primartly obtained from third party quotes. as the majonny of the inde AG hond
porttolio s publichy traded.

Deterrod brcome Tux dssers annd Livhilities

he deterred income tav assets and labilities mclude the expected future federal. state and foreign tas consequenyes
asociated with lemporary differences berween the prefiminary fair values of the asset= aequired and Habilittes assumed and
the respective tax hases. Tax rates wiilized m caleulating deferred income 1axes generally represent the @nucted stututon s
rates at the effective date of the merger in the jurisdictions in which legal title of the underls ing asset or habiline reailes. The
tinal fuir value of deterred tncome tax assets and labilities may ditfer from this preliminary determination.

Refer 1o Note ™ tor turther information related 10 meome taxes,
Noncosrolling Iiteress

Noncontrolling interests melude the far value of noncontrolling interests of 1 inde AG, including approvimarels
S22 billion relating 1o the N7 ot Linde A6 shares which were not tendered m the Frehange CHter and are intended te be the
~ubject o' a cash-muerger sgueeze-out. The compans s wholly-owned indireet subsidiary . 1 inde Intermediote Holding A
“Linde Holding 7. whch directdy ownsthe Y2 of Linde AG shares acquired mvihe Lychange Odter. determined the
adequate cash compensation tobe pand to the 870 remainmg Linde AG minotity shareholders in exchange [or the transfer o
ther Einde G shares tor cact Linde AG share, The cash-merger squeeze-out was approsed by the sharchialders of [ inde
AU atan exgraordinary sharcholders mecting of Linde AG on December 12, 20780 but remains subject to court approsal
Alsosas required by German law . g guarantee was obtained from a financial institution cuarantecing the fultillment of | inde
Holdimg s ohligations t pay the minority sharcholders of inde AG all amounts due in connectinn with the squecse-out
Iransaction. [he remaming noncontrolling interests relate to the fair value of historic noncontrolling mierests of Linde AG
ane s subandiaries The finad fair vatue determination for noncontrolling fnterests may differ from this preliminary
determnation.

Dot Dvevmo s

The tirvalue of equity fnvestments was deternined using a discounted cash flow approach. The Tmal air vidue of
cyuity imvestments max Jdiffer from this preliminary determination.

Qiheor dsvers Acguived and Liabilivies dseumed (oxcluding Goodwills
Linde utilzed the carrying values. net ot allowances. to value accounts and notes receivable and accounts payable as

well as other current assets and liabilities as it was determined that carrving values represented the fair value of those items ar
the merger date.

Grocdweff

The excess of the consideration tor the merger over the preliminary fair s alue of net assets acquired was recorded as
goadwill. The merger resulted in the recognition of 824,146 millien of goodwill. which ix not deductible tor 1as purposes.
The goodwill balance is primarily awributed 1o the assembled workforee. expanded market oppartunities and cost and orher
operating svnergies anticipated upon the mtegratjon of the operations of Praxam and Linde AG. The push down of goodwill
to reporting anits 1s not fal and may differ from this preliminary determination,

Resules of Linde 4G Operations Since Merger

The results of operations of Linde AG hase been included in the company s consolidated statenents of income since
the merger. The following tabie provides Linde AG “Sales™ and “Income doss) from continuing operations™ included in the
compan s results since the merger,

Y



November 1, — December 31,
Neifons v qodla 2018

Linde AG Results of Operations

Sales > 25873
Inceme (lasg) from continuing operations™ q {355
* Includes net charges of $451 million related to the impacts of purchaze accounting.

Unaudited Pro Forma lnformation

Linde’s unaudited pro forma results presented below were prepared pursuant to the requirements of ASC 805 and give
eftect to the merger as if it had been consummated on January 1, 2017, The pro forma results have been prepared for
cotparative purposes ouly. and do not necessarily represent what the revenue or results of operations would have been had
the merger been completed on January 1. 2017, In addition. these results are not intended to be a projecnion of furure
vperating results and do not reflect synergies that might be achieved.

The ungudited pro forma results include adjustments for the preliminary purchase accounting impact tincluding. bur
not limsted ro. depreciation und amortization associated with the acquired tangible and intangible asscts. amortization of the
fair value adjustment to investment in nonconsolidated affiliates. and reduction of interest expense related to the {air value
adjustment to long-term debt along with the related tax and non-controlling interest impacts), the alignment of accounting
policies. adjustments due to IFRS compliant reporting conversion to U.S. GAAP and the elimination of transactions herween
Praxair and Linde AG.

The unaudited pro forma results for al) periods presented below exclude the results of operations of the Linde AG
merger-related divestitures (See Note 4) as these divestitures are retlected as discontinued operations. The Pranair merger-
related divestitures (See Note 4 are included in the results from continumg operations, including the resalts trom Praxairs
European business through the disposition date of December 302018, in the unandited pro forma result< presenied below | for
all periods presented. us these divestitures do not qualtfy tor discontinued operazions,

e unaudited pro forma results are summarized below:

Witoans aet ciesfloe 2018 2017
Sades fay 5 Rl Rt 4 N
Income from contmuing operations Y 1739w <7

[

ai Inciudes sales frony Praxair’'s merger-related divestitures of 31,6025 million and %1.55.
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respeciivety,

milhon for the vears ended

Significant nonrecurring amounts reflected in the pro torma results are as follows:

A $3.294 million gain 1§2.923 milfion after tax) was recorded in the fourth quarter 2018 as a result ot the divestiture of
Praxair’s European industrial gases business aad is included in the December 31. 2018 pro forma income from contimiing
operations.

From January 1. 2017 through December 31. 2018, Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG coliectively incurred pre-tax costs of
4736 million ($680 miltion after taxy to prepare for and ¢lose the merger. These merger costs were reflected within the
results of aperations in the pro forma resuits as if thev were incurred on January 1. 2017, Any costs incurred related 1o
merger-related divestitures and integration and to prepare for the intended business separations were reflected in the pro
forma results in the period in which they were incurred.

The company incurred pre-tax charges of $368 millien ¢ $279 million after tax) and $10 million (5% million after tax)
in 2018 related to the fair value step-up of inventories acquired and sold as well as a pension settlement due to the pavout 1o
certain parneipants as a result of change in control provisions within a U.S. nonqualified pension plan. respectively. The
2018 pro forma results were adjusted to exclude these charges. The pro forma results for 2017 were adjusted to include these
charges. as well as charges incurred subsequent to December 31, 2018 but less than a year from the date of the merger of
$13 million ($10 milhion after taxy related to the remaining fair value step-up of inventories 1o be sold and 831 mitlion
{$40 million after tax) related ro an additional pension settlement within the U.S. nonqualified pension plan will occur in the
first quarter of 2019 upon pavment. See Note 18 for further information relating to the U.S. nonqualified pension plan
settlements.

S0



2018 Non-Merger Relared Acquisitions

f

Non-merger related acqusitions of 525 million during the vear ended December 31, 2018 are not material indiv idually

ar i the aggres

It

2017 Acquisitions

During the vear ended December 31. 2617, Linde had acquisitions totaling $33 million, primarily acquisitions of
packaged gas businesses and a carbon dioxide joint venture in North America. These transactions resulted in goodwill and
ather intangible aszet= of 524 million and §3 million. respectively isee Notes 11 and 121,

2016 Acquisitions

During the vear ended December 31. 2016. Linde had acquisitions roraling $363 million. primarily the acquisition of
Yara International ASA s European carbon dioxide busimess (“Eurcpean COZ business™) and packaged gases busmesses in
North Ameriea and Furope. These transactions resulted in goodwill and other intangible assets of $141 million and
S32 million. respectively (see Notes T and 123 In addition. Linde purchased & remaining 340 share in a Scandinavian joint
venture for $104 million (see Note 161,

On hune 1) 2000 Limde completed ap acquisition of 4 European CO2 business. which is a leading supplicr of liguid
CO2and dry ice primartly 1w the European food and bes erage mdustries The busmess operates CO2 figuetfaction plants and
dry ice production factlities across the UK. Ireland. Norway. Denmark. Germany. Netherlands. Belgiwm. France and [y,
This acquisition was accounted for as a business combination: accordingly. the results of operations were consalidated from
June 1. 2076 in the Buropean business segment.

.

The purchase price for the acquisition was approximately $230 million (€206 miilion) and resulted m $ 121 million of
intangible assets. The intangible assets primarily consist of $69 million of goodwill and $51 mullion of customer relutionships
that will be amortized over their estimated lite of 20 vears. This business was subsequenthy sold as part of the merger
Divestitures (see Note 41,

NOTE 4 MERGER-RELATED DIVESTITURES, ISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND NET ASSETS HELD
FOR SALE

Acdeseribed i Note |as a condition of the European Commission ¢ FC™ the U5 Department of Justice ¢ DO,
and other govermmentad regulatory authorities approsal of the merger. Linde ple, Praxair and [inde AG were required (o
divest the followmge businesses:

Praxair Merger-Related Divestitures — Primarily European Industrial Gases Business

A~ condinen of the EC regulatory approval of the merger transaction. Praxan agreed 1o sell the majority of i~
indusirial gases business in Europe. The sale was completed on December 3. 2018 in two transactions. as described below:

. The soctetd Mahana Acetilene @ Derivat S.p AL (°STAD™ Sale and Purchase Agreement dated December 5,
2017 wherehy Praxair agreed. imer afia . to seil it 34« non-controlling participation in it< Tralian join
venure 31AD to s joint venture partner Flow Finin exchange tor Flow Fin's 400 non-controlling
participation in Praxair’s majority-owned Italian joint venture. Rivoira S.p. AL, and cash pavment of a net
purchase price of €90 million ($102 millioa as of October 31. 2018) by Praxair to Flow Fin. This transaction
was completed on October 31, 2018, and:

. The Praxair Europe Szle and Purchase Agreement dated July 5. 2018 pursuant to which Praxair sold the
majority of its European businesses to Taivoe Nippon Sanso Corporation for €5.000 million 1n cash
considerarion ($5.700 million at December 3, 201 8). reduced by estimated normal closing adjustments of
€x6 million %96 million). These transactions were completed on December 3. 2018,

In comection with these transactions. the company recognized a net pre-tax gain ot $3.294 million 152,922 million
after tax) in the conselidated statements of income and refated 1o the Europe segment.

The net carrving value of Praxair’s European business assets and labilities divested on December 3. 2018 is presented
below:

]



Vilfivns of dollar Carryving Molue
Assets
Coslhand cash cquivalenss - ar
Avcounts recais able — net 21
Toventories 6"
Prepaid and other current assets 22
Propern. plant and equipmem — ret 1.542
Equity mvestnients 234
Goochall ol
Other mtangibie assets — net 113
Other long-rern assets 36
Toral Ansers Divested S 2788
Liabilities
Accouits pasable % 215
Accrued taNes 27
Other current labilities 1
Long-erm del N
Orther bomg-term hubilities 02
Deterred credits [E
Tovio! Leeedilinees fhvesiod 5 2]
~Nonconfroling interests $ 200
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Penston OPEB funded statas obBication, noet ol e PN}
Cumuliar e ransinnon adqustimeni net o tases (38
et Assets Dvested S 3.un

ddditionadiv, B sais i resuidors reqinrements b cotiimifiate the bisimoess conibitetion, Prasair aoveed to the
tolowing trimsactons s inch sl be complered daring 201

. Pravars Chilean business which will be sold os part of the Anwericas” P23 1as defined below s tor

SO miHon provecds wineh is further deseribed below
. Narrons transacions withnn Clunas Indin and Soath Korea,
Jooessados related 1o these bismesses were approsamatels Sind mithor

Lffecrive Qctaber 200 2008 ihe dare of fndd reeudanoms approsabs, these businesses han e beon aecounted for as Assers
Held tor Sale on the Consohdated Balance Sheets, These busingsses were evaluated for discontinued operanons acconnting
treatment under LSO GAAT and i was determined that they did not mect the definition of a discontinued aperation as these
transactions did not represent a strategic shitt with a major effect. after considering the impact of ithe merger.

Linde 1G Merger-Related Divestitures - Primarilv Americas Industrial Gases Business
o~ .

As acondition of the LN, regulators approval of the merger. Linde AG agreed to «ell the majority of 18 industrial
gases business i the Americas. as deseribed below:

. The Linde AG Americas Sales and Purchuse Agreement. dated July 16, 2008 as and further amended on
September 220 2008 October 190 2008 and Tebruary 200 2189 whereby Linde A and Praxair. Ine. entered
fnta an agreement with a consorlivm comprising companies of the German industrial gazes manufacturer
Wiesser Group and CONC Caprtal Parters Fund V1T ro sell the majortty of Linde AG™s industria] gases
business in North America and certam industrial gases business activities of Linde AG s 111 South America
for $2.97 billion in cash considecation after purchase price adjusiments for certain items relating (0 assets
and liabihitics of the sold businesses. In addition. divestres include $331 muillion of proceeds for



ENELAL plant salet Wl
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viarch 1) 2ol

Discontinued Operations

IrANSACTIONS W

<

re completed on

Cmly the safes of the Linde AG merger-related divestitures nreet the criteria for discontinued operations. Pravair
merger-related divesttures do not qualify as discontinued operations. As such, operations related 1o the Linde AG merger-
relaed divestitures are included within Income from discontinued operations. net of tax for periods subscquent to the merger.

a8 sumimarized beloy:

Milfions vf dodlai

Nel siles

Costof sales

2ther eperuting cosis

Operating profiz

Icolie 1ot €guity 1 estinien s
Bconie s

Inconse irans discontinued operations, net of tus
Noncontrothing mteress

Icome trom discontinued operitions, net of s and noncontrolling

-

November 1. -
December 31, 2018

q

S 35
[

a0 0A

e
to
N

5 [0S

Forthe yveur ended December 310 2618 ihere swere no material amounis of deprectation, amertization, cupil

eanpetditire s, or stgniticrut operating o v sty non-cash tems related o discantivued operations.

Net Assets Held for sale

Neetanscls held Tor sade includes both the Pinde AG merger-related divestitures it meet the eriteria for discontinged

operations and the Prasair merger-relined divestitures that do nots As of Decenther 31, 20018, the Follow ing asscts and

Habilines aee reported as components of the net assets held for sale in the consolidated halance sheets

Millions of doflurs

Assets

Cashyamd cash equin afents

Sevotnes tevenvable ner

s enraries

Prepad and other current assets

Property, plant and equipment - net

Other Assets

Assei adjustments for estimalted fair salue {Note 3)
Torad dssors Classificd as Asaseis Held for Safe

Liabilities

Aceounts pavable

Deterred credits

Other labilities
Torad Liabilivics Clussiticd as Twens Held o Sale

Net Assets Classified as Held for Sale

Carrving 7 Fair Marhket

Value

(B

N

209

”

IR
N7
2A0d

i

A98

125

206




NOTE 5. TRANSACTION COSTS AND OTHER CHARGES
2018 Charges

Tl ZEN o Ae atter-ax and

Transaction costs and other charges were »3uy miiiizn forthe woar 2

noncontroiling interests. or $0.92 per diluted sharey,

Transaction Cosrs

O October 31. 2018, Praxair and Linde AG comibined under Linde ple. as contemplared by the business combination
agreement fsee ote 1) In connection with the business combinaion. Linde incurred transaction costs which totaled
%236 milHon for the year ended Decernber 31, 2005 {3236 million atter-tay .

Other Charges

e

Also included 1n Transaction costs and wther charges are other charges of $73 million for the yvear ended December 21,
2015 ($70 million after-tax) comprised of the following. 11y a $40 mitlion <harge (340 million after-tas ) related o an
unfay orable development related 1o a <upplier contract in Ching, (i restraciuring charges of €210 milhon (518 million
after-taxy and (i g $12 million charge (%12 million afler-raxy wssociated with the ransition to hyper-inflationary accountring
I Argentina.

20017 Charges
Transaction Cosis

hy connecoon with the intended business combmation, Liode imcorred transaction costs which totaled 52 mithon fos
the vear ended December 31, 2017 848 mithon aher-tuy or %007 per dilued share).

2016 Charges
Consd Reduction Program and €ificr Chaiees
I the third quarier of 20160 Linde recorded pre-tes charges wotahing S9o mfhon tsa X slhon afier-tas and

nopcontrolling interests of S22 per diduted shares Podlew e s o starars o ihe pre-tas charge by reportable segimcnn

Severancee

ranitlions of dotlars) CONTS Other Charges [oral

North America 5 id N REEY 43
Ewrope N 3 e
South Americ 3 - 12
EEIH I 12 16
surface 'l L’\'hlll'lh":‘ll(‘\ : 4 -
Tond by RIRTRS Sh% U

The severance costs of S40 million are tor the ehmimation of 730 pasitions, The other charges of %36 million are
primariy related to () the consolidation of operations tor effiviencies and cost reduction primarihy in Northe America and
Surface Technologics, til) integration costs for acquisttions in Europe and North America. and (i1} asset wrire-downs and
other charges related to the impacts of weaker underlving industeral activits. primarily in the Americas and Asia. Amounts
refated to assetwrite-downg are net of evpected ale proceeds. which ave not signiticant,

The total cash requirement of the cost reduction program and other charges was approximately £30 million. The
dctions are completed.

Clerssiticarion in the consaflidarcd tinancial siatement

The pre-tax charges for each year are shown within operating protit in a separate Hne item on the consolidated
starements of incame. In the consolidated balanee sheets. reductions in assets are recorded against the carrving value of the
related assets and unpaid wmounts are recorded primarty as short-term liabilities. On the consalidared statement of cash
flow s, the pre-tax mmpact of these charges. net of vash pavimenis. is shown as an adjustment to reconctle net incone to net
cash provided by operating actinities, In Mot 20 - Segment Information, Linde excluded these charges from its management
definition of segment operating profit ¢ reconcillanon of segment operating protit to consofidared operating profit is shown
within the segment operating profit tabie.



NOTE 6. LEASES

In the normal course of its business. Linde enters into various leases as the lessee. primarily invelving manufaciaring
and distriburion equipiment and office space. Tosa! lease and rental experses under operating leases wie 1 i :
I0EA 5146 miflion in 2617 and S141 milion in 2016, The increase iy 2015 13 a resulr of the merger

At December 31, 2015, minimum payvments due under operating Ieases are as follows:

(Millions of dollars

2019 5 203
2020 156
2021 186
ool 45
2023 12
Thereafter 226
S 1.300
Capitul leawes are included in propern, plant and equipment — net see Noie 105 Relaed obligations are meluded in
debt. Capital Jease expense is recognized as part of depreciatton and merest,
Al Decemiber 31 20T, minimun pas ments due under capital feases are as tollow s
A illions of doliarsy
2049 PS
20240 I
2021 12
RITR iy
2023 =
Thereatfter 42
., 11
I'inance charge included i minimum lease pavinents 5 23

Linde’s leases where it is the lessor are not material.
NOTE 7. INCOME TANES

The vear ended December 310 2008 reflects Praxadr for the entite vear and the Tingde Ava tor thie period beeimning
Cxctober 310 201N tthe merger datey. inchuding the impacts of purchase aceounting. The amounts for historical perinds prior 1o
201 solels reflect the results of Praxair. Sce Notes Land 2

Pre-tay imcome applicable to V.S, and forcien operations 1s as follows:

(Millions of dolluryy

Year Ended December 31, Zill8 2017 2016
United States $ Uil s IS VRI 954
Foreign (a) ENEE 1284 1.094
Taotal income hefore meome taxes by S.049 008 2287 S 2.048
i) Inciudes 4 $3.294 million gain related 1o Burope divestitupe tsee Nones 3 and 91

U.S. Tax Cuts und Jobs Act (Tax Acy)

On December 22 2017 the U.S.

government enacted the Tas Cuts and Jobs Act " Tax Act™yn This comprehensine 1as
levisiation sixmificantly revised the LS. corporate income tas rudes by, among other things. fowering the corporate income
s & ; A g g ¢ |



tax rate from 33%. 1o 21 e, hmnlonmtenting a rerritorial tax system and bmposing o che=lines 6] on aecanilated van

foreign subsidiaries, Given the substantial uncertainties surrounding the Tax Act and the short perod ot time be
December 220 2017 and December 21, 2017 to calewlate the TS, Federsl 1.5 stres end non=L0 S, ta bapacts ol
Act. at December ree on G piovisional restimateds bavis as
SEC Sralt Accounting Bulletin No. 1TIS¢SAB TS7w The compans s 2017 nat previslonad income tax charge of
$394 million has three main components: (1) an estimated $467 mijlion U.S. Federal and state tax charge for deemed
repatriation of accumulated foreign earnings: (it) an estimated S260 million charge for foreign withholding taxes relared 1o
anticipated futare repatriation of foreign earnings: and (i) an estimated $333 miilion deferred tax benefit for the revaluation
of net deferred tax liabilities from 35% to the new 21% tax rate. The $467 million U5, federal and state tax charge for
deemed repatriation of accurmulated foreign earnings includes S422 milhion of decmed repatriation 1@y payable over elght
vears. of which $38% million is classified as of December 31, 2017 as other long-1erni Habilities on the consolidated balance
sheels (see Note 9.

1o

2057 the company accouired for 158 income s <

During 2018 the company continued to evaluate the Tax Act, additional suadanee frons the Internal Revenue Semvice.
ity hustorical foreten carnings and tawes and other tems that could inpact i net provisional ey charze, Additonatls | the
compaiy contivued 1o review its foreign capital structures. organizational cush needs and the foreign withhiolding tay cost of
planned repatriation. In the fourth guarter of 2014, the cempany completed it accounming und updated 1ts proviziong]
estinates in accordance with SAB FEx resulting ina net reduction ot evpense of 8o b million, $410 milhion LS federal and
$20 million of state income tas et of federal tax benetity, This resulted in 2 deemed repaiitation tas pavuble of S291 million
pay able oner the remaining seven sears. of which 5263 milhon 1y classfied us of Docemher 310 200 as other Tong-term
liabtliies on the consolidated balanve sheets (see Note V1.

Further. the Tas Act enacted new provisions retated o the tasation of Toretgh eathangs. known as G T Phe compain
has elected as an accounting policy o account for GILTT ax period coxis when incred.

Additienaliv. i the Tourth quarter of 2018 the company adopied Sceounting Standards Uipdate 20102,
“Revlassitication of Certam Tas Effecrs from Accumutated Other Comprelivimmee ioomc 7 electny o redcJussity the income
tan ettty af the Tuy At fram Accumutated Other Capaprefionsive Indomo ¢ AT o ratiined carnines, Phicesabliod iy
net reduction to NOC T and et incredise to retained carmtngs of S95 Tl S90S gl ditcets debared Tl federad
mevimne L rte change reduced by S5 ailhon inderectls relared woahe fedord e e changse o sLste ineome Lives
Provision for tncome Faves

The follons s 1 un dnaly <is ol the provision for meome taxes,

e Vallics of dofiurs)
Y ear Foded Decemyber 3. N 200 T iy N0

Current tax eapense {benefin)

LS lederud ~ AL RPN NS
state and local (7 wd 30
Foreign [N 374 2t
|03 1.022 304
Deferred tax expense (henefit)
U.S. federal 8 (22 3
State and local 15 fy 7
Foreign {269y 203 123
{INO) A {13}
Total income taxes % ST S 1026 8 251
a Includes a henefit of SAl million and @ charge o N394 million relared (o the Tax Actin 2018 and 2017, respectiv eh

and a charge of SA71 million relared 1o divesttures in 2018 (aee Note 3 ax follow s:



Cuarrent tax expense (henefit)

178 faderal

SUATe dnd e

Foreign

Deferred tax expense (benefit)
LS. federal

State and loca

Forergn

Toral income taxes

Effective Tux Rute Reconciliation

2008 2iT

~ 2w 414
Y T3

114 a0

Y 527

f 1333,

- Zu0
13 (133,

s Al & a9

For purpeses of the effective tay rate reconciliation. the Company utilized the TS starurors income s rate ol 207000
!

2oy and FEc g vears 2087 and 20le0 Ananahvais otthe ditference berween the pros sen 1or meoime 1eees and the moouie

computed by applyving the 1N staiutory income tay rale 0 pre-tax income follow

{Destlaar atmowenis i peiltfions)

Y ear Ended December 31, MR 2017 2016

LS. stawtory meoine ax S L6l 200 s N AN T RRREI
State and toeal taves - net of tederal beneft 20 P, a0 [ N 4o,
15 s eredits and deductions 1) 12 2 127 e A RO
Toreign tax differentials (h) ST 11 v B ERY AN V1 o),
Share Boased Compensition (2 i RN IR NN BTN
Fan At V6l o2y R im2 .
Dy estitires (¢ 1321 (o4t " -
Other net oy N6 | 7 h s, 0 C ("
Provision for inceme taxes t N1 16.2% > LuZe 440 R vy,
) Fos s wredits and deduetions relate to toreign derived imangible income in 2008, the research and

cxperimentation s crediv in 2008 2007 and 2016 and manutacturing deduction i sears 2007 and 2006

ik Privvariby rebuted o differonces between the U7 S o ruse 12

~

(o it vear 200N and 3570 ears

NI

od Debno an

the slatory tax rate 0 the coantries where the company vprerates Ciler permaneni enis and G rate changes were

noed signiticant,

() Divestitures primarily refate to the sale of the company s European business {ace Note 4.

tdhy Other
Furape of $44 million.

Ner Deferred Tax Liabilities

net includes $34 million of VLS tax related to GILTI in 2085 and an merease w1 unrecognized tas benefis in

Net deferred tax liabilities included 1n the consohdated balance sheets are comprised of the tollowing:



1 Millions of duilurs
December 31. 20s 2T

Deferred rax liabilities

Fived assets > 3835 s P12
Goodwill 124 143
Other intangible assets 3684 32
Subsidiary equity investmenis 570 200
Other 648 93

iy L9615 1.636

Deferred tax assets

Carrsforwards N 5
Benefit plans and related ¢ay
Inventory
Acceruals and other by
5 > 745
Less: Nuluation allowances (s (760
b 203 N 667
Net deferred tax labilities * H922 I
Recorded in the consolidated halance sheets as (Note 9):
Orher Jong-term assets 510 X
Deterred credits T4 L16T
§ TR RN G
nr Poclides vheterrad tives o S2U0 ol lion cond S 207 vodkhons i Zecis it 2007 pespectiveiy s rctated 1o petsonn QPR
tunded startus csee Notes S ard TN
(h Meludes S tod ndbion and S0 mihion i 200 and 20070 respectiv by reliated to research and dey elopment cosis,
(<) Summare of vatoation abovances relatng vodetersed s asses Tollos pnullions of dotaesy
018 - 2016
Balanve. Januars 1, g (Th S (137, s (103
Income tas (ohurges beneli o 1S9 o R
Merger with Linde G (120
Oihers imcluding wiste-otts = — "
Translanon adiustments 4 13 Iy
Balance. December 31, ¥ (2371 % t76) & (132
(i 2017 includes a »39 mithion benefit related to the utitization of forelgn tax credits under the Tax Act.

The company evaluates deterred tax assets quarterhy 1o ensure that estimated future 1axable incone will be sufficient in
character (e.g.. capital gain versus ordinany income treatment), amount and tming to result in their recovery. Afrer
considering the positive and negative evidence. a v aluation allowance is established o reduce the asset< 10 thetr realizable
value when manggement determines that it i< mare Fhelv than not (e greater than 30" likelihood) that a deferred tax asset
will not be realized. Considerable judgment is required in establishing deterved tax s aluation aliowances.

At December 31, 2018, the company had S326 million of deferred tax assets relating 1o net operaung losses ("NOL»")
and tax credits and $237 million of valuation allowances, These deferred tax assets include $445 million relating 1o NOLs of
which S35 mithaon expire within 3 vears, SE25 million expire ofter 3 vears and 265 million have no expiration. The deferred
tas asscts alsoonclude S8T million related 1o cradits of which $T3 million expire within 5 vears. $38 million expire after 3
vears. and 530 mullion have no expiration. The valuation allowanees of 2237 million primarily relate o NOD s and are
requited because management has determinegd. based on tinancial projections and available tax sirategies. that it 1s unlikeh



tat the WOLs vl be uilized before they vapive 17 o onts 1 drcumstances changa, valdation atoesnces are cdiusted a1 thar

ime resulling i au meone ran Benetin or char
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s essments as of December 210 2018 & provisioi ke not been mrade £ acs additional g

ivnrelated to itE investments i stbsidiaries becauss the compuny mtends to remain

indefinitely reinvested. While the 530 billion could become subject w additional foreign income iax if there i» a sale of a
subsidiary or earnings are remitted gs dividends. it is not practivable to estimare the unrecognized deferred tax lability,

Uncertain Tax Positions

Unrecognized income tax benefirs represent income tax positions taken on income tax returns bui not yvet recognized in
the consohidated financial statements, The company has unrecognized mcome tus benefits totaling 5319 millton. $54 milkon
and $36 million as of December 31, 2005, 2007 and 2016, respectively, if recognized. essentially all of the unrecognized rax
henefits and related inrerest and penabies would be recorded o3 u benetfit to mncome tas expense on the consolidated statement
of incame.

A reconctliation of the beciining and ending wnom of unrecoznized tax benetns s as tollows:

Ao of dallars, M $ N1T 2010
Unrecognized income tax henefits, Januwars 1 * R BRIV b
Additions For ax positions of prior veuars 1 114 48 O
Reductions for s positons of prios e 07 L2200 L3y
Additions for current vear s positions (b Y -
Reductions tor settlements with taving authorines o) Ry {26} 2
Foreign currency translation and other By 2 i1y
Unrecognized income tax benclits, December 3 A RE AR S48 6
Y [rictease privacrly rebates o tes posttions o the Prred States ansd Frrape,

i1 2008 meludes STo™ mudlion related oo the merger with Linde A,

) Settlements are Uncertnn s positions that were cticatively settled aith the tivimg authorioes including pesitions

areed o amend 1t s returns 1o eliminate the ancertainty

=

whiere the company has a

Fhe company classifes wierest meome and expense related o meome ases as tay expense m the consolidated
staiement of income. The company recognized net nterest expense ol S32 willion in 2008 net mterest expense ot S8 mithaon
n 20070 and netmrerest ineome of S fomilbon in 20000 The compans had S48 nuthon and S8 nulbon of acerned inerear and
ponalties as of December 510 2008 and Decernber 310 2007 pespectivelc which were recorded 1o other Tong-termy Liabilities in
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A< of December 31 2015 the compans remained subject 1o examinanon in the following major 1ax jurisdictions For

the Wy vears us ndicated below:

Aajor tay jurisdictions

North and South America
United States
Canada
NMexice
Brazil

Europe and Africa
[3eleium
Orermany
L uxembourg
Netherlands
Republic of Soutd:s A
Scandinas iy
Spuin

Urnited Kinzdem

Asia and Australia
Sustralil
China
indin
Kooy
AT SUHNTIT

Tinwan

Open Years

2014 through
2011 through
2012 through

2005 through

2013 through
2011 through
2013 through
20113 through
2014 through
2008 through
2004 through

2015 through

2012 through
2008 through
2006 through
2073 through
2004 through
2014 througlh

2018
2018
2018
2018

2018
2018
2018
2018
2018
2018
201N
2018

RGBS
QibI s
AR
2018
2008
20018

Thre company is currently ander audit in a number ot jursdictions, As a result. it is reasonabiy possible that some of

these matters with conclude or reach the stage where a change in unrecognized income 1as benefits may occur within the niest

twelve months, At the time nes information becomes available. the company witl record any adjustment to income ax

cxpense e redguired Final deternvinations, i any. are not expected to he materaib w the comsolidated financial statements,

The comrpans 1< alae subrect oo meeme tises inmany hundreds of state and local taving jurisdictions that are o e Ly
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NOTT B FARNINGS TER SHARE - LINDE PLC SHAREHOLDERS

Bovic ana Di

Numerator (millions of dollars)
[ncante From Contnuing Oprotiogs

I I B RIS CTETALONS, 1TEL [ERRR WA

Inemme ir
NerIneoime — Linde ple

Denominator (thousands of shares)

Weerehted wveruze shares osninding

Shares eared and 1asuuble onder Somipensaiion plans
Woetehited werage shures sed (o hasic carimes per share
Cofect of diduve securines

Stoch options and anoareds

W crehited averaee shases seed e driated curninings per share

Rusic cinines per she brom contmumg operations

Fasiv carmimgs por <hare o discontinoed operitoens
Basic arnings Per Share

Prbarcad cartungs por e ot coniaras opetidioge
Dyiluted carnmgs per share frone discontimued operations

Dituted Farnings Per Share

5 opst share — Lade ple sherzhelders is compuied by Jdividing fnconie From Contnuing

S de o e vertad nv the e elunted
2058 20T 016
N L2750 1247 s 1.200
it — —
% 43808 1247 S 1.500
IROKS N5 RYS INS2RG
Al REh ANK
RESTRI 2862001 2854677
376 2NER RRTINT
3427 cxu 4 INTTET
5 IR 430 525
AN 033 S AN -
~ (IR T Y S S 0s
4 [N 43T 2
% a2 - % -
~ IRTS I AN 432 s S22

A rosttlt o the mweroer, <hre amoaquts Tor the vem ended December 310 2005 reflect nwetghtod average effect of

Procair sheires outs nding prion o4 ctoba S0 20T and 1 inde ple shuares ontstanding ovcand afrer October 31

U

I here svere tooantid et e

~hotecs o the AR endod December 310 200 on 267

Stk nplin{'lﬂ b 2oen2 70 oy ihe

vont emded Dregcmber S0 e antadihnie e and theeetore e chuded mghe computation o b difited carsing s per share.

NOTE GSUPPEEMENT AT INFORMAFION

N

The vear ended Docember 2102018 peflects Prasair tor the entive year and the | inde VG for the period heginning atter

October 3. 2005 tthe merger dater. including the mpacts of purchase acceunting.

208 solely retlect the results of Praxair. See Notes Tand 3.
Tucome Statement

fVillions af dollars)
Soear Lnded December 3,

Selling. General and sdministrative
Selling
Creneral and admmnistrati o

Year Eaded December 31,

Depreciation and ymuortization G
Depreciatinn
Amaortizatien of other imtangibles thote §2)

S|

The ameunts For historical periods prior o

2018 2017 2ile
~ TN =P~ R
. (Y6 [
~ 629 % 1207 0N NES
2ing R 06
N by s [ RN 1.U2N
2= 9] 94
S 1830 S 1LIS4 & 122




Y ear Ended December 31.

Other Tncome (Expenses) — Net
Currency related net gains ¢losses:
Partnership income

Severance expense

Asset divestiture gains (losses) — net
Other — net

Y ear Ended December 31,

Interest Expense — Net
Interest ncurred on delb
Interest capitalized

Bond redemption thy

Year Ended December 31,

Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling mterests” operaiions (o

Redeemable noncontrolling mierests” aperations ¢Note 160

Notcontrolling mrerests from continuing operations
Noncontroling interests from discontmoed aperations
Balance Shect

M illions of doilars;

Becember 31,

Accounts Receivable

Frade

Other

Less allowanece for donbtfual acceounts (d)

December 31,

Inventories

Raw materials and supplies
Work m process

Finished goods

2018 n7 2016

$ 4 % {3 % 1

8 3

{h (6) (7}

il 4 16

n 3 8

g 18 S 4+ 8 23
2018 w17 2016

b 196 % 189 & 208

1200 LY (34

26 — 16

5 RITARERN 6l S 190
2018 27 26

5 12 % KL 38

3 > B

- I nloos s

S v N .
20108 7

\ 43NS N1

42 34

3410 {84y

(L5 (138

3 1,297 % L7110
2018 2017

S 339 % 224

a2l A7

gal A33

b 1631 8§ 614

A




December 31,

Prepaid and Other Current Assers
Frepaid tei

VAT Recoverable

Other

December 31,

Other Long-term Assets
Pension assets tNote Thy
Insurance contracts 1 f)
Long-ternt receiy ables, net 1)
Deposirs

Dy esrments carmned at cost
Deterred charges

Deterred meome tases tNowe 7

Other

December 3.

Other Current Liabilities

Averued expenses

Pavroll

VAT Pavable

Deterrad Income

Pension and postretirement (Note 1N)
Interest pas able

Fmpiusee henetit acernal

Insurange reseres

Orther

December 31,

Other Long-term Liabilities

Pension and postretitement (Note 18)

Tax liabilites for uncertiin rax positions

Tax Act hiabilities for deemed repatriation «Note 7y
[nterest and penaities for uncertain tax postions { Note ~
Insurance reserves

Other

[

1618 2T

anT Bhx

-0 g

460 LS

by L0770 % 344
2008 o1

» 1400 & |~

= 4

[ 34

1 0

T 12

14N +7

~ 10 [AVAN

RE 109

py AN 8 anl
2018 1T

% LS S To

[RIh 170

AR At

240 Y

- 30

137 b

[+ o

RIS z

f.odl JaT

5 RIS Y2e
2018 2007

kY 2004008 hal

191 35

263 RhS

48 S

24 23

Q03 2R3

) 343 S b




December 3. BOTE NiThe

Deferred Credirs

Deferred mootie taxes (Note 7)) L T PoikT

COither 7y A
) 7ol % 1,236

Decermber 31, 2018 2017

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Cumulative tanslation adjustment - net of taxes:

North America ih) > (Y35 % {553
souih Amertca (h) (2347 (2004
Europe thy (1n5y PAUKY
Asiu thy 300y 1
Surface fechnalogies (34 o
Linde A thy o3l -—
(3.5 134355,
Derivatives  ner of taves 12 Ny
Linreatized gam (foss) on securitios v -
Pension-OPEB funded status obligation met of $292 miilion and 8347 million s beneliz in
2008 and 2017 (Nole 18 (S04 16475
hS (4450« id g

farl

th

(h

Capitahized sothware has been reclassified trom propers phine and cqaipmoms not o othier mtaneihies - oo 1 he
associated expense has been reclassified front deprecianon caporse to s tzanion erpense. Phe mpact of this

reclussitication was $30 mullion and $43 millron i 2GTR and 2007, respectneds, 200 deprecianion amd amortization

cxpense melude $223 million and $1271 million. respectiveln. of Linde AGH puriuee secounting impacts

In Drecember 200501 inde repaid $600 milhion of .50 notes due 2059 and €600 mithon ot 130%0nores die 2020

resulting inoa $26 million interest charge (820 million after-tio or S per ditated sharcy, Tn Pebiaars 20ka, | inde

redecmied $325 nullion of 3.20%a notes duce March 2017 pesulting i a 316 mithon mierest charge oS 10 nnilion
affer-tas, or % 0d per dituted share),

SNomcontrolling interests from continuing operattons includes a $35 million charge m 2008 related o e s of
Linde AG Shares which were not tendered in the Tachange (HTer isee Note

-
3

Provisions to the allewance for doubtful accounts were 825 mithion, $33 nuthon. and S mittlion in 2008, 2017, and

2016, respectively, The allowance activity in each periodd refated primarily to write-ofts of uncollectible amaunts.
net of recoveries and currency movements.

Inchudes esumated income 1ax payments of 5172 mithon and $38 mthon in 2008 and 2007, respectinels,

Congists primarily of insurance contracts and other investents to be wilized for non-gualified pension and OPFB
ablivations,

Long-term receivables are not material and are fargely reserved. The balances at December 3. 201N and 2017 are
net of reserves of S46 million and $51 million. respectively, The amounts in both periods relate primarily o long-

term notes receivable from customers and government receivables in Brazil, Collectabibine is reviewed reaularly and

uncollectible amounts are written-off as appropriuie,

Narth Americz consists of carrency translation adjvstments in Canada and Mevico. South Amevica velates prinuwib

1o Brazil and Argentina. Furope relates primarils 1o Spain, Russia and Germany . Asia relates primarily o 4 hana,
India and korea. Linde AG includes currency movements since the merger date and relates primariiy 1o the Buro,

g



NOTE [0 PROPERTY. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - NET

lesses of property. plant and equipnient are as follows 1200 refiects the inpact of the 1

Tazzs : Seand iz i ssnnas oo i

Soamd
eMillions of dollars, Depreciable
December 31, LivesiYre 2018 2017
Production plants rprimarily 15-vear fiter tay 10-26 S 247 2e 8 1A255
Storaze tanhs TG 30607 AT
Transportatien equipnmient and other by 313 2654 L.38s
Cviinders 1{1-31) RIC AN fa7=
Buildings 234 2ORE 1.202
Land and improceinenis 1o v 20 I T
COIs ol am progress JNANTE P15

41937 A2
[ essiavcunutated deprectation VEZ2 0 CEA A0y
~ N 11825

tar- Depreaable Do of production plants retated o long-term customer supphy Sonracts are Consistent with the contracl

lives,

thi - Capitihred software wis previoushy reported nn tie ansportasion cgiprent and other b 3cDecerber 200 2000
capraiized sottware balances were teported swithim other intangblos— pet osee Note 520 Poos petiod Sinounts e e been

pechissitrod o contorm b current s e Preseniation teee Noke D
voie Dand e ot deprecianad

Prc oross atogtd o] asscts teg orded ander capiial feases by mager class are s toliows

M it of dedfary

December 31, ZOES LT

Prodiction phie & ! ~

Pranspartation catprment s’ other du

BHuoldie - Ta -
w, _74‘ -

NOTE 1L GOODWILL

Changes in the carmying amonnt of eoodwitl for the vears ended December 3102015 and 2017 were as foflows 12018
reflects the Impact of the Linde AG merger on October 21, 2018 isee Notes | and 21 and the divesuture of Praxair’s
European industrial gases business vn December 20 2018 (see Notes | and 41



fMillions of dullars)

Balunce, December 31, 2016
yoquisitdons 1Note )

Purchase adjusmments & other
Foreign currency translation
Balance., December 31, 2017
Addition due to Merger (Note 3)
Acquisitions (Now 3

Purchase adjusiments & otlier
Foreign currency translation
Disposals (Note 31

Balance. December 37 201N

North South Surface
Amnerica America Europe Asia Technologies finde AG Total

S 2063 S 132 8 629 % RE 133 s — 3 21T
W — — — — — o3

— (1) J — — — —

13 (2) 68 3 10 - 92

§ 2202 % 129§ 698 % ol % 143 % — % 3.233
— — — — 24146 24 140

5 — _ - o — 5

12 — — — — 12

(11 (23 (37 — (5} 174 98

— — 1620) — — — {620)

S 2208 8§ 106 5 41 8 61§ 135§ 24320 S 26.874

Linde has performed its goodwill impairment tests annuatly during the second quarter of each vear. and historrcally has
Jetermined that the fair value of each of its reporting units was substantially in excess of #ts carrving alue. For the 2018 tesl
Linde applied the FASB s secounting guidance which allows the company to first assess qualitative tactors to determine the

extent of additional quantitative analvsis, if anv, that may be required 1o test goodwill for impairment, Based on the

qualitati & assessments performed. Linde concluded that it was more likelv than not that the fair value of each reporting unit

substantiully excecded it carrving value and therelore. further guantitative analvsis was not required. As a result, ne

impairnicnt was 1ecorded There were no indicators of imparrment through December 31, 2018

96



NOTE 12 OTHER (NTANGIBLE ASSETS

(Milfions of doflurs,
For the veur ended Decomber 31, 2018

s
Balance. Decamber 51, 20]
Additions due womerger 1Nore A
Additions sprumarihy acgursitions,
Furclun currencs translatun
Db[‘m\dli Ciwore o
Orther=

Balinve, Decambor 10 200N

Less: aecuimulated amortization:

RED

Balauwe. Deceniber
NOrHZation sapense (hote 9y
Foreian currency ranslaton
Disposals (Note 43
(mher”

Bularee, Decermber 21,

RIRN Y

Setintangible et Poiuioe ot Decerniber o

Vs of diodler
Fovthe year eaded Pecember 3102007

Conl.

Balunce. December 310 2o
Nddions eprimanty acauisitionso
Foreton vurtenes transliation
Uriher®

Bualanee, Decamber 31, 2017
Less: accunmilated somortization:
Balance, December 31, 2016
AMatizalion expense (Note M)
Foreign currency translation

ey

Balanee. December 2. 201

Net balanee at December 31, 2017

reclassifications.

Other primarety relates o the wote-oft of fully amornzed asse

weets at Decomber 51, 2018 and 2

Lt ERE RN
Other
Customier Brands Intangible
Relationships Tradenamies Assets 1ntal

~ LS 460 oie s 1437
PRRES 2276 a1 J55a2

— 26 o7

12] 24 i a6

RN Ry 1R A
120 i3 SR

PaLINN 20N YIS NSy
1260 el R N
PEASY {43 T 12

4 — - P2

Al 5 2 iz

po : g
(217 ! NI Do

T ~ DU T 220y NN IR

nher
Cusiunier Brunds’ Intanyibke
Relationships Tradenames Sanets L oral

~ TEEOON 450N SNGY PoaND
| 40 1

2 I N
i (17 ST

. 46 IR 4AT

(21-h 15 1340 127
(40 13 (45) {91
() () ti-h

il lal ‘\4

{2000 b (37 PhS2)

) 2N RO RSSO TRA

5, purchase accountmg adipsimems and

There wre no expedted residual values related 1o these imtangible dssetss Amertization expense 107 the years ended
December 21, 2018, 2007 and 2076 was S2 15 mdlion, SO0 nulbion and S94 million. respectinely, The remaining welghted-
averauge amortization period torintangible assets s approvimately 20 vears,



Tor, eetimatad dnnnad Ao fes I us fullews:

P Witlions of dotary

Zite % AR
R 836
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IS Yy
o0l 645
2073 GOs
Thereafter 10,833
Toral amortization related to finite-lived intangible wssers |4_554
Indelinite-fived mrangible asaets at December 31, 201% 1.66Y
Netintungibiz sssets ar December 31 2018 5 16.223
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NOTE 13 DEBT
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FAfions of dollers. MR 2017

Short-term

Comnercind : y SO IAN 202

Orther bank barrow gy s = nE6 36
i 455 23k

Long-term (a)

12070 Notes due 260,50,
I 257 Notes due Zuly oo

].O0%, Navtes e D -

Vartahle rute notes due vl

1720 Bure denonmis e netes guc

S22 AUD denearn

U800 Notes due

Vianable vute nores Jue Tl

- -

Co Dotes dae Zlo

oA By dena
O Notes dew

SATA Fure demon ones

SN Nores dus

WL2R0% Lo denon st -

ARG Noter o S
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S gy

[T
RTINS

PR denes o
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Chher

Internatronal hank dorros e
Obligations under caputil fease
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Toral Jong-term dob

Total debn
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Amens e et o

i

FA000 Furo dencnirunad 1icies b W
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s
i
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s
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.
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S

9.000
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iy I March 2015, Linde repaid S300 midion of 1207 notes that became due.

o In November 2018, Linde repaid %473 million of 1.23% notes that becanie due and the associatced intarest rate swap

was settled. See Note 14 for additiona) infonmnation rezarding interest rate ~waps

'3 In December 2015, Linde repaid $600 million of 4.30%« notes due 2019 and €600 milhon of 1 507 noves due 20l
resulting in a $26 million interest charge 520 million after-tax, or $0.06 per diluted sharer. Also during December
Linde repaid €730 million of 3,123 notes acquired in the merger that became due in December 2015,

e The fair value decrease in debt related to hedge accounting for the vear ended December 31 2018 was 514 million:
the impact in 2017 wus not significant. See Note 14 for additional informaton.

(f) In February 2019, Linde repaid ST00 million of 1.90% notes that became due.
Credit Facilities

At December 31, 2005, the company has the following major eredit factlities asailable for fusire borrewing:

Total Borrowings Arvatlable for
Milliony of dollars Facilits Quistanding Borrawing Expires
Praxair Senior Lansecured ! 2A00 % -— 5 2500 Dec-19
Linde AG Revalving ¢ redit Facility £ 25000 — £ 2500 Jul-20

I June 201 7. Praxair estered into & S500 mitlion 36d-duy revolving credit faciling with w syndicite ot banks which
eapired in Jupe 2018 and was not renew ed.

Ihe $2.5 billion and £2.5 billinn credit trclities are with mager Noancial insitutitons and are non-cancelable by the
i~v<uing financial institutions until their respective maturities, There are no Tancial coverants contwned m the agreciment
relating 1o the Linde AG €2 S hillion creda Tacihi: the ondy financiad covemnt for the senior uisceuied 5205 billian credi
taeility requires the company not fo esceed a manvimon T0%0 keverage ration Mochorres ines sere ot tandimg ander the oreds
agreements as ot December 31, 2018,

Covenants

Linde s $2.5 billion senior unsecured credit facilite and long-term debt agreements contuin various covenants which
man. among ather things. restrict certain tvpes of mergers and changes in beneficial ownership of the compuny s ad the
ahiiny of the company o incur or euarantee debte sell or transter certain asseis. create liens against assets, enter into sake and
leaschack sarcements. or pay dividends and make other distributions bevond certain limits, These agreements also require
Linde to not exceed @ masimum 7070 leverage rato defined mthe agreements as the ratio of consohdamed iotal debi o the
~um ot consolidated total debt plus consolidated sharcholders™ equity of the company. For purposes of the leverage ratio
caleulation. consolidated sharcholders” eguity excludes changes in the cumulative toreign currencs transhtion adpustments
after June 30, 2011, At December 31, 20145, the actual Teverage rato. as caleulated according 1o the agreenyent, sas 3470 and
the company is in compliance with all financial covenants. Also. there are no material adyerse chanyge ¢lauses or other
subjective conditions that would restrict the company’s ability (o borrow under the agreement,

Other Debr Information

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the weighted-average inferast rate of short-term borrowings outstanding was 0.6,
and 2,17, respectively. The decrease in the rate year-over-year is related primarily to significant European commercial pape
balances at negative interest rates, which offsets the impact of higher rates on ather bank horrowings,

Expected matrities of long-term debt are as follows:

(Vfillions of doliary)

2019 ~
2020

2021

2022

2023

Thereatter




As of December 1. 2015, 74 million of Linde's assers were pledged as eoflaterat for 851 mition of Iong-remm de b

including the current portion of tong-term debt. The camrving amounts of assets pledged as collateral o tong-term debr are

pOrTation 2aipiment ang
other,
In February 2016, Linde redeemed $328 million of 320" notes due March 2017 resulting it a S Toanillion interest

(N
charge (510 million after-tas. or 864,04 per diluted share).
See Note 15 for the tair v alue information related to debt.
NOTE 14, FINANCIAL INSTRUNMENTS

In its normal operations. Linde is exposed to market risks relating to fluctuations in interest rates. foreign currency
exchange rates. energy costs and tu a lesser extent precious metal prices. The objective of financial risk management ar Linde
is to minimize the negative impact of such tluctuations on the company s earnings and cash flow s, To manage these tisks,
among other strategies. Linde routinely enters into various derivative financial imstraments crderivatives”™ s including interest-
rate swap and weasury rate Jock agreements, curieney-swap agreements. fornard contracts, cuireies nplions, aid
commeditv-swap agreements. Fhese instruments ave not entered imo for rading purposes and Linde ondy uses commmonds
wraded and non-leveraged instruments.

[here are tivree tvpes of dervatives that the compary enfers into, () those refating to fair-value csposures. til those
relating to cash-flow exposures. and (i those refating to foreign curreney et invesiient exposures. Fair-value exposures
relate to changes m the fuir value of recogmized wasets or Habilities, primarils financad assets und fnancial labihnes and
firm cotmitsiicnis ©ash-Tow exposures refate to the sartabdity of tuture cash Tovw s issociated with revoanized assets or
Habilities, or forecasted transactions tor which no underlving esposure is vet reported in the consolidated balanee sheet. et
imvestment expuostres relate to the impact of toreign curreney exchange rate changes on the canving value of net assets
denominated m forcign carrencies,

When o derivative s executed and hedee accounting s appropennte, it is desicnated as etther o tairsdue hoedee, cashi-
o Dedee, or o netinvesament fedee Currentds s Linde desienates e nuadoriny ot iecresi-vate and trensarcats lock < as,
hedges tor socounting purposes, hossever currenes contracts e penerally notdesigiated as hedges Tor aecounting purposes
tnless they ave reliuted 1o torccasted transactions, W hether desieicted as hedges for aecounting pugposes ot nop qli
devivatives are inked o an approprate saderbving exposure Onan onening basrss e companty assesses the hedeo
cffectivenes< of all dertvanyes designated ax hedges for accounting purposes to deternune it they continne o be hinfs
eftective in oflwetting changex in Fur values or cash flows ol the underiving hedged tems TEiCis detenmimed thar te hedge 1
not highlv effective, then hedge aecounting swill be discontmued prospectinvels

Counterpartios o bmde™s derivatives are major banking institutions with credit etings of v estment giade or hetter
Aot venr-end, Linde Mo badd e sisting Credit Support Anoneses co0S AT 0 plice wordo e prinwinal counterpartics o
mivhmize potentisd default nsh and o migtigaee counterparty nsh. Under the CS A< the e sadues of dervatisves 1o the
prpose of interest rate and curreney management are collateradized witly cash on aoregnlar baass As of December 31, 208K,
the impact of such coflateral posting amangements on the fuir value of derivutives was insignficam. Manuagement believes
the risk of meurring Josses on dernvative contracts related to credit risk 1< remote and any resubting losses would be
immaterial,

The following table is a summary of the notional amount and gross {air values of derivatives outstanding at
December 31, 2015 and 2017 for consolidated subsidiaries:



Fair \ alue

tMillions of dolluare Notlonal Amounts Assetstal Liahilities ra
December 31 2008 2017 2018 2017 2018 T

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging
Instruments:
Currency contracis.

Balance sheet items $ 6337 % 2693 S 2408 In 5 42008 16
Forecasted wansactions u4s - i - 1 —
Interest rate/Cross-currency inferest rate
swaps 2010 112 - 40 -—
Compradizv coneracry - — - — 9 —
Derivatives Designated as Hedging
Tustruments:
Curvenay contracts
Ralance sheet ttems S -5 I8N RN —_ Y SN 2
Forecasted transacnions R 4 z I R -
JRICIONT Vule CORBAUIN,
Interast rute swups 2064 475 15 10 —
Total Hedges S0 232100 TN P2 ooy R 2
Teotal Derivatives S 11734 8 3210 % 193 % [ RS BN B
! € urrent assets of $a7 milhon we recorded m prepaid and other current assets: long-term assets of 3126 midlon are

recarded in other long-term assets; current Labilites of ST mitiion arc recorded 10 othey cumrent labihties: and
tong-tenn habilities of 543 milhon are recorded m other fong-term habibites

Balunce Sheer Ttems

Foreien currency contracts related to balunce sheet items consist of forward comracts entered into b manage the
exposure o Nuetuations i foreign-curreney exchange rates on recorded balance sheet assets and liabihitics denominared in
currencies other than the tunctional currency of the retuted operating umit. Certain forward curreney contracts are entered ino
10 protect underlving monetary assets and labilities denominated in foreign currencies from toreign oxchange nish and are
not designated as hedging instruments For balance sheet tems that are not designated as hedgimyg mstraments. the tairvalue
adpustments on these contracts are oflsen by the fair value adpustments recorded an the underls ing mionetars assels and
abilites

[ inde also enters it forward currencs contracts, w hiech are desienated as hedging immstruments. o limi the cash o
expositre on certain foreign-currency denominated miercompany loans. The tan value adjustments on these contracts are
recorded te AOCT. with the effective portion immediately reciassified to earnings 1o oftset the fuir value adjustments on the
underhy ing debr instrument.

Forecasted Transactions

Fuoreign currency contracts related o forecasted transactions consist of forward contracts entered into to manage the
exposure to fluctuations in foreign-currency exchange rates on (1) forceasted purchases of capital-reiated equipment and
services. (2) forecasted sales. or (3) other forecasted cash flows denominated in currencies other than the functional currencs
of the related operating units. For torecasted transactions that are designated as cash tlow hedges. tair value adjustments are
recorded 1o AOQCT with deferred amounts reclassified to earnings over the same tme pertod as the income statement impact
of the associated purchase. For furecasted transactions that do not qualifs for cash tlow hedging relationships. fair value
adjustments are recorded divectly to carnings.

Interest Rate/Cross-Currency Interest Rate Swaps

Cross-currency interest rate swaps are entered into 1o limir the foreten currency risk of futare principal and merest cash
Hows associated with intercompany loans. and to a moere limited extent honds. denonunated in non-functional currencies,
The fair value adjustments on the cross-currency swaps are recorded to earnings. where they are offset by fair value
adjustients on the underly ing intercompany foan or hond.

Commodiry Contracts



Commodity contraces are entered into to manage the exposure 1o fluctuations in commodity prices. which arise in the normal
course of busingss from its procurement ransactions. To reduce the extent of this risk. Linde enters into a Hmited number of
slzetricitv. natural gas, and propane gas derivatves, As of December 31, 2075 these commodity CONracts vverd not
designated ws cashitow hedges. Therelore, the fair value ndjvsunents on these contracts are recorded 10 earninys and are

oy entually offset by the income statement impact of the underlving conmmodity purchase.

Net investment hedges

In 2014, Praxair designated the €600 miilion 1.30% Euro-denominated notes due 2020 and the €500 million
(S35 million as of December 310 2018y 1625 Earo-denominated notes due 2023, as a hedge of the net nvestment position
i its European operations. In 2016, Prasair designated an incremental €530 million (3628 million as of December 31. 20 15)
[.20%, Euro-denominated notes due 2024 as an additional hedge of the net investment position in its European operations.

On October 31 2018 Praxair and Linde AG combined their respectiv e businesses through an all-stock transaction and
became subsidiaries of the company. ln December 2005, as a condition of the merger. Praxair completed the sale of the
majorits of 1 European operaiions w Tanv o Nppon Sanso Corporation. This significantly reduced the net investment
pesiton in Praxair's buropean operations. During the same month Praxair also repaid the €600 miliion 150" Euro-
denominned notes due 2020, which significantly reduced the debt balance designated as o hedge. s response o the ubove
trafisactons, Pravilt de-designated €963 million of its Furo-denominated notes, At Docember 31, 2047 Prasair had
de-designated €200 million ot its Furo-denominated notes it response 1o the U8 government-enacted Ty Cuts and Jobs Ag
and wssociated decrease i the e rate

These Furo-denominated debt instruments reduce the company "s exposure 10 changes in the currenes eschiange
Tate o v estments 10 foreien subsidiaries with turo tunctional currencies. Since hedue inception. exchange rale movenients
hus e reduced fong-teriy debt by 8202 million dlong-term debt decreased by S1035 million during the vear ended December 31,
2ol with the offsening gain shown wthin the cumuiative translation component of AOCHIn the consolidated balance
shects and the comsobidated stinements of comprehensiv e meome.

Inrerest Ruate Swaps

Fawde vees interest rate swaps o hiedge the exposure o changes inthe for valoe of finanetal assets and financial
labrtities usaresadt ob mterest rate changes, These interest e swap- efectivels comvert fived-rule imerest exposures 1o
sarbic rates: Bur vidue adgastnents wre recogized i earnings along with an egualhy offsetung churge beoefit o carmings
tor the changes mthe tuir value ot the underlyimg Gnancial asset or financial labilite, The tolliw ing able summarizes the
ogtstanding mrerest rate swaps for I mde as of December 31, 2018

2018 2017
LSS Derivative  Change in USS Derivative  Change in
e Miilions of doltary, Notional Fair Y alue (hy Notivnag Fair Value
Underhvmg debt insirument,
100 Furo denominated nrotes doue 2028 hY Sl s NN e _
F.25% Notes due 2018 () - — 475 —
{.250" Euro denominated notes due 2027 344 2 -- —
2.00% Furo denominated notes due 2023 87 2 —- —
387530 Euro denominated notexs due 2021 287 | -— —
SATIGGBP denominated notes due 2023 234 1 - -
1.75%¢ Eure denominated notes due 2019 AL (1 — —
1.73% Euro denominated notes due 2020 132 — - - —
18757 Furo denoniinated notes due 20243 115 l — -
$  2led & 43 475§ —
ti) At December 312017, Praxair bad ene outstanding imterest rate swap agreement with a $475 million notional
amount related to the S473 million L.23% notes maturing in November 2018 The increase in the fair value of this
note was less than S 1 million, In November 2018 the notes were repaid and the associated fixed-to-y ariable interest
rate swap was sctiled.
iy fn connection with the merger. Linde AG™s assets and liabilities were measured at estimated fair value as of

October 21, 20718



Terminated Treasury Rate Locks

The following whle sunumarizes the unrecognized gains thosses: reluted o ermunated wreisur rare lock contracts:
Carecognized Gaiu iLoss) can
Yeat Original
(Millions of dolursy Terminated  Gain. (Lossi 12312018 122172017
Treasury Rate Locks
Underlving Jdebi instrumeni:
S20N million 2.20%¢ fixed-rate notes that mature in 20221, Iuiloos R IR v 3
S300 million 3.00%, fixed-rate notes that mature in 2021 thy 201 By i3 t4
SO00 millivn 4.30%, fixed-rate notes that mature in 2019 1h.o 2009 o 3
Total — pre-tax - 130~ Iy
Less: income taves 1 i
After- tax amounts ~ DA i1
i The unrecognized gains  ilossesy for the reasury rate locks are shown moaccumndated ather comprehensive moeime

¢ AOCT Yy and are being recognized on i straight line basis o interest expense net over the term of the underdying
debt agrecments, Refer to the table below sunnmarizing the impaet of the company s conschdaicd statements of
income and AQCT for current pertod gan tloss) recognitiong

ihy The notional amount of the treasury rate Tock contracts are equal 1o the tnderiving debt instriment with the
exception of the treasury rate lock contraer entered into o hedge the 600 mithon 4 30" tived-rate notes tha
mature in 2619, The notional amount of this contract was 2300 niiflion,

) In December 200S. Linde repatd $600 milion of 435670 notes thai imature i 2008 The amevoetized gam or the
assoviagted reasury rate lock was reclossitied from otlier comprefiensive meonwe o mterest expense,
Impact of derivative instruments on carnings and 10!

The folosing table summarizes the impact of the compan s derivaties notdesignnted as hedging mstruments o the
consohdated statements of ncome:

Amount of Pre-Fay Gain (F uss)

EVEillions of dotlury Recosniecd in Farniney

December 31, 200N i) it 2016
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
Currencs contracts:
Balance sheet items:
Debt-related S ChEsy s 121 s 21
Other balance shect items 3 - +
Total S (N SR T 121 & o=

* The gains tlosses) an halanee sheer items are ofTset by gains dossesy recorded on the underbying hedged assets and
abitities. Accordinghy. the gains (losses) tor the derivatives and the underlving hedged assets and fiabilities related o debe
items are recorded in the consolidated statements of income as mterest expense-net. The yains (lossesion other balance sheet
items are recorded in the consolidated starements of incame as other income (expensesi-net.



The follow ing table summarizes the impact of the om

impact AOCL

(Millions of dollurs)
December 31,
Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments™*
Currency contracts:
Net investment hedge
Forecasted fransactions
Balance sheet items
Interest rate contracts:
Treasury rate locks
Total - Pre taa
Less: Income taxes

Total—Net of Taxes

TN

Amoant of Gain iLoss

Recoguized in AOQCI

s derivatives designated as hedging instruments thar

Amount of Gain tEosst Reclassified
from AOCI to the Consolidated

Statement of lncome

2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016
b - % — & 4 5 — S — —
— 1 - — _ _

th 1 — — —
_ _— (1 - th
5 — 8 - % 35 tly § — th
- - — — — !

N S - % (3> (% - -

*¥* The gains ilosseston net imvestment hedges are recorded as a component ot AOCT within foreign currency translation

adjustments in the consolidated balance sheets and conselidated statements of comprehensiv e income. The vains tlossesy on
forecastved purchases, balance sheet ttems, and measuny rate lochs are revorded us o component of AOQCT within derivative
instruments i the conselidared halance sheets and the consolidated statements of comprebiensive inconie. There was o

fnettectveness tor these instruments during 2018 or 20075, The gns tlossesy on net imvestment hedges are reclasafied to

carnings only when the related currency transtation adjusiments are required 10 be reclassified. wsaally upon sale o

haguidation of the investment The gatns tlosses for interest e contracts are reclassifiod to camings ax Interest expense - net

o astrarght-tine busis over the remaining sty of the underbing dept Nt tosses of fess than <) miulbon are

be reclissificd toearnings durmg 2449

tUo

spected o



NOTE IR TATRVALUL DESCLOSURES

fan walue nieriichy pricrvizes the inpiis 1o valuation rechniques uzed 1o measire 1ai v alue into three broad Lol s

I oqueted prices inacty e markets for identical assets or liabilities
D - guctad prices for similar assets and liabibnes inactive markets o sipuns tha are obserabie

3 —inputs that sie unobsen able (for example cash flow modeling inpuis based on assumptions)
Assets and Liabilities Measured ar Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The Lol ing table sunumarizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 21, 20l &
and 2017

Fair Value Measurements Using

s Mithions of dodlary Level lLevei 2 Euevel 3
28 T 2R 20T 2018 2017
Assets
Derivatiy ¢ assets k3 — - Tuio~ = s — --
Ly eanment~ and secunities = 2z — — R -
Total ) 2208 -8 (Ul [ RIS --

[.iabilities
Drerivati e habilites & — % — 5 2w [ SN -

Invesunents and securities are recorded in prepand and other carrent assets i the compar s conschidated Rilunee

Sheets

Phe Boe vadues o the dervans e assets and Tiabilities aree based onomirket prices ohianed Trony independent brokers or
deternined ustne Quanttainv e models that use as their basis readily obsersable mark et parameters that are activels guoted
anid cane be vahidated through extemad sources. includimg third-party pricing seivices, brokers and market transactions
Level Fimvestments and sccurntios are marketable sceunties traded on an cxchimge Dovel 3 mvestments und securitios
consist of g venture tund. For the valuation, Lmde uses the net asset value received as part of the fund’™s quarterls reporting.
whitch Tor the most part s not based on guoted prives i active marhets. In order o reflect current market conditions. Linde
proportronally adjusts these by ohservable market dati (stoch exchange pricest or Gurrent ransacion prices,

The followimy table sumnuarizes the changes i level 3 mvestments and securities tor the vears ended Deccinber 31,
2l ad Dlecemiber 3102007 Guins ilossesy recognized i enrmmgs are vecorded foomteresp expense =oner s the compans s

consolidated statament~ of imcom.

Milions of dotlary M

Balance at January | N —
NMerger impact 28
Cains (losses) recognized mearnings 2
Balance at December 31 S 30

The fair value of cash and cash equisy alents. short-term debt, accounts recenvables-net. and accounts pavable
approsimate carny ing yalue because of the short-rerm maturines of these instruments.

The tair value of long-term debr is extimared based on the queted market prices Tor the same or similar ssues, Long-
term debt s categorized within etther Level 1 or Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy depending on the trading volume ot the
isstes and whether or net they are activeby gquated in the marker as opposed to traded through over-the-counter ransactions,
Linde AGTs long-term debt is primarily categorized within Level 1 measurements as the majority of the Linde AG bond
portiolio 15 publicly raded. At December 31, 2018, the estimared fair value of Linde’s long-terny debt portfolio was
SLA 725 mullion versus a carrving valoe of SEZRT mithon, As Linde AG s assets amd habilities were measured at estimated
tair value as of the merger date. differences between the carrving value and the fair value are msigniticant: remuaining
ditferences are attributabie to interest rate increases subsequent to when the debt was issued and relative to stated coupon
rates. At December 31, 2017, the estiminted fair value of Linde™s Jong-term debt portfolio was $8969 million versus a
carry ing viadue of SNTA2 mulljon.

{07



NOTE 16 EQUITY AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Linde pic Shareholders’ Equity

3 D cemiber 31 20050 Linde has tetal suthorized share capital of €1.525.000 divided into 1.730.000,000 ordinars

shares 0f €0.001 each. 23,000 4 ordinary shares of €1.00 each. 25,000 deferred shares of €1.00 each and 23 000,000
preferred shares of €0.04G1 each.

At Decemrber 31. 2618 there were 351,316,272 and 347,241,630 of Linde plc ordinary shares issued and cutstanding,
respectiyvely. At December 31. 2018 there were no shares of A ordinary shares. deferred shares or preferred shares issued or
ourstanding,

At December 31, 2017 there were $00.000.006 shares of Praxair commeoen stock authorized (par value $6.61 per share)
of w hich shares 383.230.625 were issued and 286,776,991 were outstanding at December 31, 2017, At December 31, 2017
there were 25 (00000 shares of Praxair pretereed stock (par value $0.01 per share ) authorized. of which no shares were
issued and outstanding.

Linde s Board of Directors midy from time 1o time authorize the igsuance of one vr more series of preferred stock and.
in connection with the creation of such series. determine the churacteristics of each such serics including, without limitation,
the preterence and relutive, pasticipating. optional or other special rights. and the quahificatons, hinutations or restrictions of

the sones.

Mevger of Praxair and Linde 4G

Fobowing is o sunmmars of the Linde ple shareholders™ eguity fransactions related 10 the nerger.

Additional Paid in

Ordinary Shares Capital Treasury Stock
(Biotlar wmoicrre o ilions, sdutves in thoisardsd Shaies Amuuny Shares \nroun
Morge wotho bande Atena DAYUAN N S 4378y Ly
Comversien of Pravine o Limnde pic shaves b . t3) z - —
e anollanon o Prasan Treasrr ~stock o) (93,324 — RERY IRLRTEIE ¥ Tohis
Bapact of Linde G omoreer [67.824 » 3% R ivEAMY S TR
vi) The total fair value of consideration transferred for the merger was $43.288 mitlion. resulting in an juercase 10

“Adddinonal pand-mecapiial” i stockhodders” equity tsee Note 3 for addiienal imformation).

-

th On Octoher 31,2008 the comyersion of Prasair common stock and Linde AG connmon stock o | inde ordinars
~hares resulted 1 o %5 midhon decrease to “Oidinars Shares™ with a corresponding merense o Addinonat paid-in
capital” in stockholders” eguin,

() Pach share of Praxan common stock held in treasury immedzately prior to the merger was canceled. The climination
of Prasair's historical treasuny stock at cost resulted na §7.1 12 million decrease in “Treasury stock™ and
“Addittonal paid-in capital™ in stockbolders” equits .

Az indicated above. in connection with the merger. Praxair and Linde AG common stock was converted into shares of

Linde ple ordinan ~hares. The following table provides a semmary of the share activity resulting from the merger,

(in thogsands, exeept Linde 4G exchange rutiop

Linde ple shares eachanged for Linde AG shares

Linde AG conmmon stock tendered as of October 31, 20018 (1) (.87
Business combination agreement exchange ratio (i) 154
Linde ple ordinary shares issued in exchange for Finde AG 263 4%
Linde plc shares issued to Praxair sharcholders upon conversion

Praxoir shares outstanding at merger date 227007
Total Linde ple shares issued ar merger date 551,058
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Otiher Linde plc Ordinary Shuare and Tieoasai v Stock Transiictinns

Linde may issue new andiman 2hares
and imcentive plans. The number o new
was approximarely 23F thousund shares,
stock.

:and stock purchase pl=n
oo werger dae

ez shares related to such aotin i out of reasary

On December 11, 201 » the Linde board of direcrors appros e the reparchase of $1.0 billion of e common stack under

which Linde had repurchased 4.065.642 shares thiough Decentber >

222009 the

Juts Subseguently. on Januan

company s board of directors approsed the addizional repurchis s o S bLoen of 1T oo stedk,

Noncontrolling fiterests

Noncontrollmg sierest cosigrslap o
sTse million decrcase Jurmee 200s pronar
and 41, The “hinpac o) Ma

R B e S A e R AT SR NTE B

noncontrolling interests woquitad o Lende o Do idogg the ~ 0 o0

Exchange Offer and are imended 1o e the ~nbpect ot cash-ier

I Cderit ey

1L, T

The ST milhon inerease durmy
JOI v enture partnes,

The S20 multion bncrease duese Jbe pebaes to e sofo ot o

fncha during e third gquaster oot by the foraten, @ Pocl sy
“Additions (Reductions 17 Bine itenn o e coresoihnsd <o e i al
Camtad resulting trony the sale ot the noncontroray nierest o the PG

Redeemable Nonconrolling Drrerests

Noncottratlne smrerests sith redempiton it ss st et sl apiens S are not selely we

controb Crredecmable nonconualhing eresis e

carrving value or redemption salue, For redecnnblic sonconosling onrevost st are not yvet exercisable. §bnde ealeulaes the

redemption value by acorenng the carrymyg valog s

vajJue is greater than the carmy g value, aes mtease 15 ndinsied G

fothe coresetpdated st
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cseendt See Note 3
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cetsolidated balunee oo o the greaicn o

I the vedemption

tha bsetatned carnings and Jdocs o imipact net income

At December 3102008 Cthe redecmiabde soneosrnan B coerest b e s bedes one packhaeed cas diee b nn nnthio Toined
States where the nonvonirodbarg steeholdor bos e o

The follovwang ts o sy o redoena e e contiedt ns Do e b s etded Drecen ey 8 Tobs s 2T ond
20t
(Millions of dodlars) MITES 27 MU
Beginning Balance S bhoos T S
Net income 3 2 3
Distributions to nonconrolling inerest 11 t3 (2
Redemption value adjustment acereuon R I {6}
Forelgn curreney rranslaton and other - -
Purchase divestiture of noncontrelling interesr {1
Ending Balance s [aSY s !

[REANRETEERE SRV 1] C A

In June 2o, Linde goguired the terw
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Lo paint yenture o s Did nilhon, The cash

payment reluted to this aequisition o~ shew e in the financing seomon of the consolidated <ttements of cash floas

ander the caption “Nencontrelling prerase iransactions aind cther™ G- rhere was e chanze i control



NOTE 17. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Share-basad compensation expense was $62 nadlion i 2018 (859 millicn and $29% mitlion in 2017 aud 2016,
respectivelvi. The reluted income tax benefit recognized was S30 million in 2008 (833 nulbicn and 832 mibiion in 2617 and
2016, respectivelv The expense was primarily recorded in selling. general and administrative expenses and no share-based

compensation expense was capitalized.
Sununary of Plans

The 2009 Praxair. Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan was mitially adopted by the board of directors and shareholders of
Praxair. lnc. on April 28, 2009 and has been amended since 1ts {nitial adoption the 2009 Plan™y. Upon completion of the
business combination of Praxair. lne. with Linde AG on October 31, 2018, the 2009 Plan was assumed by the company, Prior
o April 28, 2009, Praxair. inc. granted equity awards undar the 2002 Praxair, Inc, Long-Term Incentive Plan . C'the 2002
Plan™) which was also assumed by the company upon completion of the business combination. The 2009 Plan permits
awards of stock options. stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and restricted stock units. performance-based stock units
and other equity awards 1o eligible officer and non-efficer emplovees and non-emplovee directors of the company and its
affiliates. As of December 31, 2018, 8.009.6003 shares remained available for equiy wrants under the 2009 Plan. of which
2.600L000) shares muy be granted as awards other than options or stock appreciation rights.

[n 2005, the board of dircctors und shareholders of Praxaly. Inc. adopted the 2005 Equity Compensation Plan for
Non-Employee Directors of Praxair. i, ¢the 2005 Plan™). Upon completion of the business combinaton in Qctober 2014,
the 2005 Plan was wiso assumed by the company . Uader the 2005 Plan, the aggresate namber of shares anaitable for option
and other equuy grants was lmited teaorotal ef 30000 shares, The 2005 Plan expired on Aprid 300 2010, by s ow o 1ers.
and ne shares swere mvailable for grant thereafter

Lpon the completion of the business combination. alb options outstamding under the 2009 Pl the 2002 Plan and the
2003 Plan were converted inte options G acguire the same nunrther of shares of the company and at the ~aime exereise price
per share that apphcd prier 1o the business combimation,

Faercise prives for optivns granted ander the 2008 Plan s not be less than the closing marhe? price of the compans '«
oreimary shares on the date of grant and granted options may not be re-priced or eschanged without shareholder approval
Cptions granted under e 2000 Plap subpect only o Goie sestling requiremients ey becotme puradly evercisable afier o
wnnmam of oe seur atier the date of gramt but oy not becone filly caerciaable unnt ar feast three vears hos e clapsed from
the date of giant. and ali options eove o mavamuon duration of ren vears, Options granted under predecessor plans bad similar
terms.

-

In connection w il the business conthination. on Ociober 310201 the company "~ Board of Directons adupted the [ ang
Perm Incentive Plan of Linde ple ¢mthe U TIP 201870 the purpose of which i 1o replace cevtain outstanding Linde AG equin
based awards that were rerminated. Cnder the LTIF 2008 the ag

gregare number of shares available for replacement opnion
rights und replacement restricted share ods was set at 37300 28 A of December 210200 ald <hares remainad avastable to
grant, ax the Company = notoblicated to mabe these replacement anards antil 20749

Exercise prices for the replacement option vights 1o be granted i 2009 gnder the LTI 2008 will be equal o ELR |67
as preseribed inthe busimess combination agreement. Luch replicement option right granted under the LTHP 2618 will he
subject oy esting bared on continued service untit the end of the Tour-vear waiting periad applicable to the releyant Linde
AG award that had been granted before the business combination. After vesting, each option right will be excreisable for one
year.

In order to sansts aption exercises and other equity grants. the Company may issue authorized but previouslv unissued
shares or it may jssue treasury shares.

Stock Option Fair Value

The company wtilizes the Black-Scholes Options-Pricing Model 1o determine the fair salue of stock optiens consisten
with that used in prior vears. Management is required to make certain assumptions with respect to selected model inputs.
neluding anticipated changes in the underlying stock price tie. evpectad volatility) and option exercise activity (Lo,
expected life). Expected volatilits 15 based on the historical valatilitn of the company s stack over the most recent period
commensurate with the estimated expected lite of the company™s slock options and other factors, The expected life of options
granted. which represents the peried of time that the oprions are expected 10 be vutstanding. is based primarily on historical
eaercise experience. The expected dividend vield is based on the company ™s most recent history and expectation of dis idend
pavouts. The risk-free rate is based on the LS. Treasury vield curve in effect at the tine of grant 1or a period commensurare
with the estimated expected hite, I factors change and result in different assumptions in future periods. the stock option
expense that the company records for future grants may ditfer signiftcantlh frem what the compam has recorded in the
current period.
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The warzhnad-average o - 4
o the Black-Soholes Optlons-Prici

an erease 1 the company’s siock price

el The sorease

The folinving ey San e seLnapT H
Year Ended December 21, RIE Wis 3016
Dividend vield e A SO0,
Volatlin T4dr, T 440,
Risk-Iree interest rate ST oA 4ive.
Expected rerm aears < " I

The following wble summuarizes option activits under the plans ax of December 2 E 2005 and changes durme the peniod

then endsd iaverazes are cadoalated o oowerehited basis) ie v ewsintrinsio v alue espressad monuiliions y;
= E \ ]

Sumber ol Sverage Averagy Anurevate
Optinns Lyercise Remaining fatrinsic

Acrivigy (UL Price Life A\l
Outstandimyg ar T 10 2075 10787 s LOs.T
Crranted [.als 154,00
Eercised TR 9SS
Cancelled v evpired 74 IR
Ortstanding a1 Decernber 31, 201~ o2y & 1765 5900 J0N
Lvercisable ot December 3102008 Tns % PElole 4700 AT

Tl aggrenato mirmse vatue reploscini- g ditference berweor the compans = chosime stock Piive ef S T30 0 e
Dlecember S 20T and the exerase prwe multiplicd by the nanber o mthe money options outstandine s ot dha date The
totad mrinsic value o1 stock optones cueresed durmg 200 was ST pillon oS T2 miblbon and 352 mndlion n 2087 and

206, respectin L'!_\ !

Cushreceived ttomopton exercises under adl share-based povment arrngements tor 2008 wis S66 million
ST milhon and 5125 nallion s 2007 and 20te0 respectivels s The cash tas benetin realered rom shase-hised
compeinsatton totaled S0 anlhon o 2008 SSTnnthon and S32onllor cash o benetit oy 2007 and 201Te 1especiivdd
As ol December S 200N e allion of anrecogized compensation cost related B0 non-yested stock options 1

capected o be recoitized over wowesghied-as crage perted ol approsimaiey e,

Performance-Based and Resoicted Stoch Awards

No performance-based stock awards were granted in 2008 as restricted <stock units were granted i place ol
performance-bused stock awards. s veurs prior to 20180 the company granted performance-based stock aw ards under ihe
2004 Plan to senior management that vest. subject 1o the attaimment of pre-established minimum performanee eriteria.
principalls on the third anniversary of their date of grant. These aswards were tied to ither return on capital ("ROC T,
pertormance or relative 1aal sharcholder return C7TSR™y performance versus that of the S&P 300, The actual jumber of
shares issued in sertlement of avested award can range from zero to 200 percent of the target number of shares granted hased
upon the company ~ attainmen of specified performance targets at the end of a three-year period, Compensation espense
related o these awards s recognized over the three-vear perfornanee period based on the fai value of the ¢losing mrket
price of the company s ordinary shaves on the date of the grant and ihe estimated performuance that will be achieyed
Compensation expense tor ROC awards were adjusted during the three-vear performance peried based upon the estimated
performance levels that will be achieved. TSR awards were measured an their grant date Fiir value and not subseguenth
re-measured.

The weighted-average fair value of ROC performance-based stock awards granting during 20107 and 2006 wus ST09 68
and SO0 respeciively, These far values are based on the closing market price of Dimde’s ordinam ~hares anhe orant date
adjusted for dividends that will not be puid during the vesting period,

The weighted-average tar value of pesformance-based stock ted o relative TSR performance granted during 2017 way
SP2H A2 0823008 in 200 ey and was estimated using 2 Monte Carlo simulanion performed as of the grant date.
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There were 275,907 restrivted stock units grantad o emplosees by Prasair during ZU IS, The weighted-average fair
valye of restricred stock units granged durinng 2018 was SIS (STTLY3 In 2017 and S95. 18 in 2016), These fair values are
bused on the closing marker price of Linde s vrdinary shares on the grant date adjusted for dl\']dc'lldh that will not be paid
dusing the esting period. Compensanon <xpense related to the resticted stock units is recognized aver the vesting periad.
These awards were com ertad info equivalent Linde restricted stock units at the time ot the busimess combination.

The following table summarizes non-vested perforiance-based and restricted stoch award wctivinye as of December 31,
2018 and changes during the periad then ended tshaves based on turget amounre. ay erages are calouluted on g weighed basisy:

Performance-Based Restricted Srock
Naumber of Arverage Number of Merage

Shuges Grant Dare “hares Grane Date

[UIITY] Fair Vatue ity Fair V alue
Non-vested at a1 200 YIRS RET Jed S 107 46
Craniod — Ty 1456
\ eated Tty EoN 11767
Avvard o ersions t4AT) -
Cancelled and Fortened 131 Jro.2e IREEY
Nom-vested al December 30 200 — N — 5 TEs.sd

There are sppronaincets T howsand vestnotet soocd shnees that are non-vested at Decomsbey S 200 wineh wall b

setiled sncasldne wo fore datess Bomanons e kil relnted fooihese crus reflocts the vanrent eslinae of

portorinance that woill be ey od and e cunent ordmars shoves price
cod compunsanon costrehied o the tevtriced stoch awands s
cvpevted 1o be recownized primarly through e st geooter of 202

Avud Decetinber b, 200 Sa0 nndhon o wniecoon

NOTE I8 RETIREMENT PROGRAMS
Detined Benefit Pension Plans - U5,

Limde s o muan LoSoretnerient proares A e are on-contnbotony deitied benchit plans, the Linde Pension
Pian and the CHBE Pension Plan. The tauer progran benctits prmanly togner eonplovees or o B Industes, T sohich Dinde
doguired i P9ve Erreens dode B 200l oihe Tinde Poreion Plan woas amended o gnve participating cmplos ces o ote-lime
Chotee o remain veverad b the old formada o oo elect coveraee ander @ new formuda, The old Formiba is based
predommantly on vears of sérvice. aue and compensating levels prior to retrement. whiie the new formula provides for an
annual contribution to an individual account which wross \\1.}1 interest cach vear at a predetermined rate, \I\o this new
tormula applies o all new emplovees hired after April 300 2002 mro businesses adopting this plan. The LS. and international
nension plan assets are comprised of w diversified nux 01' imvestments, including doamestic and international corporate
equities. government securities and comporate debt securities. Binde has several plans that provide supplementary retirement
beneflts primarihy o higher level emplovees thut are anfonded and are nongualificd tor federal tax purposes, Pension
coterage for emplovees of cerram of Linde s international Sl:h\fdl”{l]L\ seneralls is provided by those companies through
separate plans, Obligations under such plans are prinarily provided for ﬂnuuﬂh disversified investment porttolios. with some
snratler plans provided tor under imsurance policics ar by book yescrves,

Defined Benefir Peasion Plans — limternational

Linde has international, defined benefit commimients primarily in Germany and the United Kingdom (C.K. ). The
detmed benchit comminments n Germany felate o old ape pensions, invalidity penstons and surviving dependents pensions,
These commitments aiso take into account vested rights for periods of service prior to January 1. 2002 based on earlicr final-
salary pension plan reles. In addition. there are direct commitments i respect of the salary conversion scheme for the form
of cash balunce plans. The resulting penston pavmients ure caleuluted on the basi» of an interest guarantes and the
performance of the corresponding ivesunent, There ure no mmimum funding requirements. The pension obltgations in
Germany are partly funded by o Contractual Trust Agreement iCT A Detined benctit commitments in the UK. prior to
Tuly 1, 2003 are carmings-related and dependenton rhe period of <ervice such commmments refate 10 old age pensions.
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wnvalidity pensions and swrviving dependents pensions. Begmning i Apn) 1, 2011 the an
inflation-linked pensions and of increases w1 pensionuble emoluments was restriered.

o

Gage i

Multi-employer Pension Plans

In the Unired States Linde participates in six mult-empliover defined benefit pension plans «"MEP<" 1. pursuant 1o the
terms of ¢ollective bargainmg agreements. covering approximately 200 union-represented emplexy ees, The collectn 2
bargaining agreements expire on different dates through 2021, In connection with such agreements. the company is required
to make periodic contributions to the MEPs in accordance with the terms of the respective collective bargaining agreements.
Linde’s participation 1 these plans is not material either at the plan fevel or in the aggregate. Linde's contributions o these
plans were $2 millton in 2015, 2017, and 2016 1these costs are not included in the tables that follow) For all MEPs. Linde s
contributions were significantly less than 1% of the wezal contributions 1o each plan for 2017 and 2046, Total 2018
contributions were not vet available from the MEPs,

Linde has obtained the most recently available Pension Protection Act ("PPA™) annual funding notices from the
Trustees of the MEPs. The PPA classifies MEPs as either Red. Yellow or Green zone plans. Amuong other factors. plans in
the Red zene are generally less than 63 percent funded with a projected insols ency date within the next twenny vears: plans in
the Yellow zone are generally 65 10 30 percem tunded: and plans in the Green zonue are generally at least SO percent funded.
According to the most current daa oy aslgble. three of the NEPs that the company participates in ure m a Red zone states and
three are in a Green zone status, As ef December 31, 2005, the three Red Zone plans have pending on hayve implemented
financial improvement o rehabitation plans. Linde doces not currentls anticipate signjticant future obligations due w the
funding status of these plans If Linde determined it was probable that it would withdraw from an ME.P. e company would
recard a Hability 10 its portion of the MEP s untunded penston ohligations. as caleulated at that time, Historicallv, such
withdrawal payments hay e not been sigmificant.

Defined Contribution Plans

Linde™s U5, business employees are eligible o participaie i the Linde detined contnbution sasings plan, Timployces
mas contribute upy o 40" of therr compensation. subject o the wavimum allowable by [RS regalations. For the ©S.
pachaged gases business. coinpuny contributions te s plan ave calcalated as a percenage of sadary based onage plus
~ervice. LS emplovees other thun those m the packaged wvases bustness have company contributions to this plan catvutated
on a graduated scale based on emplovee contributions 1o the plan. The cost for these defined contribution plans was
and S2N nulhion i 2006 (these costs are not included in the tahies that follow ).

$32 million in 2008 829 million in 2017

The defined contribution plans include a nan-leveraged emplovee ~lock ownership plan {7 ESOP™) which convers ail
emplovees participating in this plan. The collective number of <hares of Linde ordmary slares in the FSOP (otaded 2381714
at December 31, TS

Certain international subsidiarics of the company also sponsor detined contribution plans where comributions ae
deternimed under varous formulas, The expense for these plans was 532 mithion m 2008 20 milhon i 2007 and
$ N nullion in 2006 (these expenses are not included i the sables that 1oliow ),

Paostretiremont Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPER)

Linde provides health care and lite insurance benefits to certain eligible retired employces. These benefits are pravided
through various insurance companies and healthcare providers. Linde is also nbligated o make payments for a portion of
postretirement benefits related to retirees of Linde's former parent. Additionalls. as part of the CBI acquisition in 1996,
Linde assumed responsibility for healtheare and life insurance benefit obligations for CBIs retived employees. All
postretirement healthcare programs have cost caps that limit the compam "~ exposure to future cost increases. In addition, as
part of the retirement elections made for Julv 1. 2002, eligible emplovees were given the choice of maintaining coverage in
the current retiree medical design (as may be amended from time to time . or 0 move to a design whereby coverage would
be pros ided. bur with no Linde subsidy whatsoever. Also. all new employ ees hired afier April 30, 2002 into 3 business
adopting these plans will not receive a company subxidy. Linde does not currently fund s postretirement benetits
obhgations. Linde's retiree plans may be changed or rermunated by Linde ar any time for any reason with no Hability o
current or future retirees.,

Linde uses @ measurenient date ot December 31 for its pension and other post-retirenient benefit plans,
Pension and Postretirement Benefir Cosis

The components of net pension and postretirement beneflis other than pension ("OPEB™) costs for 2018, 2017 and
2016 are shown 1n the table below (2018 refiects the impact of the Linde AG merger on October 21, 2018 (vee Notes [ and 3
and the divestiture of Praxair’s European industnal gases business on December 3. 20 R ivee Noree | and 4y
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Pensions {yPLB

v Mitlions of dollarsy

Vear Ended December 310 2018 2017 2016 2018 017 2086
Amount recognized in Operating Profit
Service cost - PN RO 45 < oG EEEES a
Amount recognized in Net pension and OPEB
cost (benefit). excluding service cost
Interest cost 12% 103 100 3 3 6
Espected return on plan assets {(219) (16]) 1157 — — —
Net amortization and deferral 7 63 R (31 (3 (5
Curtailment gain vy — - — — (1) —
Sertlement charges (h) i4 2 4 — — —
% {6 S 125 6 % 208 t16) 5 3
Amount recognized in Net gain on sale of
businesses
Settlement gains from divestitures ic) 44 — —- — —
Net periodic benefit cost (benefit) S 2408 R 8 405 BRI A
1) The curtailment gain recorded during the vear ended December 310 2017 resulted from the termination of an OPERB
plan i South America in the fiest quarter,
iy 201 includes the impacts of o $4 million charge and a 810 miltion charge recorded m the third and foarth quarters,

respectively, In the third quarter. a seriex of lump sum benefit payvments made o the LLS. supplemental pension
plan wriggered a settlement of the related pension obligation, In the fourth gquartes. a change incontrol proviston
{

riggered the setlement of a LS non-qualiticd plan 2017 inctudes the impact of o S2nilhon charge related 1o
series of fump suit benetin pay menis for emplosees wder an sernational penston plan, 2016 ncludes o chnge of

S v hon velated provandy o the retrement of senwu matwieers e U uited Stites taoe Note 24,

(ch In connection with Praxair merger-related divestitazes, primarily the Luropean industrd gases business, cortain
I uropean penaton plan obligations were settled, This resalted o the recognition of assocuited pension benefit
ablications and deferred fosses maccumulated other comprehensive ineome Hlassrw ithin opergting prodicin the
“Net gain on sale of businesses™ line item.

Funded Statns

The changes 1 henefit obhigation and plar assets tor Linde’s pension and OPEFR provramsndduding reconcihiztion of
the tunded status of the plans o ameants recorded in the consolidated balinee ~heet, g of Docember 3102008 und 007 are
shown below (2018 reflects the impact of the | inde AG merger on October 31 2018 (see Notes Tand 2y apd the divestiture
ol Praxaie™s Luropean industrial gases business on December 3. 201 raee Notes §and 4
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Recorded in the Balance Sheet (Note 9)

Criher fong-terni assets
Onher current biabrhities
Other Tong-term liabilities
Netameunt recognized,
December 31

Anmounts recognized in accumulated
other comprehensive income (10ss)

consist of:
et aetdarial Toss veain
Prior sem e co dit
Detered tax b
Amount recegiig
viher comprehe.
INQIE )

e plar asset-

ot

camulated

e hoss
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20118 2087 OPLB
1.5 International [ fateruational 20X M
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1l Represents Linde AG plan assets and beneflt obiigations assumed as parr of the merger. Such plau assets and benefi

vere remoasured as of the muerger date and sl ~ubseguent activity through December 37, 2018 4s
o

presented within the respective captions abosve.
Funded status information as of December 31, 2018 for select international pension plans is presented 1 the table

below as the benefit obligations of these plans are considered to be significant relative 1o the total benefit obligation:

Lnited Kingdom Germany Other international Total International
1Mitlians of dollary 018 2018 018 018
Benefit oblivation. December 1 £ 4444 & i9I6 % 1173 % 7,533
Fair value of plan assets. December 3| 4,339 1.043 910 6,297
Funded Status. End of Year $ 1105y 5 (273§ (2637 > (1.2475
Ly Represents plan assets and benefit obligations associated with the divestitare of the magorine of the Praxair indestrial

wases busmess in Furope.

The changes in plan assets and benelit oblipnioms recognized fnoother comprebensiyve income m 200 and 20107 are as

tollows:

Pensions OPER
¢ Wilfions of deflursy 2018 2007 2018 2017
Carrent vedr net actuariad Josses (gains ™ S RET 340N Ry i
Armortization of net actuariab vains tlosses) 17 (67} 2 |
Phyvesitures [ — —
Amortization of prior sery iee cradits Tuostd (i ol B
Ponsion setilements {Note 5 e vl
Couretlinents — - iz
Forcion currency ransiation and other hanges {1 13 I i1
Total recognized iy other comprehensive incone b 173N R 1y 8 7
* Pension net actuarial fosses in 2008 are prinvardy driven by o low er actual return on plan assets, which more than

ntiset the benefn derived trom norable labilite experience. Pension net actiartal Josses in 2047 are driven hy
fower LS discount rates. which more than oftset favorable plan asset oxpenience. OPEB net actuariad cains in 20018
relate to the benefies trom gher US discount rates and favorable actial parncipant exporence and net acruanal
cuins i 2007 relate promarily o fas onible Liabiliny expeorience,
The amounts i accumulated other comprehensive ticome (loss) that are expected (o be recognized as components of
net periodic benefit cost during 2009 are as foilow s

(Millicns af dollurs) Pension GreEB
Net actuanal loss (gain S 408 3y
Prior service cost (eredit) 2 (14
) RIS -
The tollowing wble provides informatian fug pension plans where the aecumalated beuetit abbivation exceeds the falr
value of the plan asseis:
Pensions
2018 2097
(Miltions of doltary LS, International s, Iniernational
Y ear Ended December 3.
Projected beneflt obligation {"PBO™) b 20390 % 0.68] 8 220505 9
Accumulated benefit obligation ("ABOT) s 2060 % AIxe S 2113 s 283
Fairvalue of plan assels * A2 s AT S Lass & R
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S CeRT-C
Pensions
LS. [nternational OPEB
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Icighied aiorage e omprings weed To dereorming
Denerin Lhligarions oo December 31
Discount rate 4.20%, 3.61% 2720 446% 4.16% Rt R
Fate of merease m compensation levels N 3250 2.38% 3550 N A NoA
Weivired ayvcrage wasmpeions ased 1 determiiing
BT Iif('f'r"”;t’h P il Conl o v s ’J-f‘ﬁ“f(‘f
Licceinher 2/
INsconnt rate 3 TR 405 2730, .09 3N 4210
Rate ot Invrewsy wncampansation lesels 3.25% 525 245 TR, NA NoA
Eapected Jong-tern: rate of return on plan
ansers 1)y T2, N0 5130 IR NoA NOA
th The vxpeated long term vate ot return on the TiSand imernational plan assets s estimated based on the plany

mvestment sttegs ad asset atlocation. hiswoneal capital market performance and. (o a lesser extent. historical plan
pertormuance For the T80 plans, the expected rate of return of 7.62% was derived based on the target asset
Allocation ot 40U enn ety seeurities approximately @ 3¢ expected return. 30030 iaed income securities
Toespected returmg
Foithe mtennationad plans, the expecied rate of return was derived based onthe werghted average target wsser

tapprosnaiels 50500 eapected returno and STa- 13 alternative investments capprosimately
) i Pl A

dliocanion of 1372300 eguiny seeurioes aapproximaiels FY s expected return. 307 w-30%0 fiaed income securitios
cappeostmarels TS expedted returmy and 200000 alternative investments approsimiately 70w eapected retusn
Forihe TS plun st the actuad annuadized wotad tetymn [or the most recent T0-vear period ended December 31,
200 was appiosintely 8.4 For the international plan assets. the actiat annualized wial return Tor the same
periad v approvdimatels 6.26% Changes to plan asset allocations and investment strategy over this time period
vt the salue of hstorical plan performance as tactor in edtimating the expected long term rate of rewrn. For 2019,
the evpected Tong-term rate of retarn on phan assets will be 7 3070 for the LLS, plans, Fxpected s eishted ayerape
et tor nternational plans will vary.

OPEB
Do Besl T e e P MK RiN et
Praxair, Inc.
Healtheare cost rend assumed (G.IR0, (6,507,
Rate 10 which the cost irend rate 18 assumed 10 decline (the ultimarte trend ratey 500, S.00",
Y ear that the rate reaches the uhimate trend rate 2023 23
Linde 4G
Healtheare cost trend assumed 5407,
Rate to winch the cost trend rate 1= assumed 1o dechine (the ultimare wend rate) J.500,
Y ear that the rate reaches the ulnmate trend rate 2038

These healtheare cost irend rate assumptions have an impact on the amounts reported. However, cost caps limit the
mapact o the net OPEB benetit cost inthe LS. To ilTustraze the effect. a one-percentage pou change in assumed



healtheare cost rend rates would Gave the following effecte

One-Percentage Poin

SMilions ef dolliis) Increase Brecrease
Effect en the total of service and mterest ¢ost components of net OPEDB bepefitconr & — %

==
-1
g

Effect on OPEB benefit obligation it

Pension Plan Assers

The investments of the LS. pension plan are munaged to meet the fulure expected beneflit liabilities of the plan over
the long term by mvesting in diversitied portfolios consisient with prudent diversification and historical and expected capital
market returns. When Linde became an independent. publicly waded company in 1992, its former parent retained all
Habilities for its term-vested and retired emplovees. Linde’s plun received assets and retained penston Habilities for its anan
active emploves bage, Theretore. the liabilities under the Linde U .S, pension plan mature at a larer date compared 1o pension
funds ot other simifar companies. Investment swategies are reviewed by managenient and imvestment performance is tracked
against appropriate benchmarks. There are no concentrations of rish as it relates o the assets within the plans.

The mternational pension plans are nunaged indis iduadh bused on dis ersified investiment porttolios. with ditterent
targer asset allocations that vary for each plan. Linde s Uy and international pension plans” weighted-ayeraze asset
allocations at December 312018 and 20087, and the target asset alocation range for 2015, by major assel categors. are as

tollov s

LS. Euternational
Target 24HR Burget 208
Aasel Categon g Targed 2017 MR iz Faraet 2007 2018 200"
Fouin securities 4006000 S0TLT0E, RINUN PR PP A R
Fived income seenritie L LTI VAL F A 3 L 40, R N AL TS LR A BTN
[ 15T} AT A | A I L e L £ O D A R e

Farget asset allocations provided above for Bseal soar 2018 are caleulited based cnoweiehting the indicidual Prasair

and bowde G pension plan tareet allocdions by then vespective portiens of the total asset poctioho,
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Fair Value Veasurements L sing

C 20l and

Tor detinirion

[evell Level 2 Level 377 Toual
(Millions of doliarsy 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 1018 2017
Cash ang cash equivalents 5 348§ . T N e L T 7
Equiny securities:
(Globa) equines 1,131 02 — — — - 1.13] 0z
Mutual funds 4 — 43 — — — 1" —
Fixed income securities:
Government bond- — — 1,772 246 — 1.772 246
Ferging market dets — - - 522 -— — — R —
Mutual {funds DN RS 21 - — 130 I8
Carporate bonds R Ini — - AND 18]
Bank louns — 313 — MR -
Alternany e inyesamnents;
[nsurance contracts — — - Al - A0
Real estate funds - - TS R3S 2oy 14N
Private debs - - —- 0y (7 —
Other Investmehis - 33 - - ER -
Ligud aliernative — 119> - R _
Joral plan assets af tarr valog,
[yecember 51, S0 % 427 S4TSR % 42T % uew s 20N SA9D8 N ]oe?
Pooled tunds # 1334 NI
Toral fatr value plan issets
Drecember 37, SN &2

* Pooled tunds e measured using the netasset valoe CNANT) as o practical expedient tor Fr salue as pernnssible under
the acevuntimy standard tor fair yatue measwrements and have not heen categorized wnthe i value Bierrehy

o f

-

T he folfow myg ble summarizes Changes inc e value s the pension plan assets classiticd as deved 2 ror the perads eided

Devcember 310201 and 20017

Insurance

Real FEstate

{Millians af doflars) Contracts Funds Private Debe Total
Balance. December 31. 2016 S 45 5 135§ — % 80
(ain (Lossy for the period (i 12 — 11
Acquisitions -— it — 1
Foreign currency translation 6 — — e
Balatwce. December 21,2017 30 53 208
Azsumed in Linde AG merger - 48 607 Ris
Gain (L oss) for the peried 9 4 I3
Acquisitions — — — —
Merger-related div estitures (44 - — 149)
Other divestitures — 11 — (1™
Foreign currency wranslation il — il
Balance. December 31, 201X s — 5 298 % 071 s 969
The Jeceripions and fair vatue methodologies Tor the TS, and international pension plan assets wre as follon <
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Cash and Casli Eguivalenis — This categeny includes casly and short-term interest bearing imvestunenrs « fth maturities
of three months or less, Invesnments are valued ar cost plus acerued inrerest, Cash and cash equivalents are classified within

fevel 1 ot the vahuation hierarchy .

Fuyuiny Securitics — Thiv category is comprised of shares of common stock in ULS, and international companses from a
iy R T

diverse set of indusirzes and size. Common stock js valued at the closing market price reported ona U.S. or International
exchange where the security is activelv rraded. Equity securinies are classified within level | of the valuation hierarchy.

Mutieal Fuiids — These categories consist of publichy and privatelv managed funds that invest primarily in marketable
equity and fixed tcome securities. The fair value of these imvestments 1= derermined by reference to the net asset value of the
underlving securities of the fund. Shares of publiciy raded muarual tunds are v alued at the net asset value quoted on the
exchange where the fund is traded and are primarily classifted as leve) 1 within the valuation hierarchy,

ULS. and Tarernaiional Govermmenr Bonds — This category includes ULS. treasuries. U5, federal agency obligations gnd
imernationa! goyernment debt The majority of these investments do not have quoted market prices available for a specific
government security and so the fair value 1s defermined using quoted prices of similar securities in active markets and is
classified as level 2 withi the valuation hierarchy.

Corpurare Bonds This cidegors by comprised of corporate bonds of TS, and international companies from a diverse
set ol industries and size. The fua valoes for TLS. and international corporate bonds are determined using quated prices of
similar securities inactive markets and chservable dati o broker or dealer yuotarions, The fair values tor these investments
are ciassified as level 2 within the valuation herarchy .

Poofod Funds - Pooled [nd NAV S are prosded by e trustee and ate determined by reference w the fair value of the
voderly ing securities ot the trust. Less s Habilities, which are valued primarily theough the use of divect]y or indirectls
ohservable mputs. Depending an the pooled fond. vaderhving secunittes may include marketable equity securities or fined
IO SOCUNITISS,

Bank Loansy — Thiv citezom s comprised of traded symbreated loans of Targer carporate horeowers, Such loans are
pasted by sub-imestment gride rated companies both inthe Uossoand mternstionally and are svadicated by investment bunks
1o hstitunonal myestors, They are repubaris traded o an active dealer marker compised o1 Jarge iny estiment banks, which
supply bid and offer guotes and are therefore classificd sithin fesel 2 of the valuation heerarchy

Liquicd ifrernarive fuvcxmonts This category is comprised of investments i ahernative muotiad funds whose holdings
i e Hguid secarivios, cash. and depnvamees Such tunds focus on div ersitication and employ avaricts ol investing
strategies including long short equite. mudti-suategs . and global macro. The fair vatue oF these mvestments is determined by
reference (o the net asset value of the underty ing holdings of the fund. which can be determined using obsersable data e g
mdices. vield curves. queted prices of similiar securitesy and s classified within {evel 2 of the valuation Bierarchy,

dvirance Comeracis Phe fair value ot insarance contracts s determined hased on the cash swrrender value of the
insurance contract, wlich i determined based on sueh factors as the farr value of the underiving assets and discounted cash
flow s, These contracts are with hughly rated inswance companies, Insurance contracts are elassitied within level 2 of the
valuation hierarchy.

Real Estate Funds - This category inctudes real estate properticos, partnership cquitics and investments in operating
companies. The fair value of the assets is derermined using discounted cash flows by estimating an income stream for the
property plus a reversion inta a present value at a risk adjusted rate. Yield rates and growth assumptions utilized are derived
from market transactions as well as other tfinancid and tndustry data. The fair value tor these investiments are classifted

A

within lesel 3 of the valuation hicrarchy

Privute Defr = This category inciudes non-traded. privarel -areanged loans berween one or a small group of private
debt (v estment managers and corporate borvowers, whiclt are 1y pically too small to access the svndicated market and have
no credit rating. This category also meludes suntiar loans to real estate companies or individuai properties. T oans included in
this category are valued at paryalue. are held 1o matority orwe call. and are classified wihin level 3 of the valuation
hierarchy.

Conrributions

At a mimimum. Linde conributes 1o 1s pension plans to comply with Jocal regulatory requirements te g ERISA i the
United States). Discretionary contributions it exeess ot the local minimum requirements are made based on many factors,
including long-term projections of the plans™ funded status. the economic envirenment, potential risk of overfunding. pension

insurance costs and alternative uses of the cash. Changes 10 these factors can impact the timing of discretionary contributions
frony vear to vear, Penston contributions were S87 milhon m 20080 £ 1% millron in 20007 and $11 million in 2016, Ferimated
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required comrributions for 2019 sre cwrrentiy expectad 1o be 1 the rance F SUF milhon oy Lo milion,

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following table presents estinared fature benefit puL ments, net O pari.opanis eontributlons:

(Millions of dollars) Pensions

Year Ended December 31. LS. International OFPEB

2019 (a 5 R 32208 14
2620 L350 KRR 1=
202) 146 344 15
2022 Hah 352 i
2023 144 3nd 14
2024-202% G 10N G
ta) In Januarye 2019, benetits ot %91 million were paid related 1o the satdenient ot o 1S non-gualified plan thal was

triggered due 1o a change in control provision, This resolied e %21 nabhion charse
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NOTE 19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The company acerues non income-iax Habilities for contingencics when management belies es that a loss is probable
and the amounts cun be reazsonably estimated. while contingent gains are recognized only v hen realized. In the event any
losses are sustained 10 excess of accruals, they will be charged against income at that time. Attorney fees are recorded as
incurred. Commitments represent obligutions. such as those for future purchases of goods or services. that are not s et
recorded on the company s balance sheet as liabilities. The company records liabilities for commitments when incarred
(1.e.. when the geods or services are reccived).

Contingent Liabiliries

Linde is subject to various lawsuits and gov ernment investigations that arise from time o time in the ordinary course of
business. These actions are based upon alleged environmental. tax. antitrust and personal injury claims. among others. Linde
has strong defenses in these cases and intends to defend itself vigorously . It is possible that the company may incur losses in
connection with some of these actions 10 excess of acerued liabilities. Munagement does not anticipate that in the aggregate
such losses would have a material adverse effect on the compamy’s consolidated Tinancial position or liguidies - however. it s
possibie that the final ourcomes could hav e a significant impact on the company s reported results of operations in any given
period.

Stanticant nwaiters are:

. During My 2009, the Brazilian goneroment pubhished 3 aw 119412009 Institutine a new v oluntary anmesty
program ~Refis Program™ which allowed Brazilian companies to setile certain federal tax disputes at reduced
amuunts. During the 200% thud guarter. Praxair decided that it was economically heneficial to settle many ot it
ontstanding federal tax disputes and such disputes were enrolled in the Refis Progran. subject to final
caleulation and review by the Braztlian federai gosermnent. The company recorded estinuted abilitics basod
on the terms of the Refis Program. Since 2009 Prasamr has beon unable wo veuch final agreement on the
vatculatons and intiated litganion against the povernment in an attempt to resobye cortain items. Open issues
refute to the folfowing matters: (v apphication ol cast depusies and net operating foss carnytorw ards o satis iy
ablications and tiy the amount of s reductions sy aduble under the Relis Prograne 10is difiieeds o esmme the

g of resolation of legal matrers in Brazr,

. At December 3102018 the most significant non-inceme and invome tas clsims 1 Brastl adier enroliment in the
Refis Program, relate to state VAT o matiers and a federal income tas mater where the taxing guthorives qre
challenging e s rate that <hould be applicd 1o income venerated by o subsidiar companyy, The total
estimnated exposure relating to such claims. imcluding interest and penalties, as appropriate. is approximately
S205 milhon, Linde has pot recorded any linhibities related w such claims based on management judgments.
after considerig judgments and opintons of outside counsel, Because litigaton in Bruzil bistorivally takes mam
vedrs to resalve, I s very dftieudt wo estimate the timing of resolution of these matters: howeser. it Is possible
it vertain of these niatters tay be resolved within the wear . The company s vigoroush detending againg

the procecdings,

» Ondeprember 12010, CADE ¢Brazlian Adwinistrative Couneil for Feonomic Detense™) announced alleged
anticomipetitise activity on the part of five industrial gas companies in Brazil and imposed fines on all five
companies, Originally. CADFE imposed a ¢ivil fine of R$2.2 billion Brazilian reais (U1S$368 million) against
White Martins, the Brazil-based subsidiary of Praxarr. In responsc to a motion for clarification. the fine was
reduced to R$1.7 bilhon Brazilian reais { U'S$439 mitiion) due te a catculation error made by CADE. The
amount of the fine is subject to indesation using SETIC. On September 2. 2010, Pravair issued a press release
and filed a report on Form 8-K rejecting all claims and stating that the fine represents a gross and arbitrary
disregard of Brazilian law.

On October 19, 2010, White Martins filed an annuliment petition ¢ “appeal ™) with the Federal Court in Brasilia
seeking to hav ¢ the fine against White Martins entirelv overturned. In order to suspend pavment of the fine
pending the completion of the appeal process. Brazilian law required that the company tender a form of
guaraniee i the amount of the fine as seeurity, nitially, 50% of the guarantee was satisfied by tetiers ol credit
with a financial institaion and 50"« by equity of a Brazilian subsidiary. On April 13, 2016, the Ninth Federal
Court in Brasilia allowed White Martims to withdraw and cance! the letters of credit. Accordinglv. the guarantee
15 currently satisfied selely by equity of a Brazilian subsidian .

On September 14, 2015, the Ninth Federal Court of Brasilia overturned the fine against White Martins and
declared the original CADE administrative proceeding to be null and void. On June 30. 2016, CADE filed an
appeal against this decision with the Federal Cirenit Court in Brasilia,
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> compan Tt
ated fine up to sach |
Because appealy in Bruzll bistorivally ale mans
counsel, na reser e has been recorded tor this proceeding as managemeant does not belizve that o luss is
probable.

As stated abosve, in 2010, the Brazilian competition authorits CADE imposed fines on a mumber of gases
companites, including Linde AG™s Brazilian subsidiary . on the grounds of aliege

conduct, CADE imposzed o fine of approximately RSISS million Brazilian reais «US 3% mullions on Linde AG ™=
Brazilian substdiary Based on the fact that the fine hus been overturned by a federal court in the first instance
and o a stbsequent appeal by CADE. Tinde believes that this deciston will not stand up to judiciad review in

the third instanee either. wnd deems the possibilite of cash ourflows to be extremiely unlikehv, As aresuli. no

aed anti-competlit e business
i

resery ¢ has been recorded for this proceeding a< management does 0ot believe that o loss s prohahle

Comptinents

N1 December ST 200N, Linde bad undrin outstanding Jetters of eredit, bank guarantees and sarety bonds v adued o
approvamaiels S296l nnlhon from Broancial mstitutions, These relate primarily to cushomier contract perlonmianee ctarantee s
cincluding plint constroction in connection with certain on-site contracts o selt nsurance claims and other commenaal and
convernmental requirement~. includimy toreign litigation matiers,

Onher conmnimients related o leases, tas Habilivies tor uncertam s positions, long-rerm debi. other post retirement
and pension obhigations are summarized elsewhere i the financial sreients taee Notes 6, 70 13 and I8y,



NOTE 20, SEGMENT INFORMATION

Effective October 31, 2018, Praxair and Linde AG completed the previously anncunced werger of equals wrancaction
pursuant o the buginess combination agreentent. resubling in a nawiv formed corporation nmned Linde pic, See Notes 1.3
and 4 for additional informarion on the merger, Although it is the company’s intention (o create new operating segmenis that
will be used by management 1o allocare company resources and assess performance. duc w the hold separare order with e
_.S. Federal Trade Commission isee Note 1) it was not possible to implement this new management organization structare in
-alendar 2015, Therefore. the company has added Linde AG as a separate segment for 2018 reporting purposes effective with
the merger date, which is consistent with the way the company was managed and results reviewed by the Chief Operating
Decieton Maker. As the restrictions under the hold separate order was lified effective March 1. 2019, the company
implemented a new operating segment structure effective for 2019 reporting periads. as follows: Americas: ENMEA (Europe’
Middle East'Africay, APAC tAsia Pacific). Engineering and Other.

Accordingly. during 2018 the company’s operations were organized into five reportabie segments. four of which hasve
been determined on & geographic basiy of segmentation: North America, Europe. South America ind Asia. The compans "s
worldwide surface technologies business represents the fifth reportable segment. As discussed ubove. Linde AG became
sixth repartuble segment effective with the merger on October 31, 2018,

Linde s aperations consist of two major product lines: industrial pases wid suivluce tocheologios. The induanal guses
preduct e centers on the manufacturing and distribution of atmospheric vases toXyEen, nilrogen. argor rare gases) and
provess gases (carbon dioxide, heliam. haydrogen, electronic gases, specialty pases. acetylene ). Many of these products are
co-products of the sume manufucturing process, Linde manuluctures and distributes pearh Wl of s products and manages it-
customet relationaiups ona regional hasis, Linde’s industoal gases are distributed to vardods eod-markets within o regionud
seament through one of three basic distribution methods: on-site or tonnage: merchant or bulk: and packaged or evlinder
vises. The distribation methods are generally ineerated m order o best meet the custoimer™s necds and very few of it
procducts can be economically transported owside of @ region. Theretore, the distributon ceonomies are specilic (o the
various geographivs i which the company operaes wiied are consistent with hov management assesses perbormane,

Linde @valuntes the perfortninee oof it reportable sesnenis based privnards oo apergnne profi o cfuding s chiey

avcoanting mpacts of Tinde AGL mter-comipany revaltios and iteos not indicative of ongoing business 1reonds C arporite g
dlobally managed expemses, and rexcarch and development costs redating o Prasaie’s clobal mdusiriar casos dusiness, are
altocated o operating segments hised on sales.

TheAable below presants mtonnation about reportible segntents for the vears ended December 35 2005 20t and
2006,

¢ VEillions of dellursy 2008 2017 2146

Sales (a)

North Aanerica ) o4 N RN R Rl
Europe bl PRES EEA
south Amcrica b3on LS 1,204
Asia .66 L7AS 1833
Surface Technologies 62 617 396
Linde AG 2RTAOS SRR —
g 4000 % .43 & 10,83




2018 R 2016
Operating Profit
Nerth Amevica s Lest o E LT |
Eurepe 1A | 274
SOUT ALISTICA 2iF 2z 263
Asia 427 333 276
surface Technologies 118 Hin 99
Lirnde AG 252 -~ —
Segment operating profi 2876 246 2343
Truansaction costs and other charges 309 152 196)
Net gum on <ale of business 3204 —
Purchase accountng impacts - Linde A6 {714 — —
Total operating protit 5 22470 244 2247
NUB e MM
Total Assets (b
North Americ S Pieds s Ta.dlv INER R
T urope Ty NINC ZHIS
South Americu 2675 273N 24N
At 350N ~E2 1983
sorface Technologies 4 N 633
Fande A0 Tiad] - -
5 MAANG N fl476 PRI
018 2017 016
Depreciation and Amortization
Nuorth Sinerien b 6Ot N ni 64
Europe -4 6y e
~enth America 4 NN fan
ASNR 204 [ | 7y
surtace levhinelogies 44 At 3
Linde At RE - --
Sewment deprociation and amortization bodnd 1o P12
Purchase accounting impacts Finde AG 336 - —-
Total depreciation and amortization S a3t s 1184 1122
2018 2017 Ml
Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions
Noith America 5 vle S Y k9
Furope 157 41 107
South America 0T 174 230
\ein AR 204 I63
Surtace Technologies 93 N6 40
Linde AG a7 —- —
* 1908 & 1.344 ILN28




Sales by Product Group

s

20T

Ite

Atmospheric gases and relared ‘. . <
Process gases and other 280
Surface technologies N
Linde Ath 2873
b 11000 &
ML W7 pMINEQY
Sales by Major Country
Linited Srates S 594208 4073 0% 4622
Lurope. excluding German 2435 1am2 .20
Brazif fe? 1179 [0,
China 1.032 T35 Gl
ermany AR A0 37
Other — foreiyn ERCRIA R A
b [4900) % ISR Lh.>2d
2R 207 200w
Long-lived Asscis by VMajor Couniry {c)
Lintited States AN TING s JuTuN 177y
Curepe. excluding Grermzny ERERE [IREEN [
LIS T T 24 A s 37w
Clnina 2o .06 e
Bzl [l | s RN
ey — foreldn R oo 2Thn
Pt Bng=lived asseers hY JUTET N [EN25 % [
"y Siles reflect external sales only and melude two months of Linde SGosades Trom the mergen dite ol October 3
200N toovear emd Trtersegment sales, primariiy from North Amenies to other seements were not maternl,
1) Fnctudes equity imyvestmients as of Decernber 31000 followe,
Vil of defiar MUK - MG
Sorly vierics ~ AN s s P
Eurepe i) e 2857 A
Asia 306 RIS A53
inde AG D 1.380 - —
b [R38 N 717008 T
iy The reduction in Furopean cquiny investiments relates primarity 1o the sate of Provaiv™s 2470 non-controlling interest

participation i its Ialian jom venture - reter to Note 4. Divestitures. tor additional intorntauan, Otier Qlactuations
refiie 1o equity investment camings, dividends. and foreign currency impacts

(i) [inde AG equity jnvestments relate primarily o Asia.
W Long-lived assets include propertv. plant and equipment - net and reilect the hapact of the merger with Linde AG

(refer to Note 30
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NOTE 210 REVENUE RECOGNITION
Effectne fanuary 1. 2018 Linde adopted the FASBE s Accounting Suandards Update Noo 2001409 ¢ ASC oue™ relating

vethad. The new aceounting standard requives renorue 1o

v Revenue Raoognition using the modified

B2 recogiized oo vontrol of geods or services are transterrad Lo Castomers inan amount that refiects the consideration o
which an entits eapects 10 be entitled w receive in exchange tor the goods or services. No material differences in revenue
recaognition were identified as compared o the conypany’s historical rev enue recognition accounting: accordingly. there is no
adjustment to opening retiined earnings at January 1. 2018 and therefore no need to present comparable revenue
accordance with the prior accounting policy, The following sections include Linde's res enue recognition accounting policies
and disclesures in accordance with ASC oua,

Contracts with Customers

Approsimately 764, of Linde s conselidared sales are generated from industrial gases and related products in four
geographic segments i North Amertca. Europe. South America and Asia). Linde AG represents approvximately 197, of 2018
sales and the remabiing e s related oo the globul surtace wehnologies segment. Linde serves a diverse group of industries
including heahthcare. petrolewn refining. manufacrunnyg. tood. heiernge curbonation. fiber-optics. steel making. asrospuce.
chemicals and water tremmient.

Idistrrad G s

Within cach oithe company s geogruphic segments for mdustrial gases. there are three basic disribution methods:
fhotesite of tonnage: b merchani or butk hguids and tii packaged or evlinder gases, The distribution method used by
Linde to supphy u customer i< determined by many facterss mcluding the costomer™s volume reguirements and location. The
distribution merhod vencrally deternmines the contract terms with the customer and. accordingly . the res enue recognition
aceounting practces. Linde s primars products i its induostrial gases business are atmospheric gases tony geng nitragen.
argon. rare gasess and process gases tearbon diovide. helum, hyvdrogen. electronice gases. specialts gases. acetsiency. These

products are generally seld through ene of the three distribution miethods.

Fallowine i~ a description of each ot the three imndustrial coases distribution methods and the respectine resenuy

recogniton policies

Chn-sine Customers that require the largest volumes of product and that have a reluns ely constant demand patern are
supphied by emvogenie and process gas on-site plants Finde constraets plants on or adjocent to these customers” sites and
supplies the product directly to customers by pipeline. W here there are Turge concentrations of customers. a single pipeline
may be connected o several plants and customers On-site product supply contracts generally are wtal requirement contracts
with terms topically ranging from 10-20 vears and comam minmum purchase requirements and price escalation prosvisions,
Nany ol the ervogenic on-site plants also produce hguid products 1oy the merchant market. Theretore, plants are tvpicalby nim
dedicated toa single customer. Additionalty . Linde is responsible tor the destgn, constraction. aperations and mamenance of
the plants and castomers toprcaliy have noinvolvement u these actis ies. Ady anved wr separation processes abso allos
an-site delivers o customers with sialer s olumie requirements.

The compam s performuance obhgations related o on-sie customicrs are satisfied over time as customers recen e and
chtain control of the praduct. Linde has clecied o appls the practical expedient for measuring progress towards the
completion ot & performance oblization and recognizes revenue as the company has the right o invoice each customer,
which generally corresponds with product delivers . Accordingly. revenue 1s recognized when product is delivered to the
customer and the company has the right to inveice the customer i accordanee with the contract werms. Consideration in these
contracts is generally based on pricing which fluctuates with various price indices. Variable components of consideration
exist within on-site coniracts but are considered constrained.

Merchant Merchant deliveries generally are made from Linde s plants by tanker trucks to storage containers at the
customer’s site. Due to the refatvely lagh distribution cost merchant oxyeen and nitrogen senerally have a relatively small
distribution radius from the plants at which they are produced. Merchant argon. hy drogen and helium cun be shipped much longer
distances<. The customer agreements used in the merchant business are vsually three-ro seven-year supply agreements based on the
requirements of the customer, These conracts generatly do not contam minkmum purchase requirements or volume commitments,

The company’s perfermance obligations related to merchant customers are generally satisfied at a point in time as ihe
customers receive and obtain conmrol of the product. Revenue 1s recoenized when product i< delivered 1o the customer and
the company has the right to mvoice the customer in accordance with the contract termas. Any varahle components of
consideration within merchant contracts are constinined however this consideration ts not significant.

Packuged Guses. Customers reguirinyg smali yvolumes are supplied products in containers called cxlinders. under
medium 1o high pressure. Linde distributes merchant gases from its production plants to companyv-owned cvlinder filling
plants where ovlinder< are then filled for disuibwion wo costomers, Cylinders may be delivered to the customer’s site or
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g facilive or rew

picked up by the customer at a pachag di store. Linde invoices the customer for the industrial gases and the
use of the cxlinder containertsi. The company aisa sells hardgoods and weldiug equipment purchased irom independent
manufacturers. Packaged goses are genevallv sold under ong 10 three-vear suppiv contracts and purchase orders and Jdo not

contain mininn purchdase requirenients or volinme conuniiments,

The company’s performance abligations related 1o packaged gases are satisfied ot a pomt in time. Accordingly. revenue
is recognized when product is delivered to the custonmier or when the customer picks up product fron a packaged gas facilitv
or retail store. and the company has the right to pavment from the customer in accordance with the contract terms. Any
vartable consideration is constrained and will be recognized when the uncertainty related to the consideration is resolved.

Surtuce Teclinalogies

The company’'s surface technologies segment. operated through Praxair Surface Technologies. Inc.. supplies wear-
resistant and high-temperature corrosion-resigtant matallic and ceramic coatings and powders. Praxaiy Surface Technologies
15 a leading global supplier of coatings services and thermal spray consumables to customers in the aireraft, energy. printing.
primary metals. petrochemical. textile, and vther industries. Is coatings are used to provide wear resistance. corrosion
protection, thermal insulstion, and many other sartace-enhancing functions which sene to extend component life. enable
optimal performance. and reduce operating costs, [t also manutfactures a complete line of electric are, plasma and wire sprav.
and high-velocity oxy -tuel CHVOF ) equipment,

The company '~ performanee obheution related o surface technologies customers are generally satisficd at a pohit in
time when the customer recen es und takes control of product. Accordingls. revenue is recognized when product is delivered
to the customer or when the customer pichs up the product from the company’s facilits . and the company has the right w
s Olee the customer 10 accordancs w ith the contraet Wit

Linde Enginecring

The company designs and mandtactares equipment for dit separation and other industrial gas applications
manutictured specificelly for end customers. Sale of cquipment contracts are generally comprised of a single petformance
obligation. Revenue from swde of equipment s generally recognized vy er e as Linde has an enforceable right to pavment
foer performance completed Lo date wnd perfornanes does not credte an asset with alternative tse. [ or contracts recognized
over e, rev ctiug Ix recognized primarthy using a cost meurred input method. Costs incurred 1o date refative o wotal
extimuted costy at completion are wsed 10 mictire progress waward satis R ing perfonnuance obpetions, Costs incurred include
miaterial. fabor, and everhead costs and represent work comtributing and proportionate to the transfer of comrol to the
custonwr. Contraet modifications are typreally aceounted for as part of the existing contract and are recognized as a
vamulatise adjusunent 1or the incenion-to-date effect of such change,

Contract e ts and Liabilities

€ onrract dassets and liabilites result trom differences m timing of revente recognition and customer imvoicing, Contracl
assets primartly relate to sule of equipment contracts for which revenue is recognized ever thie, The balance repsesents
unbitied revenue which occurs when ey enue recogmzed under the measure of progress exceeds amounts invoiced to
custamers, Customer invoices niy be based on the pussage of tme, the achiey ement of certain contractual milestenes or a
combination of both criteria.

Contract liabiiities include advance pay ments or right to consideration prior to performance under the contract,
Contract liahilities are recognized as revenue as performance obligations are satisfied under cantract terms.

Linde has contract assets of 5283 million and contract liabilities of S1.546 mitlion at December 31, 2618, Contract
assets and habilities primarily relate to the Linde Engineering business acquired in the merger. The Industrial Gases
Businesses and Surface Technologies do pot have material contract assets or Habilities.

Pavmient Ternes and Otlier

Linde generally recodves payment after performance obligations are satistied. and customer prepaynents are not tvpical
for the Industrial Gases Businesses and Swrface Technologies, Payment terms vary based on the country where sales
originate and local customary payvment practices. Linde does not offer extended financing outside of customary paviment
terms, Amounts biiled tor sales and use tanes, v alue-added taxes, and vertain excise and other specific wansactional taves
imposed on revenue producing wansactions are presented on a net basis and are not included in sales within the consolidated
statement of income. Addittonatly, sales returns and allowances are not a normal practice in the indastry and are not
significant.
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Disagereguted Revenue Information

is. ahile e surface wechmolos

managed on a global basiz. Linde AG had bezn manage

order. which were lifted om March 1. 2019, Further, the compar, belier 25 that w2

The company manages ns industrial gases business on g geomraplis ha-

aies business s

doasoa 3:],‘11'.’.?6 seenneni due rothe ey

& Logivribuiton methed b
reportable zeographic segment best iHustrates the nature. rmung. Upe of cusiomer, and contract s Tor its res enugs,
including terms and pricing.

NATTIRY SEs D

The following table showe sales by distribution methad for each yeportahle segment and at tae vonsolidated level for
the vear ended December 31, 2015,

tDallars in Afillions:

North South surface
Sales America Europe Anjerica Asia Technologivs  Linde AG Fotal Ca
Merchant s 25364 b S0 & AN — I 1 R
On-Site 1.901 2u] 454 N — U 4051 2o
Packaged Gas L[99 b RIS 22 - 1.257 4379 RV
Other 161 H 2 |37 fn2 S9 L.&7n vy
AT T Sl D S L A R N S T O S O8Iy ZETE x de0l LOOv

Remaining Performaince Obligations

As describad above, Linde s contracts with on-site customers are under long-term supphy arrangements which
generally require the customer to purchase their regquiraments trom Linde and wlso have minimuns purchise requirements.
The company estimates the consideration refated o minimum purchase requirements i approxinuels w45 billion. This
amount excludes all sales above mimimum purchase requirements. which can be sienfivant depending on customier needs. Tn
the tuture. actuad amaunts will be difterent due to Impacts from several tactors mans ot which are beyond the conpany ™
contral including, but not linted to. nming of new Iy signed. termitaicd and renes ed contractsintlanonars price
ercalations. currenys escluamge rates. and pass-threngh costs rebtea tomural cos and clectrony s The actusl daration o
Tong-teriy supply contracts ranges up to twenty sears The compamy esumzies that approsmaieds haft ot the revenoe reluied
o mininm purchase requirements are estinaated 10 be capned o the noaa e s cars and e remasninig thereadte
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NOTE 22, QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED,)

tDoflar amonnis in millions. except per shaie data)

2018 1 a 2w 2 (R 4O (a, YEAR i)

Sales S 29 s o6t S 3024 s ASle s 14900
Cost of sales. exclusive of depreciation und amortizaton S PETT S LT2AOf 0 1T S 3T0 S 9084
Depreciation and amortzation % Ay % s RIS g2 5 183D
Operating profit S n:i S 688 8 608 S A3 S 3 247
Netincome — Linde ple » 462 % 4805 401 % 2978 % 4,38
[ncome from continuing operations * 462 % 480 % 461 % 2870 0% 4272
lneome from disconiinued operations 5 — S -- 5 — N s % 0§
Basic Per Share Dara

Income from continung operations * & Peb s AT [Lag % 627 4 203
Feomie 1rom discontinued operations * — — — .23 (.23
Weiehred average shares (00K sy ONTLRS IRT N0 2RR005 437N 3a30_40]
Diluted Per Share Data

income from continuing cperations © ~ FESLEAN L 6s [T 622 » P27y
Fncome o discentinued operations — - - 23 IR
Woetghted average shares (007~ Zon sty 290908 Juls1A JoP 0 s 34007
ﬂl_l_" G 20y RIONHT 40 1ai YLAR (a)
Sutles LA S o S S S Y T S e
ot of sadess ey ddsi o deprecialiva and aney Uation N [ AT PAYY S [ ORIN .o % O, 30 ]
DICPrecid e i aniort Ao, 1 I8TON BETIE SHE e AT Lo
CYpUrating prof N SHTOON (IS [ERTE N IERTVNERN RpEuE
SNetincome  bnde ple ~ ANy 4060 EIRAEA R 1247
Basic Per Share Data

Net Tcame? ~ Ay P42 s [ 40~ trrs 4 3
MWocivhred i ez ~hares (00075 BRI Inn0at INmGT 2097 286261
bilured Per Sharve Data

et meeme * ERREEN A~ Lds N il 45z
Wocrehred g ernge shares (007 8T JNSREE INe o TR IR0

Due to quarterly chunges in the share count as a result of the merger tie sum of the four quarters does not equal the
carnings per share amount caiculated for the vear,

HE 2018 and 2007 include the impact of the tollowing mailers (see Notes 4. 5.7 13 and 18x:



Operating

Profit tacome from Conrinaing
i Millions of doflary (Losy) Operations
Trarcooinr costs oad oter chavges - (1 Oy 15
Trap-uction costs aud other charges - 2 124 (25
Transaciion costs and other charges - 3 SN 129,
Pension setttement charge - Q3 — 13
Transaction costs and other charges - Q4 (238
G o sale of business - 94 2023
Bond redemption - (4 — (20
Pension settlement charge - 4 — ()
Tax Actand other tax charges - Q4 — 17
Purchase accounting nnpadts — Linde AG - Q4 ey (451,
Year 201 S 227000 2152
fransaction vosts and other charges - Q1 ~ thy % 1
Transaction cost~ and other charges - ()2 B (15
Transaction costs and other chirges - O3 114 113
Pension settoment charge - 3 (1t
Fransaction vosts and other Charges - (4 el BES!
Tas Act- (4 (3udy
Yoot ST 5 (220N 1443




NOTE 23, SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Divestitures

ddusinad gases business In North America and
certain industrial gases business activities in South America g consortium comprising companies of the German industrial
gases manufacturer Messer Group and CNC Capital Partuers Fund VI pussuant 0 o Sule and Purchase Agreement. dated
July 16. 2618, as amended on September 22, 2018, October 1 2018 and February 20, 2016, by and among the Company.
Linde AG. Praxair. Inc.. Messer Group and CVC Capital Parmers Fund Vil ethe “SPA™) Messer Group and CVC Capital
Partners Fund VI paid $2.97 billion in cash consideration after purchase price adjusiments for vertain jtems relating to assets
and labilities of the sold businesses, The SPA was entered inte ws part of the commitments 1u connection with the terger
control review by the U8, Federa] Trade Commission 1the “FTCT) of the previoushy completed combination of the
businesses of Praxair. Inv. and Linde AG under the Company (the “husmess combination™ — see Note 1),

On March 12019, Linde 2G complared the sale ol the mojomis o

Ax part of the compary s Pravair's and Linde AG ' further commmitnments i connection with the merger controf review
by the FTC. Linde AG divested additional assets within the Smencas Tor aggre glm net proceeds of 331 milhion (11w
Matheson Tri-Gas. Inc.. five of Linde AG ™~ HyC O feilitios outside the Gull Coast region, along with Linde AG s hvdrogen

pipehne in the Gult Coast. intellecrual property. customer comraets, and other ussets. Hin o Celanese Corporation. Linde
AGTs Clear Lake, Texas plant. and oy o Lvondeli Basab Industrees XV Binde 200 Lo Porte, Texas plant

Hold Separate Order

addironaily . convarreni wehthe ~ale ot the reguired mergecetated drestitures i the Laited States. on March ]

acvities



FTEN 9, CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANIS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL PISCLOSURLE

o,

ITEM 9A, CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an & aluation of the effectivensss of Linde's disclosure contrals and provedures. which was made under ine
supenvision and with the partic: 1 !
officer. the principal executive officer and principal financtad officer have each concluded that, ds of the end o the annuz,
period covered by this report. such disclosure controts and procedures are effective in ensuring that intormation required w
he disclosed by Linde in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Aot of 1934 15 recorded. processad. summanzed
and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules und ors, and
secumulated and communicated 1o manugement inclnding Linde ™~ principai exccutive officer and principa! Siuancicd vidicsr,

ation of management. including Linde's principal svecutive officer and principd] finenes

w allow tmely decisions rewardimy required dhischosure.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Refer to Bem s For NManagenient™s Repart on interna Control Cner Financin Reportine as o3 Diecesiher S8 s
Changes in Internal Controf over Financial Reporting

Ihere were to chanves i Lisde s mnternal control over financial reporting eiat occaned Guning the graine cnded
Devermiber 2102008 that have materially affecred. or are reasorably Thels toomatenatly sflect Lande’s Tnrernnd controd oo e
fnaencial reporting.

LIEND 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

NI,

Yas



PART I
ITEM 10, DIRECTORS., EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Certain Bitorimation regquired by this item is incorporated herein b reference w the sections captioned ~Coporace
Governance and Board Matters - Director Noeminees”™ and "Corporate Governance And Board Maters-Section 1604
Beneticial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in Linde’s Proxy Swtement 10 be filed by Aprit 36, 2012 {or the Annual
General Meeting.

Ldenrification of the Audic Comntitzee

Linde has a separatelv-designared standing Audit Commitree established in aceordance with Section 3 38u 4y of the
curities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended (the "Exchange Act”j. The members of that audit comminee are Prof.
Dr. Clemens Bérsig (chairman). Dr. Nance K. Dicciani. Dr. Themas Enders. Edward G. Galante. Larry D McVay and
Drr. Victorls Ossadnik. and each member is independent withim the meaning of the independence standards adopred by the
Board of Directors and those of the New York Stock Exchange.

Se

fidit Commines Financial Expert

The Linde Board of Directors has determined thay Protl Dy Clemens Baraig bs an sudit commiitee fluancial enpert™

detined by fem 07 d S i of Reguiation S-K of the Exchange Actand s independent within the meaning of the
mdependence standards adopted by the Board of Directors and those of the New Y ork Stock Exchange.
ke o Lo«

Linde has adopted a code of ethics that applies to the compamy "< directors and all emplios ces. ancluding s Chic
Exccutive Otficer. Chiel Financial Officer, and Controller: This code of ethivs. including specitic standards for implementing
certain provisions o the code has beew approved by the Linde Board of Directors and is named the “Code of Bysinea-
Inpegritn ™ Thrs docunentis posted on the company "s pabliv seebsite, s w Tinde com bt is oot meorporated hercin
FIEM D). ENFCUTIVE COMPENSATION

Informiion requieed by s itenm s icorporated berein by reterence i the sectons captioned 7L seciis

Contpensation Maters™ and Corporale Gosernunee and Boaed Aatters = Director Compensafion™ oy Einde s Pross
Statement tobe filed by Aprl 360 2009 tor the Apnaad Gonerad Meetmg



ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIFP OF CERTAIN BENETICTAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

VG pa o Pl GrDopnci oo — Thisiable Peloo pres

Ecid: itoermation a5 of Deceniher 51 2018 sbou
company shores that miay be isvued upon the cnerdise of opnons, warrants and rights gramed 10 emplovees or members of
Linde's Board of Directors under equity comnpensarion plans that voere assumed by Linde upon the completion of'the

business combipanion on October 21, 20158,

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS TABLE

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities to W eighted-anerage future issuance under

be issued upon exercise exercise price of equity compensation plans

of vurstanding eptions. vutstanding options. (excluding securities
Plan Category warrants and rights (a) warrants and rights (b)  * reflected in column (a)) ()
Equits compensation plans approscd by
shareheldars Plavd P3G b s It 6s SASITA e

Lauiny compensalion plans ot appros ed by
sharcholders —- — _

[ onal fl.oud 1o S F76s nAR2 TR
th Thic amount includes TLOTH 423 restricted shares,
iy Fhis amount includes 5,008 603 shares asadiable for futore ssstanee pursuant 1o the Amended and Restated 2000

Prasar. Ine. Tong Term ncentive Pl assamed by Dindeand 373128 shares available for future issuance pursuaan
o the Linde ple Dong Tern Ticentoe Plan 2018,

Corainmdoraiion required By ths iem regardimg the beneticrat ownershup o the compans s ordimarn shuares 1
ncorporated hereiti by reference to the section captioned “hitormanon on Share Onnerstap™ e Bade s Proxy Statement o
he filed by Apel S0 2089 tor die Annual Generad Meeting.

ITEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Fntormation regoired by this itemy i~ incorporated herein by rederence o the sections captioned “Corporate Goverpanee
And Board Matters - Review, Approsal o Ragtication ol Transactions with Related Persons” Corporate Gosernance yndd
Board Marters - oo Relationshups and Transaction< id 7Corporde Guoverianes And Board Matters - Directos
Independence™ i L inde ™ Provy Statement b be filed by Apnd 300 2009 Tor the Snnuad Generad Meeting,

TFEM 14, PRINCIP AL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Informatzon required by this stem i< ncorporated herein by refercnce to the section captioned “Audit Matters™ in
Linde™s Proxy Statement to be fifed by April 300 2089 101 the Annual General Meeting.

e
rn



ITEMI1A

Y The to

PART IV
EXHIBITS, FENANCIAT STATEMENT SCHEDULES

ving docipneis arz filed s part of s repeat

d the Report of the Independent Registered

The company’s 2018 Cons

Pubiic Accounting Firny are included in Part I Item X, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Fmancial Starement Schedules - Al financial statement schedules have been omitted because thev are not
applivible o the roquired mformation - shown in the finapcial siarements or noines thereto,

Exhibits - The exbibits filed as part of this Annual Repert on Formi 10-K are listed in the accompanying

index.
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INDEN 1O ENHIBEIS
Linde plc und Subsidiaries

Deseription

Business Combination Agreement by and among Linde Aktenges d in aft. Pravair, ne.. Zamalight
PLC. Zamalight Holdee J_L{_ una Zamaiight Subeo. Ine. dated as (I S I
Exhibit 2.1 to Praxair, Inc.’s Current Report on Farm S-K dared | Z‘Jl" Filine oo 1211037,

and is incorporated herein by reference.s

Amendment No. 1 dated Auvgzust 16, 2617 1o the Business Combination Agreement. bv and among
Praxair. Inc.. Linde Akrengesellschatt Linde p ple. Zamahgh Holdeo LLC and Zamatizht Subco, e,
tFiled as Exhibir 2.7 1o Pracair Ine."s Current Report on Formy 5-K dated August j00 26007 Filing

Noo [-11037 and 13 incorporated hereby by reference.

Sale and Purchase Agreement. dared Julv 3 2018 by and ameng Praxair. Inc. Tanv o Nippon Sanso
Corporation s Taive ™, and Linde plo woith respect to the sale of & majority of Praxalr’~ businesses in
Lurope o Talve in connection with the Busipess Combimation Agreement (Tiled as Exhibit 24 o the
Company s Quarterls Report on Forny [0-0) for the quarter ended September 300 200s, File

Noo F-A87300 and s meorporated hereby by reference.

Sale and Purchase Agrecment. dated July oo 20050 by and among Linde AG. Pravuir Incd MG
Industries GmbH. Messer Canada Tnes MG Industries USAL Ine othe MOy enties and Messer
Canada. Iue hemg collectivels velerred o as “Messer™n and Linde ple with respect 1o the sade ol
certain assets of Linde AG n the Americas and certaim assets of Provir, Ine. to Messel in connection
with the Business Combinanon Apreement (Filed as Faithit 2.2 o the Compansy s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-0) for the gquarter eoded Seprember 3 200 File Noo 1387200 and i arporaied
hereby by reterence),

First Amendment duted Seprember 21, 2018 1o the Sale und Purchase Agreement. dated July 1o,
201K, by and among Linde Adn Prasair. Ines Messercand Linde ple with respect 1o the sale of certain
additional assets of Lide AG i the Americas to Messer in connection with the Business
Combmation Agrcemoent (1 Hed as Fvhibit 2 3o the Company s Quarterhy Report van borny 1o-4) for
the guarter ended September 200 20T File Moo 1387200 and s ivorporated hereby I reference)

Second Amendment dated October 190 2005 1o the sale and Purchase Agreement. dated Jaly To,
200150 as amended by the Fia Siwendient theretos by and aimong Linde AGL Prasaar ine - Messer,
and Linde ples with respect o the sade ot certam additional assets of Linde At the Soerivas 1o
Messer i cmnection with the Basmess € ombination Sercement (Filed as Fahibin 2 2 wovoihe
Company s Quarterls Report on Forng T0-03 for the quaner ended September 300 2005 e

Noc T-TT0R7and is meorporated herebs by reference

Third Amendmcent dated Februars 200 2009 o the sate and Purchase Agreement. dated July 16, 201K,
as amended by the Frstand sceond Simendment theretos by and among Linde NCo Prasaor, g
Messercand inde ples soth respect tothe safe ol canain additional assets of Finde AGin the
Americas o Nesserin connection with the Busimess Combination Agreement dited as of Tune b
20070 as amended. o elted o vombuarion of the busimesses of Linde AG and Prasarr, Ine thaled as
Ishibit 24 to the Compans "~ Carrent Beportons oo S-h Sled o Narch 702090 ke o0 TR
and i~ incorporated herehy by reterence:s

Amended and Restared Pablic Limvted Compans Constnunon ot T inde ple ol ded as Fxhibin 3 1w
the Company "s Current Reporton Torm S-R0 filed on October 310 20080 File Noo A33-21adss and
incorporated herein by reference:,

[ndenture. dated as of July 151992 between Prasar. Inc. and 1.5, Bank National Association. as
the ultimate successor trustee to Bank o America. Hhineis, tormerls Continental Bank. Nutional
Associatton (Fifed as Exhibit 4 to Praxair. Ines Current Report on Form 8-K dated Marehy 19, 2007
Fiiing No. 1-1 1037 and incorporated herein by reterence).

Form ot Subordinated Indentire tor Prasatr, Ine (Filed as Txhibir 4.3 to Prasair, Ine "s Form S-3.
filed on Max 12,2013 Tile No 3332204083 and s imcorporated herein by reterence

Copies of the agreements relutmye to long-term debt which are not required 1o be tiled as extubits o
this Annual Report on Form 10-5 will be furnished 1o the Sceurities and Fxchange Comnns~ion upon
request.

Credit Agreement dated ax of December 19, 2014 among Praxar. Ine, and the Eligible Subsidiaries
Referred to therem. the Lenders listed theren. and Bank of America. N AL as Administrative Agent,
Citibank N A Deutschie Bank Secunities Ine. and HSBC Sceurities (1L SAY Inc.. a~ Svadication
Agents was filed as Exhibit 101 to Praxair. Inc. s carrent report on Form S-K. dated December 22,
2014, Filing Noo 1-110327 and s meomporated herem by reference.

-

Wanver. dated as of June 22, 2005, 1o the Credit Agreement. dated as of December 19, 2014, as
amended. among Praxair. Ine. the Eligible Subsidiaries party thereto from tme to time, the lenders
party thereto from time to time and Bank of America. N A as Admunistrative Agent i Filed as
Exhibhir 101 to Praxair. Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-0) for the second guarter of 2018, File
Now -HINIT and s incorporated Boren Iy referencet



Exhibit No. Deseription
19.02 Credit Agreement dated as of July 18, 20713 among Linde AG and Linde Finance B3

oniginal borntaweis. the Lenders 11>ted therein, and Deuische Bank Lus e nhours S AL as Aﬂem
and EUR Swingline agent. Deutselie Bupk A%, New Yark Branch, as USD Swis ngline Agent
and the several Lead Arrangers lisied therein.

HG.02a Waiver, dared as of June 19, 2015, to the Credit Agreement dated as of Julv 18, 2013 among
Linde AG and Linde Finance B.V.. as original bartowers, the Lenders listed therein. and
Demsche Bank Luxemboure S AL as Agent and EUR Swingline Apent. Demsche Bank AG.
New York Branch. as USD Swungline Agent. and the several Lead Arrangers listed therein.

*1G6.03 Lonz Tern Incentive Plan 2018 of Linde ple tFiled as Exhikit 3.4 w0 the Company's Form Seb,
tiled on October 31 20615 File No. 333-2250584. and incorporated herein by reference ).
*10.04 Linde ple Annual \ariable Compensation Plan effective Januan 1, 2019 (Filed ag Exhibit 101

1o the Company "s Current Report on Form S-K. filed en Tanvary 25, 2016, File No. [-38730.
and 1s incorporated herebs by reference.

*10.05 Form of Exccutive S¢verance Compensation Agreement effective January 1. 2009 (Filed as
Exhibit 10.02 1o Praxatr. [ne s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing Noo 1-11037, and
meorporated herein by reference).

Fi0sa Torm of Amendmeni. effective December 31, 2012, to Exccutive Severance ¢ ompensation
Agreements that were effective Januarny 1, 2000 (Filed ay Exiibit 19 10 Prsarr, Ine"s Correm
Report on Form a-K dated December {4, 2012 Filing Noo 111037 and incorporated heretn by
reference.

FHLDED Form of Exccutive Severance Compensation Agreement effective January b 2010 Filed as
Lahibit 10002 10 Prasan, Ines Quarterfs Report on Form 10-Q for the guarter ended June 30,
20100 Frihing Noo -HOS 7 and meorporated herein by reference.

*10.05¢ Form of Amendment, effective Decemnber 31 20020 to Faecutive Severance Compensation
Agreements tha were effective Jangary 10 2010 (T iled as Exhibit 10.02¢ w0 Pravaw. ine s 20) 2
Annual Report om Form -k Filing Noo 1-01037 0 and incorporated herein by reterencen.

10.05d Formm of Exccunse Severaned Compensation Agreement effectnve Janaary 3 2013 (bied as
Eahibin TOOZd o Prasar bne 7= 2002 Apnund Report on Pornr TO-RG Filing S 11027 and
mvorporated herein by reterencer

GREERERIG Form ol Asswiaption of Pracale. Ine Frecutive Severance Compensation Agrecment by Lingde
ple
U Prasaic Ine, Supplementad Reticement Tncome Plan & coffective Junuars 12008 (Filed a

Fahibin 1005 o Prasai, I 7 2008 Apnual Report an Form To-KL Filing No. 1T TO37and
meorporated herein by reference.

b6 Pirst amendment o the Pravair. Ine: Supplemental Retirement lncome Plan A effective
Januars 1. 2016 ¢ Filed as Exhibit TO0O5h w Pravair., Tne s 2008 Anneal Report on Torm 1=K
Filing Noo 11037 amd meorporated horein b referened)

1000 second Anendment o Pravar, Inc Supplemental Retirement Income Plan A effectine
February 280 2007 ibded as Eadubin TO0OSC o Prasaur. Ine s 2006 Annuad Report em
Form 16-K. Fiimg Moo 11037 0and s mcorpurated heretn by rederence,

10060 Praxane. Ine. Supplemental Retirement lncome Plan B amended and restated etfective
December 31, 2007 {Filed as I xhibit 10,030 to Praxair. [ne."s 2008 Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037and incorporated herein by reference).

*10.ad First amendment 1o the Praair. Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B effective
January 1. 2010 tFiled as Exhibit 10.03d to Prasair, Inc.’s 2009 Amual Report on Form 10-K,
Filing No. 1-11037. and incorporated herein by reterence).

14.00e Second Amendment o Praxair. Ine. Suppiemental Retirement [ncome FPlan B effective July 1.
2002 (Filed as Exhabit 13,050 to Praxair fne.”s 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing
Na. I-H037, and incorporated herein by referencey,

FIO06F Third Amendiment to Pravair, Inc. Supplemental Retivement income Plan B effective
February 28. 2017, tFiled as Exfubit 10.05¢ 10 Prasair. Inc.’s 2076 Annnal Report on
Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-1037 and is incorporated heretn by reference).

*10.07 Praxair. Inc. Equalization Benefit Plan amended and restated effectiv e December 31, 2007
(Filed as Exhibit 10.05¢ 1o Prasair. Inc."s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing
Now 1-11037, and incorporated herein by reference).

*10.07a First amendment to the Praxair, Inc. Equalization Benefit Plan eftective January 1. 2010 (Filed
as Exhiibin Y005 o Pravair Ine.”s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Fiting Moo 1-1103%, and
incorporated herein by reference).

*10.07b Second Amendment 1o the Praxar. Ine. Equalization Benefit Plan effective February 2%

2007 4Filed as Exhibit 10.03) 1o Praxair, Ine.’s 2016 Annual Repart on Form 10-K. Filing
Noo -1 and 15 imeorpoerated herein by reference.
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Deseription

Third Amendnient w the Pravair. e, Equz’«lizatinn Btneﬁl Plan eftective December 1. 201
tDiled x5 Exhibit 1003k to Provadr, Tre s 2007 Apaued Roperron Fos "n-b File & v 11037,

and 1= ineorporated lierein By réderenoes

Fourth Ame "hm‘nr te the Pravair, Ine Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B efreciive
December 1. 2817 (Filed as Exhibit 10.03] to Praxair. Ine.’s 20017 Annual Report on Formy 16-5,
File Noo 1-11H057. aml is fncorporated herein by referencer.

Third Amendment to the Prasair, Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan A eftecti

December i, 2017 1 Filed as Exlibic 1005 to Praxair. Ine "< 2007 Annaad Repoet on
Form 10-K, File No. I-1T037 and 1s incorporated herem by relerence).

Praxair. Ine. 2015 Equalization Benetit Plan (Filed as Exhibir 991 to Praxair. Inc.’s Currem
Repaort on Form S-K tiled un October 220 20008, File Noo 1-1 1037, and incorporated herein by
reference.

Praxair. Inc. 2015 Supplemental Retirement Income Plan A (Filed as Exdibit 99 2 o Proaa,
Tpe s Carrent Report on Form S-K fited on October 22, 2018, File Noo T-1T037 and
incorporated herein by reference)

Prasair. Inc, 200 Supplemiental Retrremient Income Plan B obited as Eaibin 99,3 w0 Prasar,
e s Current Report on Form Sek fled Octaber 220 2008 File No o T-11037 and incarporated
herein by references.

Prasar, Inc, Director’s Fees Delerral Plan amended and restated eifective Jinuarny 26, 2010
chiled as FExhubir TO06 o Pravain Ine s 2009 Annual Reporton Form Fo-k Filing
Now T-1T0370 and meorporated herein by referenced,

Pravair. tne { nmpcmmiun Deterral Program Amended and Restaied as o July 05 2004 1 Filed
as Exhibit 1001 o Prasaire. Inc s Quarterhs Report on Fonm To-0) For the quarter ended
September 3002004 Filing Noo 1-T1037 ane sncorporated hercin by reterenced

Frest Anmtendment o the Prasan Compensation Deternal Proprans ofleviy e bebriasy 28
2005 gkaled as Fxhibit Too0% 0w Prasan, Ine7< 2006 Annuad Report oi Form 10K 1 ling
Noci-FH0A7 0 and s incarporsied herein s relerence).

bl

service Credit Arrangentent Tor Stephien o Anged dated Moy 2302007 was filed o

Poshibit TO20 o Prasadr, Ine s Torm 8-k fifed on My 240 2007 Gad s meorporated hevein by
reference.

Amended and Rested 2009 Provar. Ine, Fong Teirm locentive Plan oD ided as Fxhibic 403 1o
Pravair, Ine s Forpy S-S0 fied onp October 312008 File Noo 333228081 nd incorporaned
herem by reterenee s,

Form ol Stundard Option Sward ander the 2009 Prasair. Inc bane Torm Incentive Plan (b ifed
as Faiibit T022 1o Pravair, Ine "~ 2009 Aol Report on bomm To-K T iting Noo E-TT0R7 and
corporated herein by reterence.

Form ot Transferable Option Award under the 2009 Praxair. Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan
iFiled as Fxhibit 10.23 1o Praxain. Inc.”s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing

No -TT037and incorporated herein by reference).

Farm of Restricted Stock Unit Award under the 2009 Praxair, [ne. Tong Term Incentive Plan
(Filed as Exhibit 10124 to Praxair. Inc " 200% Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing
Noo T-TT037 and incorporatad heremn by reterencen.
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Form of Transferable Oprinn Aword under the Amended and me\d “UULJ Praxair. Inc. Long
Term Incentive Plan for grants made in 2013 r_ i (ﬁhd as Exlubit 10,26 to Praxair. lue." s

2004 Aunual Report on Form LO-K. Filing No. 1-11037, and incor puiah.d herein by refereince.

Furm ot Transferable Option Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Pz‘a\a?r Iue. Loug

Term bncenmve Plan for grants made in J(H SFiled as Exhibit £ 204 to Praxair, Ine s 2017
Annual Reporton Form 10-K. File No. [-11037, and incorporated herein by reference,

Form ot Restricted Steck Unit Award L!l]dc‘l' the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxuir. Inc. Long
Term hneentive Plan for grants made in 2015 and thereatter (Filed as Exhibit 1027 ro Praxair.
Be "2 2004 Annoal Report on Form 10-K. Filing Mo, I-10037 and incorporated herein by
reterenee .

Form of Restricied Stock { nit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair. Inc. Eong
Fern incentive Plan tor grasts made in 2008 (Filed as Exhibn 10250 we Provain, Tne s 26107
Somtial Repart on Form T-ke File Noc 1] 10,« "ound neorporaied heremn by relerenoe

Forn ol Perlormance Share Unit Nward ander the Amended and Restated 2009 Prasarr. inc

s e Incentive Mlan for crants made in 2005 und thereattor with Eamgs Per shure
performance meirios thioed as Exhibie 10 284 o Provas Ine "~ 2074 At Repott on

Form Jo-he Tiling Noo 11037 wed incorporated herens By referenve

Forng of Perfermance Share Uit Award under the Amended and Restared 2009 Prasalr, Ine.
Pong Tenm dncenrve Plan for grants made 1 2016-2007 with Totad Shareholder Retm
pertortnaree meries Fed as Fakibin 1028 w0 Prasan fne T2 2085 St Reposr o
Poting boe b Flang Noc 00027 daad mcorporated horein b reteranee,

oot "\uwi'mpiw_\c-y Ihrectn Hesmiered Mook U nn Awand under the Aanenacd and Re-tawed
Cawre Poan foaec beng Tomg Tneensioe Prar 1 sbed e Fabibie covnt o Peas e Bag "o Oarters

o ( e T0-0 o thae guarter codad Jane Fi m.". Fotine Nod -0 TG 7L ncanparraed

g B reTeraiee,

Poaie ot Braisterble Opoon vaued mnder the Asiended cond Bostaden 2004 Prasan, e Lony
Porn lncentnve Planc for grants berinmme m 2004,

Foreyon Restrieted Stock Dot Saard under the Amended and Rostaied 20ee Proccir, e, Tong
Term Ineantive Plan for crants hecinnay 2074

Forinwt Portormianoes Share Unst Sseard ander the omended and Restared Zo0v Prasain. Tne,
fone e Tncentiy e Pl for wms heguming 1 20t wih Retarn an Capeal pertormsneey
Dol s

b ot Pertormance Shace Uon Asaoard under the vivended and Reaared 2000 Prosar, Tng .
Uonye Term Incentive Plan fon wrants begmning in 20012 with Towl Sharchoider Return
perfommuanes metrnes

Separation Agrecinent and General Release dated Apal 62015 by and between Prasar, [ne.
and Scott Telesz, Bxecutive Vice President of Provair iFiled as l <hibit 1L01 1o the Praxair.
Ine."s Ouarterly Report on Foarm 10-Q for the quarter ended March 310 2008, File No,i- 11037,
and incorporuted herein by reference.

Plan conditions 2013 Awards under the Linde AG 2012 Long Term Incentive Plan,
Plan conditions 2016 Awards under the Linde AG 2002 Long Tenm ncentive Plan.
T

Plan conditions 2 Swards under the Linde AG 2002 Tone Term Wncentive Plan,

Ferm of First Amendment to the Plan Conditiens ander the Linde AG 2012 Long Tom
fncentive Plan

Form of Second Amendmem e the Plan Conditons underihe Limde AG 2002 Long Term
Ineentive Plan.

Form ot avward Agrecment under the Linde A0 2012 Long Ternm fncentive Plan.
Fornt of Emploeser-Funded Pension Plan Exccutne Agreement of Linde A,
Feravol Dinde AG Executive Lmplovment \grecment

Form o Change Control Appendix to Linde AG Executive Fmployment Agreement

Lxecutive Employment Agreement by and between Linde AG and Mre. Sanjiv [ amba. duted
March @0 20T s amended
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Exhibit No. Descriplen

*1o.17 f«-lmun_u‘_uuu)l5_4 indenannie Ayl w hibit 1001 1o the Conipan; s
Curren pr et Doy vebo 2 o rher A1 200N File Ney _,3 21855 and incorporsted
Fereln I :

2101 Substdiaries of Linde ple

2501 Consemt of Independent Regatered Public Accounting Firm,

21.01 Rule 13a-134tas Certtication

31.02 Rule 2a-Tday Cernlicanon

32.01 Section 1350 Certification such certifications are furnished tor the information of the Commission
and shall net be deemcd incorporated b orelerence imo any filing under the Secarines Act or the

Exchange Ach

202 Section 1330 Certifteation fauclt certizications are furnished for the infornauoen or the Commission
and shall not be deemed recporated Dy reference e any thng undes the Securites Aot op the
Exchangs Aot

T01.INS NERIL Instunce Documem

To1.5CH NBRL Taxenonn Extension schenia

101.CAL NERL Tavonomy Extension Cadeulaien, Linkibase

lol LAB NBRL Tavonomy Estension Taidel [inkbose

T01.PRFE NBRL Tuxonony Estension Presentation Uik base

101 1Dk NERE Tovonoms Exrensen Detteon Linkbuase

Copies of exlubits incorporated by reterenee can he ohtened oy the SEC and are Tocated nosEC T e oo 1 0037

* Indicates a managenient conlraet of compelaalon phin of arrangeiiend

h Certain schedules o simpdar stachiments hase been vmtted pursuant to lem 6011h e 2 of Reguiation S-k Hhe

Registrant agrees o furni-h supplermeni! copecs of iy ol the onntied schedules or attachients upoen redue st Iy ihe

SLC.
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